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Chairman’s Statement
B X

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Director”) of Perfect Group International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), it is my pleasure to present to
you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Business review, outlook and prospects

The principal businesses of the Group are (a) designing,
manufacturing and sales of high-end fine jewellery
(primarily mounted with diamonds) as well as metal
refining and purifying process for jewellery (the “Jewellery
Business”); (b) investment in and the development and sales
of properties for the Group’s integrated and comprehensive
industry park located at 1st Ring Road South Extension
Foshan, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) (the “Property Business”) as an
integrated and comprehensive industry park (the “Perfect
Group Jewellery Industry Park”); and (c) sales of electricity
generated from the photovoltaic power generation system
and provision of energy storage service (the “Photovoltaic

Power Generation and Energy Storage Business”).
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The Jewellery Business

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Jewellery
Business continued to be affected by the macroeconomic
environment of heightened geopolitical tensions, declining
economic growth expectation and record high gold prices
which weakened the customer sentiment significantly.
With the contraction of the PRC market and not showing
any signs of lasting recovery, in the second half of 2024,
the Group decided to contract the sales of Jewellery
Business in the PRC market and continued to focus on
the development of the Jewellery Business in the overseas
markets going forward. As of the date of this report, the
Group is in the process of divesting certain of its interests
in the Jewellery Business in the PRC. Despite the market
uncertainties and externalities beyond our control, the
Group was committed to participating actively in various
shows, fairs and exhibitions held in both Hong Kong and
overseas. In addition, as a sales drive, our sales team was
devoted to visiting the overseas customers and soliciting

more sales orders from existing and potential customers.

On the other hand, Guangdong Huijinying Jewellery
Company Limited* (& R I & & 2k & A | 2 #)
(“Guangdong Huijinying”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, has started its operation
through its licensed environmental protection centre
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Given that the
principal activities of Guangdong Huijinying, which are
metal refining and purifying process for jewellery which
forms part of the jewellery manufacturing process and
their products and economic characteristics are similar to
the Jewellery Business segment, and the segment revenue,
results, assets and liabilities of metal refining and purifying
processes for jewellery are not individually material, the
segment of metal refining and purifying processes for
jewellery has been incorporated into the Jewellery Business

segment.
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Chairman’s Statement

ENEe

Outlook for the Jewellery Business

It is expected that the Jewellery Business will continue
to be affected by the above-mentioned challenging
macroeconomic environment. The Group will be
committed to enhancing its participation in jewellery
shows, fairs and exhibitions in Hong Kong and overseas and
developing competitive jewellery styles in the market for
the purpose of attracting new customers and consolidating
the Jewellery Business. Leveraging its extensive experience
and deep insight into the Jewellery Business, the Group
will continue to take a proactive and responsive approach
to strengthen business resilience by staying vigilant and
actively monitoring the dynamics and fast-evolving market
conditions. The Group will continue to focus on the

development of the Jewellery Business in overseas markets.

The Property Business

Since the second half of 2018, the Group has started to
deliver the completed units, including industrial units and
dormitory, to its customers. The Group has also started to
deliver the car parks to its customer during the year ended
31 December 2024. As the units sold have been delivered,
revenue recognition has proceeded as scheduled. On the
other hand, the provision of management services in the
Perfect Group Jewellery Industry Park has generated stable

income for the Group.
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On 1 April 2024, Perfect Jewellery (China) Co. Limited
(“Perfect Jewellery (China)”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a disposal
agreement with Foshan Yingfu Technology Co., Led.* (#
T & s BHECA R A W) (“Foshan Yingfu Technology”),
an independent third party, in relation to the disposal of
the entire equity interests in Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management Led.* (11 17 %2 56 [E #) 26 8 22 A R &
Al) (“Foshan Huaguanhui Property Management”), which
was a subsidiary of the Company principally engaged in
the property management business, for a consideration
of approximately RMB3.7 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$4.0 million) (the “Disposal of Foshan
Huaguanhui Property Management”). The Disposal of
Foshan Huaguanhui Property Management was completed
in April 2024 and since then Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management ceased to be an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, its financial results are no
longer consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Outlook for the Property Business

It is expected that the properties held by the Group will
continue to be sold. Given that the overall industrial
property market in the PRC remains subdued, it is expected
the sales of properties would remain challenging. Up to the
date of this report, the overall units of properties and car
parks and the saleable gross floor area sold and delivered
are lower than that for the corresponding period in the
2024 year. The management fee income has continued to
make stable contributions to the Property Business in the
first quarter of 2025. The Group will continue to explore
opportunities for sales of properties in the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park to enhance the overall profitability
of the Property Business.

The Photovoltaic Power Generation and
Energy Storage Business

The Group, while not only actively making its efforts
to strengthen the development of both the Jewellery
Business and the Property Business, it is also on the
lookout for and exploring new business opportunities to
diversify its existing revenue streams and to improve the
overall profitability of the Group. The photovoltaic power
generation business involves sales of electricity which is
generated from the photovoltaic power generation system
owned by the Group. Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Co.,
Led.* (B 318 W B e IR A BR A 7)) (“Guangdong Kaisi”),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
charges users for approximately 70% to 90% of the official
charge rate stipulated by the local electricity bureau. In
case the customers could not utilise all the electricity
generated, the unutilised electricity would be sold to the

local electricity bureau at a reduced rate.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group completed the grid
connection of fourteen projects (31 December 2023:
eight projects) in the PRC with an aggregate maximum
capacity of approximately 12,586 kilo-Watt (31 December
2023: 5,882 kilo-Watt) and the power generation was
approximately 9.8 million units during the year ended 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: 3.6 million units).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Guangdong
Kaichu New Energy Company Limited (“Guangdong
Kaichu”)* (& H 18 i ¥ 66 V8 A BR 22 7)), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has been
established to engage in the energy storage business.
Guangdong Kaichu provides energy storage solutions
including grip peak and frequency regulation, emergency
backup and energy storage capacity services, effectively
improving the flexibility of the power grid operation and
power quality for the customers. At the same time, it plays
an important role in ensuring power supply and new energy
consumption. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group, through Guangdong Kaichu, successfully built
its first energy power storage station in the PRC, and put
into operation with an aggregate maximum capacity of
approximately 2,150 kilo-Watt, and the power generation
was approximately 0.19 million units during the year ended
31 December 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Outlook for the Photovoltaic Power
Generation and Energy Storage Business

In recent years, in order to address frequent global extreme
climate change and mitigate the impact of rising fossil
fuel prices, renewable and clean energy, represented by
photovoltaics, has become a trend of the world. With the
long-term PRC government strategic support, continuous
technological advances and cost reductions, photovoltaic
power is now the renewable energy with the greatest
development potential. With lower cost as compared with
the inflated fossil fuel prices, demand for photovoltaic
products in the future is expected to increase but keen

competition will exist at the same time.

On the other hand, Guangdong Kaichu focused on energy
storage. The development of the energy storage business is
driven by the huge market demand and the favourable PRC
government policies. During the year ended 31 December
2024, new energy storage was included in the government
work report for the first time. We aim to keep up with the
pace of the times and seizing market opportunities. The
Group entered the energy storage market by developing,
building, and operating independent energy storage power
stations. The Group will continue to seek the potential
opportunities for the expansion of the energy storage

business.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Group, I would like to thank the

effort from my fellow directors, senior management and
employees of the Group during this year, and the trust
and support from our shareholders, business partners and

customers.

Kan Kin Kwong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

o B o i B 23 B

FINANCIAL REVIEW 1ot % ] R
Overall Revenue B 5
2024 2023 Increase (Decrease)
20244 20235 B/ (%)
HK$’000 % HKS$'000 % HK$’000 %
T % Tk % Tt %
Jewellery Business BREEH 232,805 85.1 286,426 82.1 (53,621) (18.7)
Property Business EE3 ] 33,530 123 59,246 17.0 (25,716) (43.4)
Photovoltaic Power Generation and k% E K
Energy Storage Business e % 7,157 2.6 3,039 0.9 4,118 135.5
273,492 100.0 348,711 100.0 (75,219) (21.6)

The revenue decreased from approximately HK$348.7 W 4 BHOEK A20234F12H31H 1F 4 R A
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 348,700,000 7T ¥ > & # 202441231
approximately HK$273.5 million for the year ended 31 H Ik 4F FE 19 £9273,500,000% 7T » W 2 4
December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 75,200,000%5 JC 5(21.6% ° % ¥ > T % H ik
HK$75.2 million or 21.6%. The decrease was primarily Tk B 3B IR i WD £953,600,000 % 7T K W)
due to the decrease in revenue from the Jewellery Business 3 ZEHF L 4 D £925,700,00085 TC 0 7% 5
of approximately HK$53.6 million and the decrease in B0 WO AR B R K fE AR SE B Ak 4R 1 &)
revenue from the Property Business of approximately 4,100,000 ¥ 7 5 73 HIK 8 o

HK$25.7 million and such decreases were partially offset

by the increase in the Photovoltaic Power Generation and

Energy Storage Business of approximately HK$4.1 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B o e

The revenue from the Jewellery Business, the Property
Business and the Photovoltaic Power Generation and
Energy Storage Business represented approximately 85.1%
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately
82.1%), approximately 12.3% (for the year ended 31
December 2023: approximately 17.0%) and approximately
2.6% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 0.9%),
respectively, of the revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

B, E 2024 12H31HIEF ¥ > BRE EF
Wy 3 SE W5 KOG AR 8 % il e SE 2 IR 4R 4y
Al AL A 42 8 i 55 4985.1% (B £20234F 12 H
31H IE4F B £982.1%) ~ #912.3% (# £2023
FE12A31H 1F4E o £917.0%) K& #92.6% (8
2023412 H31H 1EFE  0.9%) o

2024 2023 Increase(Decrease)

20244 20234 ()
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 %
T ¥ ot T s oo F s oo %
Hong Kong 7 170,017 197,009 (26,992) (13.7)
Dubai I 46,627 88,651 (42,024) (47.4)
PRC [ 56,848 63,051 (6,203) 9.8)
273,492 348,711 (75,219) (21.6)

The revenue from Hong Kong decreased from
approximately HK$197.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$170.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$27.0 million or 13.7%.

The revenue from Dubai decreased from approximately
HK$88.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$46.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately

HK$42.0 million or 47.4%.

The revenue from the PRC decreased from approximately
HK$63.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$56.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$6.2 million or 9.8%.
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The decrease in revenue in Hong Kong and Dubai was
mainly due to the challenging macroeconomic conditions
resulting from weak customer sentiment for jewellery
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The revenue
decrease in the PRC was mainly due to the contraction of
the jewellery business in the PRC market and decrease in
sales of properties. Such impact was partially offset by the
growth of the Photovoltaic Power Generation and Energy
Storage Business in the PRC as more photovoltaic power
generation projects had been carried out and more income
being generated from sales of electricity accordingly during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Management Discussion and Analysis

L ki B o e

A s Sl FE 2 0k 55 W0 Al 3 R R
B E 202412 H31H 1E4F > % 8 &K E
ARSI B EHERERFEOES - R
Ll N e e = Sl = B A B S
EBEMMYEHEW Y > ZERBEWH
B ' fR % T At e SE T I 1 R T A FK B
Ji PR A R F20244F12 H31H 1E 4F B B @
THZXMREBFHEE > WIE H#EEE
BEZIA -

Overall gross profit and gross profit margin BEENEEMNE
2024 2023 Increase (Decrease)
20244 2035 K ()
Gross Gross Gross
Gross profit profit profit
profit margin (loss) margin Gross profit Gross profit margin
A
M BHXK (BH)  BHE B BH%
Percentage
HK$’000 %  HK$000 %  HK$000 % point %
Ti#x % T % - T#x % ANk %
Jewellery Business HHEEK 63,807 274 80,495 28.1 (16,688) (20.7) 07) (2.5)
Property Business YEEH 14,912 445 20,010 33.8 (5,098) (25.5) 107 317
Photovoltaic Power Generation ~ J£ k3 7 J
and Energy Storage Business S 3,825 53.4 1,707 56.2 2,118 124.1 (2.8) (5.0)
Unallocated KO E N/A N/A N/A
- — ®) — 8 AEM O FEA FEA
82,544 30.2 102,204 29.3 (19,660) (19.2) 09 3.1
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The overall gross profit decreased from approximately
HK$102.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately HK$82.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$19.7 million or 19.2%. The gross
profit comprised of approximately HK$63.8 million from
the Jewellery Business for the year ended 31 December
2024, representing a decrease of approximately HK$16.7
million or 20.7% as compared to the year ended 31
December 2023; approximately HK$14.9 million from the
Property Business for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$5.1 million or
25.5% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2023;
and approximately HK$3.8 million from the Photovoltaic
Power Generation and Energy Storage Business for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase of
approximately HK$2.1 million or 124.1% as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The overall gross profit margin increased slightly from
approximately 29.3% for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately 30.2% for the year ended 31 December
2024, representing an increase of approximately 0.9
percentage point or 3.1%. The increase in overall gross
profit margin is mainly due to the increase in gross profit
margin from the Property Business resulting from the
decrease in sales of properties with relatively lower profit

margin.

The Jewellery Business
Revenue

The revenue from the Jewellery Business decreased from
approximately HK$286.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$232.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$53.6 million or 18.7% for the Jewellery
Business. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in

revenue from Hong Kong, the PRC and the Dubai region.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit on Jewellery Business decreased from
approximately HK$80.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$63.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$16.7 million or 20.7%. The gross profit
margin decreased from approximately 28.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 27.4% for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately 0.7 percentage point or 2.5%. The decrease
in gross profit and gross profit margin was in line with the
decrease in revenue and gross profit from Hong Kong, the
PRC and the Dubai region.

Management Discussion and Analysis

L ki B o e

SERRI S EEY IS
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The Property Business EE X
Revenue I %
2024 2023 Increase(Decrease)
20244F 20234 (k)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Tt R STH T T %
Sales of properties HEY % 14,144 34,195 (20,051) (58.6)
Rental income T 4 ik 4 11,653 14,069 (2,416) (17.2)
Property management fee income L/E -8 E- 3/ & 7,733 10,982 (3,249) (29.6)
33,530 59,246 (25,716) (43.4)

The revenue from the Property Business decreased from
approximately HK$59.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$33.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a significant
decrease of approximately HK$25.8 million or 43.4%.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in sales of
properties, rental income and property management fee

income.

Yy R 2 it B £2023F12H31H 1k
A BE 1Y #159,300,000 5 76 I D 2 8 220244F
12731 H 1E4F i 19 £33,500,000% 70 - K IR
I %925,800,000 45 JC 5543.4% Ik D
EEFRR S EYE - H el U LY EE
PR 5 D e
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of
units of properties and car parks delivered to customers is
9 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 17) and 5 (for the
year ended 31 December 2023: nil), respectively and the
saleable gross floor area sold and delivered is approximately
2,978 square metres (for the year ended 31 December 2023:

approximately 7,313 square metres).

Rental income for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$11.7 million (for the year ended
31 December 2023: approximately HK$14.1 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$2.4 million
or 17.2%). The decrease in rental income was mainly due to
certain properties being purchased by the tenants and thus
less rental income being generated during the year ended 31
December 2024.

Property management fee income for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$7.7 million (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$11.0
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$3.2
million or 29.6%). The decrease in property management
fee income was mainly due to the Disposal of Foshan

Huaguanhui Property Management in April 2024.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 was approximately HK$14.9 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$20.0 million)
and the gross profit margin was approximately 44.5% (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately 33.8%).
The decrease in gross profit was in line with the decrease
in rental income and property management fee income.
The increase in gross profit margin is mainly due to the
decrease in sales of properties with relatively lower profit

margin.
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The Photovoltaic Power Generation and
Energy Storage Business

Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Yo IR 5% 76 K fifi € & B

I R DN E S

Revenue W 7
2024 2023 Increase(Decrease)
20244 20234 #m (8 )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
Tt T 7T T s 7T %
Sales of electricity from HREERGES
photovoltaic power generation #5
system 7,066 3,039 4,027 132.5
Service income from energy storage fifi it 2& 15 IR 5 I 25 N/A
business 91 — 91 i
7,157 3,039 4,118 135.5

The revenue from the Photovoltaic Power Generation and
Energy Storage Business increased from approximately
HK$3.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$7.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2024. The gross profit increased from
approximately HK$1.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$3.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 56.2% for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately 53.4% for the year ended
31 December 2024. The increase in gross profit was due to
increase in sales of electricity as more photovoltaic power
generation projects were carried out and the commencement
of energy storage business during the year ended 31
December 2024. The decrease in gross profit margin is due
to the diluting effect of lower gross profit margin from the

energy storage business.
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Other income

The other income increased from approximately
HK$5.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$6.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an increase of approximately
HK$1.2 million or 22.6%. The increase was primarily
due to the increase in interest income from approximately
HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$5.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 resulting from the increase in interest rates
from the bank deposits and the increase in average balances
of bank deposits. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group commenced silver trading business, the
agency fee income from silver trading was approximately
HK$84,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Other gains and losses, net

The other losses increased from approximately HK$2.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$3.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase is mainly due to the net
effect of (i) loss on disposal of FVTPL of approximately
HK$4.3 million, mainly resulting from the realised loss on
the gold futures contracts; and (ii) the net loss of written
off of other receivables and the payables of approximately
HK$1.5 million of divesting a non-wholly owned subsidiary
during the year ended 31 December 2024. Such impact
was partially offset by (a) the decrease in loss on changes in
fair value of financial assets at FVTPL from approximately
HK$1.4 million to approximately HK$0.5 million, which
mainly comprised of unrealised loss of approximately
HK$0.9 million on the gold futures contracts netting
off the fair value gain of the listed equity securities of
approximately HK$0.3 million; and (b) the gain on
Disposal of Foshan Huaguanhui Property Management
of HK$2.8 million recorded during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Impairment losses under expected credit loss
model

The impairment losses under expected credit loss model
mainly include reversal of impairment losses on trade
receivables of approximately HK$1.1 million (for the year
ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$0.8 million)
and impairment provision for a loan receivable from an
associate in the PRC of approximately HK$2.0 million (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately HK$1.9

million).

Impairment losses on properties held for sale

The impairment losses on properties held for sale located
in the Perfect Group Jewellery Industry Park in the PRC
was approximately HK$26.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
nil). With the overall industrial property market in the
PRC remained subdued for the year ended 31 December
2024 and there was no significant improvement in the
property market up to the date of this report, impairment
losses on the properties held for sale were recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Selling and distribution costs

The selling and distribution costs decreased from
approximately HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$12.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$1.0 million or 7.0%. The decrease was
mainly due to the tightening control of selling expenditure
of the Jewellery Business of the PRC subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

General and administrative expenses

The general and administrative expenses was approximately
HK$45.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
remaining at a similar level compared with that for the
year ended 31 December 2023 of approximately HK$45.6

million.

Management Discussion and Analysis

L ki B o e

Y5 B HRBE R F 2 A S 4H

HMEEERERN T 2BEBERETEQ
5 & 5 I Wi 3k T 1Y ek i s 48 48 11 491,100,000
# ot (B £2023F12A31H I F E: 4
800,000% J0) M JE Wit — & 18 B & A m] &
XY B (E 1B M 492,000,000 JC (B %2023
F12H31H 1L E © 491,900,000 7)) ©

R (R R/ E AR RN

B E 2024412 H31H 1E 4 B > AL 5 A B AR
BELRE E PO R E R E Y EN WA E
8 %) £526,300,000% T (% 2023412 A31
HEAF R ) o SR vh B 8 T2 2T
Bt 2202412 H31 H 14 B R AK 2K -
A 2 A 4 B 26T B 300 e B s
B A 28 7 # 22024412 310 1F 4F
MERFEEEED £ B EEE -

o B a1 8 AR

B 8 K o 85 LA B8k 2£20234F12 H31H Ik
A FE 19 4913,600,000 % JC I 7D 2 8 £ 20244F
12H31H 1F 4F B 19 4912,600,000% JC > ik >
#11,000,000%5 7€ 5(7.0% ° Bt ¥k A I
B E 202412 31 H 1k 4F B Jin s ¥ o B R
J& N ) BRE TS 8 B BH Sy A e

— B B AT BB 3L

B 2202412 A31H 1k 4F B0 — i R AT
B 3 #145,900,0005 oG > Bl # £ 2023412 H
31H Ik 4E FF 445,600,000 %5 7T A EL - & 457 i
AH LK o

2024 Annual Report “FE#HE 23



Management Discussion and Analysis

B B o e

Finance costs

The finance costs of approximately HK$1.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: approximately HK$1.1 million) related to
interest expenses on bank loans and lease liabilities for the
operations of the Jewellery Business, the Property Business
and the Photovoltaic Power Generation and Energy Storage

Business.

Share of result of a joint venture

Share of profit of a joint venture was approximately
HKS$59,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for
the year ended 31 December 2023: share of loss of
approximately HK$35,000) of a joint venture, namely
Zhaoqing Shunzhiguang Electric Power Technology Co.,
Led* (EBEIEZtE WRH AR AR (“Zhaoqing
Shunzhiguang”), which represented the Group’s share of
result of its 50% equity interests. The principal activity of
Zhaoqing Shunzhiguang is photovoltaic power generation

business.

Income tax credit/(expense)

Income tax changed from income tax expense of
approximately HK$9.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to income tax credit of approximately
HK$11.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The change is mainly due to (a) the reversal of the
over-provision of PRC Tax in previous years; (b) the
decrease in income tax expenses due to the decrease in
taxable profit of the subsidiaries; and (c) the reversal of
deferred tax in relation to recognition of impairment
losses on properties held for sale during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Profit for the year

As a result of the above factors, the profit after taxation
decreased from approximately HK$34.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$9.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$24.3 million or 71.1%.

Financial position
Non-current Assets

The property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2024
of approximately HK$119.2 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately HK$93.4 million) mainly represented
leasehold land and buildings of approximately HK$53.5
million (as at 31 December 2023: HK$57.5 million), plant
and machinery of approximately HK$53.4 million (as at 31
December 2023: HK$32.4 million), furniture and fixtures,
and motor vehicles of approximately HK$2.7 million
(2023: approximately HK$3.5 million) and construction
in progress of approximately HK$9.5 million (2023: nil).
The increase in property, plant and machinery was mainly
due to the installation of photovoltaic equipment, and
energy storage equipment and construction in progress for
the Photovoltaic Power Generation and Energy Storage

Business during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Current assets

The current assets decreased from approximately HK$734.3
million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$647.5 million as at 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$86.8 million or 11.8%.
The decrease was mainly due to the net effect of (i) the
decrease in inventories and trade receivables as a result
of the decrease in sales from the Jewellery Business; (ii)
the decrease in properties held for sale as a result of the
recognition of the impairment losses on properties held for
sale and the decrease in sales of properties from Property
Business; and (iii) such impact was partially offset by
the increase in bank deposits during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Current liabilities

The current liabilities decreased from approximately
HK$162.5 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$143.1 million as at 31 December 2024,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$19.4 million
or 11.9%.

The trade and other payables which amounted to
approximately HK$45.6 million as at 31 December 2024
(as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$56.5 million)
comprised trade payables of approximately HK$28.4
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$32.5
million) and accruals and other payables of approximately
HK$17.2 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$24.0 million). The accruals and other payables mainly
consist of amounts payable for staff salaries and benefits
and provision for certain construction obligations. The
decrease in trade and other payables was mainly due to
the settlement of balances and utilisation of the advance
payments for the sales of properties during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Tax payables decreased from approximately HK$76.9
million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$57.4
million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$19.5 million or 25.3%. The decrease is
mainly due to a) reversal of the over-provision of the PRC
tax in previous years; b) decrease in income tax expenses
due to the decrease in taxable profit of the subsidiaries;
and c) payment of tax during the year ended 31 December
2024.

Included in contract liabilities was mainly the deposit
received from customers of the Jewellery Business and
the Property Business, which amounted to approximately
HKS$5.1 million as at 31 December 2024 (as at 31
December 2023: approximately HK$4.1 million). The
increase was mainly due to the increase in deposits from

customers of the Jewellery Business.
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, the current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$647.5 million (as at
31 December 2023: approximately HK$734.3 million).
The reason for the decrease in current assets is set out
in the paragraph headed “Current assets” above. As at
31 December 2024, the current liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$143.1 million (as at
31 December 2023: approximately HK$162.5 million).
Accordingly, the current ratio, which is the ratio of current
assets to current liabilities, was approximately 4.5 as at 31
December 2024 (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
4.5).

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$112.9
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$66.7
million) and HK$44.8 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$76.0 million), respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the total interest-bearing bank
loans amounted to approximately HK$31.9 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$25.0 million).
The loans contained a repayment on demand clause and
carried at variable interest rates per annum. The loans were
denominated in RMB, being the functional currency of the

respective operating subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not use any

financial instruments for hedging purpose.
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The maturity profile of bank loans as at 31 December 2024

are set out as follows:

A2024%12 A31H > B 4T
2R/ N

B KCE W P

As at 31
December 2024
#2024 4
12H31H
HK$’000
T
The carrying amount of bank loans WAITHXIEmMES S A RERER
containing a repayment on demand clause ﬂk 2K ( U fE B B ) H4% AT K
(shown under current liabilities) but e
repayable as follow:
Within one year — R 31,901

Cash position

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of
cash on hand and bank balances which are primarily held
in USD, HKD, RMB and AED denominated accounts
with banks in Hong Kong, PRC and Dubai. As at 31
December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$44.8 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$76.0 million).
Bank deposits of the Group are denominated in USD and
HKD amounted to approximately HK$97.9 million (as at
31 December 2023: approximately HK$66.7 million) and
approximately HK$15.0 million (as at 31 December 2023:

nil), respectively.

The Group regularly and closely monitors its funding and

treasury position to meet the funding needs of the Group.

In view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 as illustrated above, the Directors believe
that the Group has adequate working capital to support its

ongoing operations and business development.

The Group regularly and closely monitors its funding and

treasury position to meet the funding needs of the Group.
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Gearing ratio

Based on total borrowings divided by equity attributable
to owners of the Company, the gearing ratio was
approximately 0.05 as at 31 December 2024 (as at 31
December 2023: approximately 0.04).

Charge on assets and guarantee

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s buildings
and properties held for sale with a net carrying amount
of approximately HK$4.4 million and HK$43.3 million
respectively (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$4.6 million and HK$44.9 million respectively) were
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to a PRC subsidiary
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group has provided guarantee of approximately
RMB45 million (equivalent to approximately HK$47.9
million) (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB45
million (equivalent to approximately HK$49.6 million)
for credit facilities to a PRC subsidiary of the Group that
would be released by bank upon full repayment of the loan.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of the plant and machinery
contracted but not provided for amounting to
approximately HK$6.9 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$0.6 million).

Segment reporting

Details of the segment reporting of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Contingent liabilities

The Group provided guarantees amounting to
approximately RMB2.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3.0 million) as at 31 December 2024
(as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMBG60.2
million (equivalent to approximately HK$66.3 million)) to
facilitate mortgage bank loan applications of the purchasers
of the properties that were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery of the
properties to the purchasers and completion of registration
of the relevant mortgaged properties. In the opinion of
the Directors, the fair values of these guarantee contracts
of the Group are insignificant at initial recognition and
the Directors consider that the possibility of default of the
parties involved is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and
at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023.

Event after the reporting period

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this

report, there was no important event affecting the Group.
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Material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies

On 30 December 2024, Perfect Jewellery (China) entered
into a disposal agreement with Ms. Zhu Fenghua* (R &
FE), who is one of the shareholders of the associate and
an independent third party, in relation to the disposal of
the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Perfect Jewellery
Culture Development Co., Led.* (% Il f %% 2k & ik
A MR /AF]) (“Shenzhen Perfect Jewellery Culture”),
which was an associate of the Company principally
engaged in the jewellery business for a consideration of
approximately RMB2.0 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$2.2). The Disposal of Shenzhen Perfect Jewellery
Culture was completed in December 2024 and Shenzhen
Perfect Jewellery Culture has since ceased to be an associate
of the Company, and Shenzhen Perfect Jewellery Culture’s
financial results has no longer been included in the Group’s

consolidated financial statements since then.

On 1 April 2024, Perfect Jewellery China disposed
of its equity interest in Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management. Further details of the disposal are set out in

paragraph heading “The Property Business” of this report.

Save as the above, there was no material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Employee and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 133
employees (as at 31 December 2023: 159 employees) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. The total salaries and related
costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$28.6 million (for the year ended 31
December 2023: approximately HK$30.7 million).
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The Group offers competitive remuneration package to
incentivise the staff to improve their work performance.
The Company has a share option scheme in place as a
means of encouraging and rewarding eligible employees’
(including Directors’) contributions to the Group’s
performance and business developments based on their
individual performance. The employees’ remuneration,
promotion and salary are assessed by reference to their
work performance, working experiences, professional

qualifications and the prevailing market practices.

The Group conducts a range of targeted training and
development programs through various institutions to
strengthen employees’ skills and knowledge, with an aim
to well equip them to cope with its development in the

industry.

Dividend policy

The Board intends to create long term value for the
Sharcholders through maintaining a balance between
dividend distribution, adequate cash flow and reserve
to meet its working capital requirement and capturing
growth opportunities. The Board may propose or declare
the payment of dividends after taking into account
the current financial performance, the future financial
requirements and any other factors that may deem relevant
to the Company. The Board may decide the frequency of
dividend payment and further declare or recommend any
special distributions. Dividends may be declared or paid
by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate. The payment of dividend is also
subject to compliance with applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”).
The Board will review this dividend policy from time to
time and there can be no assurance that dividend will be

paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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Foreign exchange €xposure

During the year, certain group entities have foreign
currency denominated sales and purchases; and monetary
assets and liabilities which expose the Group to foreign
currency risks on the currencies of HKD, USD, RMB,
and AED. The sales are primarily made in USD while the
expenses, including purchase of raw materials are mainly in
USD and HKD with immaterial portion of cost, primarily
being staff cost and factory overheads, in RMB.

Despite the expenses are mainly settled in HKD and
USD and substantial portion of the sales and expenses are
made in either USD or HKD, with HKD and AED being
pegged with the USD, the impact of fluctuation of USD
to the operational and financial performance would be
immaterial, hence the Group’s exposure to currency risk is

not significant.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be
other risks and uncertainties in addition to those known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could

turn out to be material in the future.

Business and financial risks

(i) The profitability and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected if any of our major

customers ceases their business relationship with us;

(i) We are susceptible to material and adverse change
in both Hong Kong and the PRC tax laws or
unfavourable interpretation regarding apportionment
claim of profits in cross-border processing business

and on our revenue generated in the PRC.
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, mainly interest-bearing bank
balances and bank borrowings (see note 31 for details) at
variable interest rates. The Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should

the need arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of each year in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures

to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue

debts.

The Company has taken out insurance policy to enhance
the recoverability of trade debtors of the Jewellery Business.
The Company has also received all the monies for the
units sold in the Property Business and should have no
difficulties on the recoverability of any possible outstanding

balance due from these purchasers.

* The English name of the company established in the PRC
represents management’s translation of the Chinese name of such

company for information purpose only.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong, aged 65, was appointed as the
Director in June 2015 and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer, and designated
as the executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Kan is also
the chairman of the risk management committee. Mr.
Kan is the founder of the Group and was appointed as a
director of Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery Company Limited
(“HK Perfect”) (the background of which is set out in
the definition of “HK Perfect” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 22 December 2015 (the “Prospectus”))
in October 1986. Mr. Kan is also the director of Perfect
Group International Holdings (HK) Limited (“Perfect
(HK)”), a wholly-owned subsidiary. Mr. Kan is mainly
responsible for managing the overall operations of the
Group and planning our business development and
strategies, in particular, overseeing the business activities
of the Group, supervising the operations and resources
allocation of the Group and driving the Group to attain

performance targets.

Mr. Kan has over 30 years of experience in the fine
jewellery industry. Currently, Mr. Kan is the permanent
honorary president of the Hong Kong Gold and Silver
Ornament Workers & Merchants General Union, the
permanent honorary president of the Hong Kong Gemstone
Manufacturers’ Association, the honorary president of
Foshan Shunde District Jewelry Chamber of Commerce,
the vice president of the All-China Federation of Industry
and Commerce Gold and Silver Jewelry Chamber of
Commerce, and Member of the CPPCC Committee of
Jiangmen Xinhui District. Mr. Kan was also awarded “2017
Honorary Fellows” by the Professional Validation Centre of
Hong Kong Business Sector on 13 July, 2017, in recognition

of his contribution to the local jewellery industry.
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Ms. Shek Mei Chun, aged 60, the spouse of Mr. Kan, was
appointed as the executive Director in August 2015. Ms.
Shek is also a member of the risk management committee.
Ms. Shek was appointed as a director of HK Perfect in
March 1990. Ms. Shek is mainly responsible for managing
the sales operations of the Group, in particular, overseeing
the sales activities of the Group, leading the sales team
to attain sales targets and devising sales plans based on
the varying demands and customer behaviour in different

markets.

Ms. Shek has over 30 years of experience in the fine

jewellery industry.

Mr. Chung Chi Keung, aged 63, was appointed as an
executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Chung is also a
member of the remuneration committee. Mr. Chung joined
HK Perfect as an accountant in March 1990. Mr. Chung
was appointed as a director of HK Perfect in November

20006.

Mr. Chung was awarded a higher stage certificate for
proficiency in accounting and a certificate of proficiency
in cost accounting, both issued by the London Chamber
of Commerce and Industry in 1982 and 1985, respectively.
Mr. Chung also passed the intermediate examination of
the Association of Accounting Technicians in December
1991. Mr. Chung has over 30 years of experience in the

accounting industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. NG Wang Pun Dennis, aged 74, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in August 2024. Dr. Ng is also a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee Dr. Ng holds
a master degree in materials engineering from Yanshan
University (# 111 KX#£) and a doctorate degree in business
administration from City University of Macau (formerly
known as Asia International Open University (Macau)
(50 (TR ) BB 2 B oK &), Dr. Ng was awarded a
fellowship by the Professional Validation Council of Hong
Kong Industries in 2004 and The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2014/2015, and an honorary fellowship
by Vocational Training Council in 2017. Dr. Ng is the
Honorary Consul of the Federal Democratic Republic
of Ethiopia in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China. Dr. Ng was
awarded the Medal of Honor (MH), the Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) and the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2007, 2013 and 2020, respectively. Dr. Ng is the
managing director of Polaris Arts & Jewelry Limited. Dr.
Ng is the Permanent Honorary President of the Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong. Dr. Ng is
currently a member of the Trade and Industry Advisory
Board, a member of the New Industrialisation Vetting
Committee organised by the Innovation and Technology
Commission and the chairman of the Hong Kong Export
Credit Insurance Corporation Advisory Board. Dr. Ng
has been an independent nonexecutive director, a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of Fujikon Industrial Holdings
Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 0927), since June 2021.
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Ms. NG Sin Kiu, aged 51, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director in September 2024.
Ms. Ng is also the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the audit committee, the nomination

committee and the risk management committee.

Ms Ng has over 20 years of experience in legal practise and,
in particular, substantial experience in corporate finance
matters. Ms. Ng has been a partner of Watson Farley &
Williams LLP since December 2015. Ms. Ng was a partner
at Squire Patton Boggs from April 2012 to December 2015,
and an assistant solicitor at Paul Hastings from January
2008 to October 2008 and at Gallant (formerly known as
Gallant Y.T. Ho & Co) from February 2000 to April 2001.
Ms. Ng was an assistant solicitor at Sidley Austin from
May 2001 to December 2007 and from October 2008 to
December 2009, and a consultant at the same firm from
January 2010 to March 2012.

Ms. Ng has been an independent non-executive director of
Palasino Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(stock code: 2536) and principally engaged in gaming
and leisure business, since March 2024, an independent
non-executive director of Zhongmiao Holdings (Qingdao)
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1471) and principally engaged in the provision of
insurance agency services, since August 2024 and joined
Contiocean Environment Tech Group Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2613) and
provider of maritime environmental protection equipment
and system, as an independent non-executive director since
January 2025.
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Ms. Ng was a director of the following company prior to its

dissolution:

RN BB

3

/A\\

el

S A R LA 2% W] M BCRT B 48 AT ib)

o

&

Place of Means of Reasons of
Name of the company incorporation Date of dissolution dissolution dissolution
PAEEZ i wk T B 7 b 8h i 1 H 3 i 80 5 X 5t 10 D B
Gain Pacific Investment Limited Hong Kong 8 May 2020 Strike-off Cessation of business
B £ AR T i 20204FSHA8H A B Ik 3

Ms. Ng obtained her bachelor’s degree, postgraduate
certificate in laws and master’s degree in laws from The
University of Hong Kong in November 1995, June 1996
and December 1999, respectively. Ms. Ng has been a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and of the
Greater Bay Area since August 1998 and May 2023,

respectively.

Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick, aged 69, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in December
2015. Mr. Wong is also the chairman of the audit

committee and a member of the remuneration committee.

Mr. Wong received a master’s degree in electronic
commerce from Edith Cowan University in Western
Australia in February 2002. Mr. Wong has been a fellow of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since June 1991 and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered

Accountants in England and Wales since December 1993.
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Mr. Wong has over 40 years of experience in accounting,
finance, audit, tax and corporate finance with an
international certified public accountant firm and listed
companies in the United Kingdom, New Zealand, Hong
Kong and Thailand. From April 1996 to March 1999, Mr.
Wong was an executive director of Hwa Kay Thai Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited), a company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange
until it was delisted on 8 August 2022 (stock code: 155).
From January 2001 to January 2011, Mr. Wong was the
chief financial officer and company secretary of China
Infrastructure & Logistics Group Ltd. (formerly known as
CIG Yangtze Ports PLC), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1719 (since 29 January 2018)), and
had been an independent non-executive director and a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee of such company since April
2014 and the chairman of the nomination committee of
such company since October 2015 until he resigned from
such positions in May 2022. Mr. Wong had been the chief
financial officer of APAC Resources Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1104), since
January 2011 and had also acted as the company secretary
of the company between April 2011 and December 2011
and since February 2013 until he resigned from such
positions in July 2016 and had served as a consultant
to the company between August 2016 to October 2016.
Mr. Wong had been the chief financial officer of Asia
Investment Finance Group Limited (currently known as
International Genius Company), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 0033), since 18 September
2017 and also had acted as the company secretary and
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authorised representative of such company since 25
September 2017 until he resigned from such positions on 3
November 2017. Mr. Wong has been an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee
and the risk management committee and a member of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of Wah Sun Handbags International Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2683),
since 22 January 2018. Mr. Wong has been an executive
director of CF Energy Corp. (formerly known as Changfeng
Energy Inc.) (stock code: CFY), a company listed on the
Toronto Venture Exchange (stock code: TSXV), since 22
February 2019; an independent non-executive director, a
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee
and nomination committee (chairman since 27 December
2024) of China Aoyuan Group Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3883), since 24
February 2023; an executive director and a member of the
risk committee after his redesignation from his former roles
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman
of the audit committee, a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of Da Sen
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1580), since 26 November 2020 until he
resigned from such positions on 24 January 2022 and being
retained as a consultant to the board of the company; and
an independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the audit committee of Burwill Holdings Limited, a
company formerly listed on the Stock Exchange until it
was delisted on 13 August 2021 (stock code: 24), since 14
September 2020 and 20 October 2020, respectively until he
resigned from such positions on 11 August 2021.
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Senior management personnel

Other than the Directors, the senior management team
together with the executive Directors, are responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group. The following
table sets forth certain information in respect of our senior

management personnel:

mAEH AR

W o g0 40 o v AR B B B B AT B 9 9
ALEOH R EHEA - P RESIA &
MEHANBMA TER:

Date of appointment as

senior management
Name Age Date of joining the Group Position petsonnel Key role and responsibility

L ELIV-TE
i1 g A% Wi A Bft CEINLE TR R
Ms. Tang Kam Man 36 8 November 2023 Chief financial officer and 8 November 2023 Responsible for financial reporting
Biicat 36%% 202311 /18H company secretary W3F1A8H and compliance

ELE NG VL E SN EEVEET T

Ms. Tang Kam Man, aged 36, has been appointed as
the chief financial officer, the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company, all with effect
from 8 November 2023 and a director of a subsidiary of
the Company. Ms. Tang is mainly responsible for financial
reporting and compliance. Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in July 2010. Ms. Tang
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since 2014. Ms. Tang has over 14
years of experience in auditing and accounting. Prior to
joining the Company, Ms. Tang worked as an auditor for
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited from October 2010
to November 2013 and PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited
from November 2013 to October 2016. Ms. Tang served as
a finance manager in Zall Smart Commerce Group Ltd.,,
which is a company listed on the Stock Exchange with
stock code: 2098, from October 2016 to April 2018 and
a financial controller in China Infrastructure & Logistics
Group Ltd., which is a company listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code 1719, from May 2018 to October
2023.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 to all
Shareholders.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding and those of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 39 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Results and appropriations

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 and the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 are set out on pages 150 to 153 of

the consolidated financial statements.

Dividend

The Group did not declare any interim dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: Nil). The Directors propose the payment
for a final dividend of HK$0.01 per share, totalling
HKS$13,362,450 for the year ended 31 December 2024,
based on the total shares in issue as of the date of this
report, (for the year ended 31 December 2023: HK$0.02
per share, totalling HK$26,820,180).

Report of the Directors
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Closure of register of members

In order to establish the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to the proposed final dividend, all duly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Union Registrars Limited,
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange
Square, 338 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday, 5 June 2025. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 6 June 2025 to Thursday, 12 June 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. Subject to the approval by the
Shareholders on the proposed final dividend at the annual
general meeting to be held on Monday, 2 June 2025, the
final dividend will be paid on or around Wednesday, 18
June 2025 to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Thursday, 12 June
2025.

Business review

Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
requires companies to include a business review in the
directors’ report. Specifically, the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance requires a business review to cover a number of
areas which are also approved by the Board and included in

this report as follows:

1. A fair review of the Group’s business

Pages 15 to 33 of this annual report

2. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group

Pages 33 and 34 of this annual report

3. Indication of likely development of the Group
Pages 8 to 14 of this annual report
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Segment information

The executive Directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, regularly review revenue analysis
from the sales and manufacturing of Jewellery products,
including rings, earrings, pendants, bangles, necklaces
and bracelets, and by location of delivery to customers
and development and sales of properties. The executive
Directors considered there were three operating activities
which were manufacturing and sales of jewellery products;
development; development and sales of properties; and
engaged in photovoltaic power generation business. The
operating segment has been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conform to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, and is regularly reviewed by the
executive Directors. The executive Directors review the
overall results, assets and liabilities of the Group as a whole
to make decisions about resources allocation. Accordingly,

three analysis of this operating segments are presented.

Five-year financial summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
326 of this annual report. This summary does not form

part of the consolidated financial statements.

Share capital

Details of movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 154 to 157 and
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.
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Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had a reserve
of approximately HK$302,665,000 (as at 31 December
2023: reserve of approximately HK$301,414,000) in its
distributable reserves, calculated under the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands.

Major customers and suppliers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 31.5% of the Group’s total revenue for
the year. Purchases made by the Group from its largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 53.3% and 90.4% of the Group’s total

purchases for the year, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the
Directors, their close associates, nor any Shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers during the year.

Subsidiaries

The details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out

in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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Directors and directors’ services contracts

The Directors who hold office during the year and up to

the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Shek Mei Chun
Mr. Chung Chi Keung

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (appointed on 30 September 2024)

Mr. Fan Chor Ho (resigned on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Lee Ka Wing (resigned on 30 September 2024)

Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick

Each of the executive Directors has renewed a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from 4 January 2025.

Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick has renewed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 4 January 2025. Each of Dr. Ng Wang
Pun Dennis and Ms. Ng Sin Kiu has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 1 August 2024 and 30 September 2024,

respectively.

All the above service contract and letters of appointment
may be terminated by not less then three months' notice
in writing served by either party on the other and are
subject to termination provisions therein and provision on

retirement by rotation as set forth in the Articles.

No Director has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the listing of securities on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(the “Listing Rules”) and all of them are considered to be

independent.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, one-third
of the existing Directors shall retire from office, at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Kan Kin Kwong
and Ms. Shek Mei Chun will retire as executive Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after his or
her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting. Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis and Ms. Ng Sin
Kiu as independent non-executive Directors will retire as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Permitted indemnity provisions

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
up to the date of this annual report, there was or is, any
permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of any of the Directors and Supervisors (whether made by
the Company or otherwise) or an associated company (if

made by the Company).

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ liabilities have
been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure from the business of the

Group.
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Directors’ interest in contracts

Save as disclosed in the sections headed — “Continuing
connected transactions” and “Connected transaction” of
this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a
material interest subsisted at the year ended 31 December

2024 or at any time during the year.

Continuing connected transactions

On 7 August 2023, Perfect (HK) renewed the existing
tenancy agreement (the “Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement”)
with HK Perfect, pursuant to which Perfect (HK)
continues to lease premises of the main office situated
at 26th Floor, YHC Tower, No. 1 Sheung Yuet Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong, together with the flat roof
appurtenant thereto and car parking space nos. 2, 3, 4 and
15 on 2nd Floor, YHC Tower, No. 1 Sheung Yuet Road,
Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong (“Premises”) from HK Perfect
for a term of one year commencing from 5 August 2023
for the purpose of the Group’s offices in Hong Kong.
The terms of the renewed tenancy are similar the expired
agreement, remained at monthly rent of HK$310,000. The
transactions contemplated under the Hong Kong Tenancy
Agreement are subject to reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. For further details, please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated 7 August 2023.
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Aggregate amount for
the financial year ended 31

Annual Cap amount
the financial year ended

December 2024 31 December 2023
B E2024412H31H I #% £20234:12H31H 1k
AR B 2 A A AR BE Z AR R R 4R

Lease of premises from Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery
Company Limited (Note)
EREE 373 EENCPANCIRIEEE S0 ES)

Note: Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery Company Limited is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. It is an associate of Mr. Kan Kin
Kwong, a controlling shareholder, an executive Director, and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

(1) the terms of the Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement
are on normal commercial terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole;

(2) the proposed annual caps are fair and reasonable; and

(3) the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Hong Kong Tenancy Agreement are and
will be conducted in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

According to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules”. The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”)
has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance

with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected transaction

On 5 August 2024, Perfect (HK) agreed to renew the
tenancy agreement and entered into the new tenancy
agreement in relation to the leasing of the Premises for a
term of three years commencing on 5 August 2024 with
monthly rent of HK$290,000 with HK Perfect.

HK Perfect is a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering
into of the new tenancy Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder constitute connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Group is
required to recognise the value of the right-of-use asset
in connection with the new tenancy Agreement as the
term thereof is more than 12 months, and the transaction
contemplated thereunder will be regarded as an acquisition
of an asset by the Group and treated as a one-off connected
transaction of the Company pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The estimated value of the right-of-use asset to be
recognised by the Group under the new tenancy agreement
is approximately HK$9,400,00.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 5 August 2024.

Other than disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement
or other contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
any entity connected with a Director had material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Biographies of directors and senior
management

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” on pages 35 to 42 of this annual report.

Controlling shareholders’ interest in
contracts

Save as disclosed in the sections headed — “Continuing
connected transactions” and “Connected transaction” of
this annual report, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or
any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.

Non-competition undertaking by controlling

shareholders

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of

non-competition undertaking.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

Non-competition undertaking by executive
directors

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the

executive Directors have become effective from the Listing

Date.

Each of the executive Directors has made an annual
declaration in respect of his/her compliance with the terms
of non-competition undertaking from the Listing Date to

the date of this annual report.
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The independent non-executive Directors reviewed and
confirmed that the executive Directors had complied with
and enforced the non-competition undertaking for the
period set forth in the paragraph above in accordance with

its terms.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out

in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
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Shareholders” of the Prospectus.

Share option scheme

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 14 December
2015, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the R
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was

valid for a period of 10 years commencing on 14 December

2015.

Set out below is a summary of the Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
S T HE it ) 2 H R
2. Eligible participants of the Share

Option Scheme (“Eligible

Participants”)

SRR B 2 ER 2 (5
B2 HE))

B B HE Wt

MR A 20 | A 20154F 12 H 14 H 3 8 (9 & 1E

O AR E PR AN R S (T
RETHE D) o W IR HE ST &) th20154F 12 141 |
FA 04 -

AR 70 Bl Jse M T 380 A0 22

To enable the Group to grant share options to the selected participants as

incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
A B AT DA 0 2 2 B T M ICRE o DL IR B8 R 1S
AEEIEER -

(i)

©)

(ii)

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

(iv)
(iv)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including any executive
director but excluding any nonexecutive director) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any
member of the Group holds an equity interest;

Aoy a] o~ HAT AT B JE 2 m) Sl AR B BAT AT R B 4 R RE A BCRE
AT A EHE (88 ) AT T R B I o 2 i e > B4
ERRATES  EACFEMERTES)

any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

AT~ FAT A B B 2 ) A ] 45 B B AT ] R AT R (R
WL IENITES)

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

A S5 BT A 8 B 2 ) AT ] 8 B A o R B R I

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

A A AT AT 1 B 28 W) AT AT 450 BB AT T B
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(ix)

54

Total number of Shares available
under the Share Option Scheme
and percentage to the issued
Shares as at the date of this
annual report

AR 5 AR ) T T R AT A
3 KB AL A AR R E
AT AR | o3

v

v

(vi)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(viii)

(viii)

any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

J A B AT AT B B 24 B BOAE T 45 BT 4R AT T - PR B e
At 5 iy 52 5% 2 AT o] M8 A SR

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

AR BT AT B B A ) AT ] B R 2 AT T B B R
AR BT ] B B 2 R ST A £ BT R AT AT A R SR 2 AT
(PN

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

AR BT o] 1R B 2 ) ST AT 45 AT ] 3 0 o I B S
JE AT e N (B 36 N BOH ) BB R &%

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.

T S AN 2 B B A A S 2 P AR G R R
= AF R ST RE AR R RR < A T A 22 B3 A 1 SO

Despite the definition of Eligible Participants under the Share Option

Scheme, the Company does not intend to grant share option to any Eligible

Participant that does not come under the definition of “eligible participant”
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

filh 7 U BB S ) B S E MG 2 B E AR L E R AR AR B R R
EWHMECLHEGERZ2RE I ERNEMNTERSHER T
5 BB HE o

94,518,000 (approximately 7.1%).

94,518,000 % (497.1%) °
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(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

aximum entitlement of eac
M 1 f each
participant under the Share

Option Scheme

S e HEE i ) JEUT 2% 2 B 3 )
R LR

The period within which an option
may be exercised

WL AT (5 S R HE F S8 T

The vesting period of options
granted

5t i HE Y it e

The amount payable on application
or acceptance of the option
and the period within which
payments or calls must be made
PR A A S R A AT KA
T Ak 38k sl A 0 A 3 1 R

The basis of determining the

exercise price

i T AT 2 O e

The remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme

I B HE w ) R T 4R
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Not exceeding 1% of the total number of Shares in issue for the time being
in any 12-month period. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1%
limit shall be separately approved by the Shareholders in generally meeting
with such Eligible Participant and his/her close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) (or associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) if the
Eligible Participant is a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

JA AT AT 1241 7 9 T A AN A IRE S AT I A B 19 o AT T A
119 B2 ) 19 2 — A5 45 e A JE A SR BB R R & b Sy AT AL

A B & B A% 2 B R L R BN GE . Bl ) (A 5 &
WREELREANLCERR LW M ARBEACERR L
TR ) ) 2R g B 5 e

A period determined by the Board, which shall not be more than 10
years after the offer date and shall be subject to the provisions for early
termination as contained in the Share Option Scheme.

MR (R g oE) A5 A 2 4 B R F104F > 3 52 6 RRE &t 31
Jor Y 2 B AR R SCA R -

Not less than 12 months
ANk 121i A

The payment or remittance of HK$1.00 (being the consideration for the
grant) within 21 days from the offer date or within such other period of
time as may be determined by the Board pursuant to the Listing Rules.

P2 A F RS G 21 F A S AR R TR R TR RTAY A B At
BRI - SCA aR B t1.00 9 TT (FF /4 52 T B B B 1oy AR 4D -

Being determined by the Board and shall be at least the highest of:
MERFETWHAZDRTIPZ BmE

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date;

() A H WA BT A B OO R T8 2 B0y Wi AR

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five consecutive business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(i) B H B A0 H AT R AT S H oS B B B OROE SR TSI 2 i
T -FE i | 5 &

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the offer date.

(iii) 2249 H TR ey i A -
Approximately 9 months

#1918 H
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The maximum number of shares of the Company which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution
adopting the Share Option Scheme, i.c. 45,000,000 shares,
which, subsequent to the share subdivision in September
2017, shall be 135,000,000 shares. No service provider

sublimit was set under the Share Option Scheme.

The number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 was 94,518,000 and
as at 31 December 2024 was 94,518,000.

The number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
options granted under the Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2024 was nil. It is therefore not
applicable to set out the percentage of such number divided
by the weighted average number of Shares in issue for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Movement Of Share Options ik J HE 5 B

Movements of share options under Share Option Scheme B, 2202412 H31H 1F 4F B W B RE 51 & 18
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out R T HE A2 B B A0

below:

Number of share options
LLCLL
Grant date
Cancelled/ Exetcise  share price
Asat  Granted  Exercised  Lapsed  forfeited Asat  priceper  (adjusted)
Date of grant 1Jonuary ~ during  during  during  during 31 December share  (HKS per  Vesting Exercisable
Grantees (Notes 1 and 2) 024 theyear  theyear  theyear  theyear 04 (HKS) share)  period period
G
L] Tt Fs/  RodE BRAKEE  (HR%) )
kRA (W3E1R2) VI ERES ERERE ERKH Rk nAsE o () (EREx) REA i
Directors
¥
M. Ken Kin Kwong 31 May 2017 675,000 - - (675,000) - - 107 L7 Twoyearsfomthedate 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
fiftrs i7EssIA 675,000 - - (orsom) - - i 1 AREARERE  woFAIRE
SNl
Ms. Shek Mei Chun 31 May 2017 630,000 - = (630,000) - - 107 107 Twoyearsfomthedate 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
33388 N7 fisIA 630,000 - — (600 - - L7 L7 REARMEREF  w9FsRE
WUES 30
Mr. Chung Chi Keung 31 May 2017 630,000 - — (630,000) - - 107 107 Twoyears from the dare 31 May 201910
) of gran 30 May 2024
EP it 73R 630,000 - — (60om) - - 17 o AREAMERE  woFsAIAE
2045sf130R
M. Fan Chor Ho (resignedon 31 May 2017 450,000 - - (450,000) - - 107 107 Twoyearsfomthedate 31 May 200910
1 August 2024) of grant 30 May 2024
gk s sIA 50,00 - — (ésnom) - - 17 1 AREARERE  wFAARE
(RaddEs ARG ) 4Esf30R
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick 31 May 2017 450,000 - - (450,000) - - 107 107 Twoyearsfomthedate 31 May 201910
of grant 30 May 2024
bk 7%SR3I 450,000 - — {00 - - L7 L BERGFMERE  09FsHAE
WS 30
Other eligible persons
HakiAL
Employees 31 May 2017 8,572,500 — — (8,572,500 - - 1.07 107 Twoyears from the dare 31 May 201910
of gran 30 May 2024
8 LS TETL I S 1/A ] - - (snsm - - 17 o AREAMERE  ooFsIAE
2045sf1308
11,407,500 - — (1,407,500) - -
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Notes:

1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before 31 May 2017,
the date on which the options were granted was HK1.07 after the
effect of Share subdivision on 13 September 2017.

2. The fair values of the options determined at the date of grant
using the binomial model for options granted to directors of the
Company and other eligible persons were HK$0.42 and HK$0.41,

respectively, after the effect of Share subdivision.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this

annual report.

Disclosure of interests
Interests of Directors and chief executives

As at 31 December 2024, the Directors and the chief
executives of the Company had the following interests
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(“SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies (the “Model Code”).
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Ordinary shares of one-third Hong Kong cent each of the RN F BB AE =2 — w3 A

Company

Name of Director/
chief executive officers

Capacity/nature of interest

Number of shares
(Long Position)

Approximately
percentage of
shareholdings in
the Company

5 A 2 W] ik HE i

WEEEITBRABRRA By HE 25 M J& oy B H (3 8) B2 E 4 e
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (“Mr. Kan”) Interest of controlled 886,959,000 shares (note 1) 68.56%
i@y s A (T4 D) corporation 886,959,000 1% (Fff 5% 1)

2 YR T RE A

Beneficial owner 29,154,000 shares

H AN 29,154,000 /1%
Mr. Chung Chi Keung Interest of controlled 30,375,000 shares (note 2) 2.27%

(“Mr. Chung”) corporation 30,375,000 1% (Bff 532)

$ A o ST A (T4 e 4 ) Z P R A
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (“Ms. Shek”) Interest of spouse 916,113,000 shares (note 3) 68.56%
aE2L L TaL L) e 1 HE 45 916,113,000 B (Fff 5% 3)

Beneficial owner 738,000 shares 0.06%

Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis
(appointed on 1 August 2024)
S 75 Al
(12202448 A1 H % % 1T)

AN

738,000 %
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Notes:

1. Among these 886,959,000 shares, 729,000,000 shares, 57,339,000
shares and 100,620,000 shares are held by Immaculate Diamonds
Limited, King Jewel Limited and Classic Sapphire Holdings
Limited, respectively. The entire issued capital of Immaculate
Diamonds Limited and King Jewel Limited are owned by Mr. Kan.
50% of the issued capital of Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited
are held by Mr. Kan. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company held by Immaculate
Diamonds Limited, King Jewel Limited and Classic Sapphire
Holdings Limited.

2. These shares are held by Classic Emerald Holdings Limited, the
entire issued capital of which is held by Mr. Chung. Under the
SFO, Mr. Chung is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Classic Emerald Holdings Limited.

3. Mr. Kan and Ms. Shek are spouses. Under the SFO, Ms. Shek is
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by
Mr. Kan and all the shares of the Company in which Mr. Kan is
deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation as recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO.
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Substantial shareholders

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons or

corporations, other than the Directors or chief executives

of the Company, had interests in the shares and underlying

shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Ordinary shares of one-third Hong Kong cent each of the

Company

Name of shareholder

JBE R 2k 4

Capacity/nature
of interest

Bty HE 4R TR
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Ex-Y

202412 H31H > e B8 7 N 3 0F |
T Bl SE336ik T fr B B M rst 8k >
I L8 m (AR F) 3 ek £ EATE A
B BR AN AR N R 2 By K A BE B o
A RE 5

Ay m) A BT A = 03 22— il B4 3 A R

Approximately
percentage of
Number of shares shareholdings in

(Long position) the Company

Immaculate Diamonds Limited
Immaculate Diamonds Limited

Richemont Asset Management Limited
Richemont Asset Management Limited

Chow Chin Yui Angela
Ji2E %

Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited
Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited

Chan Wing Sum
Bk Kk £k

Classic Amber Holdings Limited
Classic Amber Holdings Limited

Luo Jacky

Beneficial owner

i A A

Beneficial owner

i A A

Interest of controlled

corporation

52 1 % 1 HE 4R

Beneficial owner

LS £ E-DN

Interest of a controlled

corporation

2 Y 15 B RE 4R

Beneficial owner

g £ E-DN

Interest of a controlled

corporation

52 Y 5 ERE 4R

Al A 2 ) T HE 1
& oy 8B (47 4) R INE R
729,000,000 shares 54.56%
729,000,000 1%
91,460,997 shares 6.84%
91,460,997 1%
93,436,782 shares (note 1) 6.99%
93,436,782 (Fff 5= 1)
100,620,000 shares 7.53%
100,620,000 /i
100,620,000 shares (note 2) 7.53%
100,620,000 ¢ (Bff 5 2)
101,250,000 shares 7.58%
101,250,000 %
101,250,000 shares (note 3) 7.58%

101,250,000 % (it 53:3)
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Notes:

1. These shares are held by Richemont Asset Management Limited
and Cachet Asset Management Limited, the entire issued capital of
which is held by Ms. Chow Chin Yui Angela, Under the SFO, Ms.
Chow Chin Yui Angela is deemed to be interested in all the shares
of the Company held by Richemont Asset Management Limited
and Cachet Asset Management Limited.

2. These shares are held by Classic Sapphire Holdings Limited, 50%
of the issued capital of which is held by Mr. Chan Wing Sum.
Under the SFO, Mr. Chan Wing Sum is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Classic Sapphire Holdings
Limited.

3. These shares are held by Classic Amber Holdings Limited, the
entire issued capital of which is held by Mr. Luo Jacky. Under the
SFO, Mr. Luo Jacky is deemed to be interested in all the shares of
the Company held by Classic Amber Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
by any persons or corporations, other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company, who had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as of the

date of this annual report.

Emolument policy

e Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and
The Group ploy
promoted based on their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its
remuneration model for determining the emoluments of
the Directors. This model stipulates that the remuneration
committee of the Company shall make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. The remuneration
committee of the Company would take into consideration,
among other things, the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors and senior management and prevailing market

conditions when determining their remuneration.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme to
grant share options to the Eligible Participants, including
Directors, as incentives or rewards for their contribution to

the Group.

Related party transactions

Particulars of the Company’s related party Transactions are
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions also constitute connected
transaction and continuing connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to these
transactions. Connected transaction and continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules are disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transaction” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above. Related party transactions other
than those disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transaction” and “Continuing Connected Transaction” are
fully exempt connected transactions as defined under the
Listing Rules.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of listing
securities

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
repurchased a total of 4,764,000 of its own ordinary shares
on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HK$0.9 million (before expenses) which
were cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2024).
As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the
total number of share issued was and is 1,336,245,000.
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Major property information

The following table sets the Group’s property portfolio

summary — Properties held for sale:

FEDEER

TRESIAEHRY)EMAGME — FrfF
LE/E%

Approximate
Existing/ gross floor Group’s
Property Location intended use Stage of completion Term of land area (sq.m.) interest (%)
Rt/ BAAgE  ARMES
hx L] Belem e TLIkE MR i (CF k) (%)
Perfect Group Jewellery Industry ~ Perfect Group Jewellery Industrial units, shops, canteen,  Completed Medium 91,810 100
Park Industry Park, No.1 Jade Road, Yang'e car patks and dormitory

Village Committee, Lunjiao
Subdistrict, Shunde District, Foshan
City, Guangdong Province, China.
(post code: 528300)

REHEE D TRERABLTIEERRALE HEEG WA
FEHZOERMBRERT  RE ELREE
B0 (BB 528300

Sufficiency of public float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the

Company has maintained sufficient public float.

Corporate governance report

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can
be found in the Corporate Governance Report set out on

pages 66 to 85 in this annual report.
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Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) had resigned as the
auditor of the Company with effect from 21 April 2023
as Deloitte and the Company could not reach a consensus
on the audit service fee regarding the annual audit for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023. The Board,
with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, had
resolved to appoint Moore CPA Limited as the new auditor
of the Company with effect from 21 April 2023 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte. Save
as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditor

of the Company during the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by Moore
CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forth coming annual

general meeting of the Company.

Review of results by audit committee

The Group’s final results for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Kan Kin Kwong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high
standard of corporate governance as it believes that
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to
enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board
attributes a high priority to identifying and implementing
appropriate corporate governance practices to ensure

transparency, accountability and effective internal controls.

Code on corporate governance practices

The Company is committed to maintaining good standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
responsibility. The Company has adopted the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
CI to the Listing Rules. Since the date of listing of the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange and up
to the date of this annual report, the Company has met
the applicable code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG
Code, except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code as explained below. The Company will
continue to enhance its corporate governance practices
which are considered appropriate to the operations and
growth of its business.

Corporate culture and strategy

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, namely customer centricity, excellence in sales of
jewellery products, properties and electricity, people first
and positivity, which is underpinned by its purpose and
values that enable employees at all levels of the Group to
thrive and meet their full potentials by acting in a lawful,
ethical and responsible manner that allows the Company to
deliver sustainable long-term performance and operate in a

way that benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they
are integrated throughout the Company’s operational
practices, workplace policies and practices and stakeholder
relationships.
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The management is responsible for setting the tone and
shaping the corporate culture of the Company, as well
as defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group, which are under review by the Board. Taking
into account the corporate culture is reflected in various
contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, value and
strategy of the Group are aligned with one another.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The role of the chairman of the Board has been
assumed by Mr. Kan Kin Kwong, who is also the chief
executive officer of the Company. Mr. Kan, as the founder
of the Group, has extensive experience and knowledge in
the fine jewellery industry and is responsible for managing
the overall operations of the Group and planning the
business development and strategies. The Directors consider
that vesting the roles of the chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company in the same
individual is beneficial to the management and business
development of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board and the
senior management, which comprise experienced and high
calibre individuals. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account

the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Model Code

The Company adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
for Directors in their dealings in the securities of the
Company.
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Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Company is satisfied that the Directors have complied with
the Model Code.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies
and monitoring the performance of the business of the
Group. Other than the daily operational decisions which
are delegated to the management of the Group, most of the
decisions are taken by the Board. All Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning,.

The Board constituted by six members, including three
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Note) (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Chi Keung
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (Note)

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (appointed on 1 August 2024)
Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (appointed on 30 September 2024)

Mr. Fan Chor Ho (resigned on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Lee Ka Wing (resigned on 30 September 2024)

Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick

Note: Mr. Kan and Ms. Shek are spouses.

Biographical details of each Director and relationship
between board members are set out on pages 35 to 42 of
this annual report.

The terms of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and
directors’ services contracts” in the Report of the Directors
of this annual report.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. At lease one of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise. The Board is of the view that the following
mechanisms adopted by the Company are effective in
ensuring that independent views and inputs are available to
the Board:

. The Board is represented by sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors which meets the

requirement of the Listing Rules.

. In assessing suitability of the Director candidates,
the Board will consider their profiles, including
their character, experience, qualifications and time
commitment; the Board will also consider to the
Board’s overall composition and skill matrix as well as

the Company’s diversity policy.

. The Board will review each Director’s time

commitment to the Company’s business annually.

. The Board will assess non-executive Directors’

independence upon appointment and annually.

. Directors are required to abstain from voting in

matters in which they have material interest.

* Directors can upon reasonable request seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s

expenses to discharge their duties.

The quality of deliberations at meetings of the Board
are reviewed during the annual evaluation of the Board’s

performance.
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance for its Directors and officers
covering the costs, losses, expenses and liabilities arising
from the performance of their duties. The insurance policy
covers legal action against its Directors and officers to
comply with the requirement of the Code. During the year,

no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the

Company.

The attendance records of each Director at the various

meetings of the Company during the year ended 31
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December 2024 are set out as follows: e
Attended/Eligible to Attend
M/ £ B A A
Remuneration Audit  Nomination Risk
General Board  committee  committee  committee management
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting
iM% wh% Ra% B
kixe #%a6dk HAEER  REER  HEER  HAEGR
Executive Directors HhE%
Mr. Kan Kin Kvong etk in 515 00 0/0 20 0
M. Chung Chi Keung ALRLE 1 515 1 0/0 0/0 0/0
Ms. Shek Mei Chun (e in 45 0/0 0/0 0/0 20
Independent non-executive Directors B3 #i 17 # %
Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (appointed on % 7 1 £
1 August 2024) (202448 11 H
EZ (D) 0/0 30 0/0 1N in 0/0
Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (appointed on REELL
30 September 2024) (1420244930
HEZE) 0/0 n 00 00 in 0/0
Mr. Fan Chor Ho (resigned on Wk
1 August 2024) (202448 1 H
RHE) in 20 0/0 112 in 0/0
Mr. Lee Ka Wing (resigned on ERREL
30 September 2024) (14202459430
HEHE) 1 414 1n 3 1 20
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick WRBEE 11 515 11 313 0/0 0/0
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers
and related materials, and the advice and services of
the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), and has the liberty to seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense if so
reasonably required. Directors will be continuously updated
on the major development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance

and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

Board committees

The Board has established four committees, namely
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”). The table below provides
the membership information of these committees on which

certain Board members served:
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Risk
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management
Committee Committee Committee Committee
Directors Jal Bt
HH HMZHE RAZHE FHWZEE EHZHEE
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Mr. Chung Chi Keung Fe A - - M -
Ms. Shek Mei Chun Vi3 % N - - - M
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Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick W C - M -
Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (appointed on 556 18 Lt (20244 M M C M
30 September 2024) 9H30H # Z{T)
Mr. Lee Ka Wing (resigned on 2R (120244 M M C M
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Notes: B 5E

C — Chairman of the relevant Committee

M — Member of the relevant Committee

C-fMZRGEN
M-fHZBEERA

2024 Annual Report “FEH L 71



Corporate Governance Report
(e S o:E: g

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22
of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the Audit Committee have been modelled off the Code
Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (since his appointment
with effect from 1 August 2024), Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (since
her appointment with effect from 30 September 2024) and
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick. Mr. Fan Chor Ho and
Mr. Lee Ka Wing were the members of Audit Committee
until their resignation with effect from 1 August 2024 and
30 September 2024, respectively. Mr. Wong Wai Keung

Frederick is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

- Consider the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, the audit fee
and terms of engagements, and any questions of

resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

—  Review the financial statements and provide material
advice in respect of financial reporting of the Group;

and

- Oversight of internal control procedures and risk

management of the Group.

Meetings of the Audit Committee shall be held no less than
two times a year. Three meetings of the Audit Committee

were held during the review year.

72 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited {7842 5] |5 B2 1A FRZA 7]

wHMER®

ARANFEM L FEZE G > R LR
565321 J2 3,226 DA 2 T i o L TR A A ) o
F & B e A E O S ST ww
SO HT o Rk A AR AT R AR A R RO S
JiT 48 3 BUAS o

AERBY > FREZEGH =28 Lk
AT F R R (H2024F8 H1H # &
fE8E) ~ %6 &+ (H20244F9H30H 1 &
T B ) o o e A AL R o YE AR R K
ZRELEU/RFLZEGNE > HEM
0 Bl H20244E8 H1H K 20244930 H B
BRI - EEWCERFEZEGER -

FE BN TR E A

- B RAT - BN R G AN AL BT
3 SN E LS MNP SN
T 5% A% BRI Y S5 S

— RS AR KBRS BB
RM;ERER X

BB AS AR T TR AR B R AR R % JE B

FEHZBGHFHABRTAD R WK G & -
FEREA GNP AR T e -



Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written
terms of reference with effect from 14 December 2015.
As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (since his
appointment with effect from 1 August 2024) and Ms.
Ng Sin Kiu (since her appointment with effect from 30
September 2024). Mr. Fan Chor Ho and Mr. Lee Ka
Wing were the members of Nomination Committee until
their resignation with effect from 1 August 2024 and 30
September 2024, respectively. Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The duties of the Nomination Committee shall be:

—  Review the structure, size and composition (including
the gender, age, cultural background, education
background, skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy;

—  Identify individuals suitably qualified to become
board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

—  Assess the independency of independent non-executive
Directors;

—  Make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive; and

—  Review the board diversity policy (including
the gender, age, cultural background, education
background, skills, knowledge and experience) as
appropriate and to review the measurable objectives
under the board diversity policy and the progress
of the attainment of the objectives, so as to ensure
effective implementation; and make disclosure of its

review results in the corporate governance report.
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Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held no
less than once a year. Two meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held during the review year.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”) which embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the Company would try
to seek board candidates with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including (but not
limited to) gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. Currently the
Board comprises four (66.7%) males and two (33.3%)
females. The Company will continue to enforce and
review the Diversity Policy. In particular, when the Board
identifies potential Director candidates in the future, it will
ensure that sufficient consideration will be given to gender
diversity in light of the gender distribution of the boards of
listed issuers on the Stock Exchange which operates in the

same industry as the Company.

The Board will review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress

made towards achieving those objectives.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 54 male employees
and 79 female employees, representing approximately
40.6% and 59.4% of the workforce (including senior
management), respectively. The Group’s recruitment
and promotion policy is underpinned by the principle of
appointment of the right person for the right position, in
order to achieve employee diversity. The Board considers
that the current gender ratio of the workforce of the Group

is appropriate for its operations.
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Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14
December 2015. As at the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises one executive
Director, namely Mr. Chung Chi Keung and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ng Sin
Kiu (since her appointment with effect from 30 September
2024) and Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick. Ms. Ng Sin
Kiu is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lee Ka Wing was the chairman of Remuneration
Committee until his resignation with effect from 30
September 2024.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee shall be:

- Make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure

for developing remuneration policy;

—  Review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate

goals and objectives;

—  Make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive

Directors and senior management;

- Make recommendations to the Board on the

remuneration of non-executive Directors;

—  Consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group;

—  Review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with contractual terms and is

otherwise fair and not excessive;

Corporate Governance Report
(e 3= 80:E: 4

HMEZE &

B2 B e 2R 20154F12 H 14 H BT » A A
WA FMER SR AT E S
B R AL IERAT R REAE
7+ (H20244E9 A30 H M & AT 88 ) K 5 1 i
SR - BB L LAFMEEGER -
ZRERACRFMZEGEF > HEEMW
H20249H30 H B AT 24 1k -

& ERE R

- BAXFAAEREFRLEHERANR
il #T B N TR K 2R DL L% i il
w1 38 N O T sk o7 1 2B YRR
] 2 4 A

- Z2WERGMAEITHRAE  BE
Jo At v 2 T 00 I A

— U AT R AR N B
P 17 288 o E S Er R R

- HFEBATEEA M E R e

g .
(=]

- FHREFEAE TS HEA
{14 1y [ S B AE A B A 4 I oA O At B A6
A 4R W 1

— B E R AT AT R AR R
N B TR S 2 Bl 46 1 TRk 5 B 23 AT 1) B 4
DL O A BRI B 45 & A0 B A A R K
HIE AP &R

2024 Annual Report “FEHE 75



Corporate Governance Report
(e S o:E: g

— Review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and

appropriate; and

—  Ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) is involved in

deciding his/her own remuneration.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be held not
less than once a year. One meeting of the Remuneration

Committee was held during the review year.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of CG Code, the
remuneration of members of senior management by band

for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:
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Risk management committee

The Risk Management Committee was established on 14
December 2015. As at the date of this annual report, the
Risk Management Committee, comprises two executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kan Kin Kwong and Ms. Shek
Mei Chun and one independent Non-executive Director,
namely Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (since her appointment from 30
September 2024). Mr. Lee Ka Wing was the member of
Risk Management Committee until his resignation with
effect from 30 September 2024. Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is the

chairman of the Risk Management Committee.
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The duties of the Risk Management Committee shall be
monitoring the Company’s exposure to sanctions law risks
and its implementation of the related internal control

procedures, and shall include:

—  Reviewing and approving all relevant business
transaction documentation from suppliers or
customers or potential customers from any
country that is subject to sanctions (the “Relevant

Counterparty”);

— Reviewing the information (such as identity
and nature of business) relating to the Relevant
Counterparty to the contract along with the draft

business transaction documentation;

—  Checking the Relevant Counterparty against the
various lists of restricted parties and countries
maintained by the United States of America, the
European Union, the United Nations and Australia,
including, without limitation, any government,
individual or entity that is the subject of any United
States Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control-administered sanctions which lists
are publicly available, and determining whether the
Relevant Counterparty is, or is owned or controlled
by, a person located in any country that is subject to

sanctions or a sanctioned person;

- Reviewing on a semi-annual basis internal control
policies and procedures with respect to sanctions law

matters; and

- If any potential sanctions risk is identified, or
if the Committee considers necessary, retaining
external international legal counsel with necessary
expertise and experience in sanctions law matters for

recommendations and advice.

Meetings of the Risk Management Committee shall be
held no less than once a year. Two meetings of the Risk

Management Committee was held during the review year.
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Continuous professional development

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the year, the Group has
provided training materials for all the Directors to keep
them abreast of the latest development of legal, regulatory
and corporate governance. The Group, together with its
compliance adviser, continuously updates the Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate

governance practices.

Company secretary

Ms. Tang Kam Man, aged 36, has been appointed as the
chief financial officer, the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company, all with effect
from 8 November 2023. The biography of Ms. Tang is set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. She has
fulfilled no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training requirement under the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Accountability and audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Directors aim to present a clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects.
The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, the Board therefore continues to adopt the going
concern approach in preparing the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The Board acknowledges
its responsibility to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and
interim reports, inside information announcements and
other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules,

and reports to the regulators.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect
to the financial reporting are set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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Disclosure of long term basis for generating
or preserving business value

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s corporate strategy
and long term business model is set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of

this annual report.

Risk management and internal controls

The Board is responsible for the maintenance of a stable
and effective risk management and internal control
systems for the Group and also responsible for reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board, with the assistance from
the Audit Committee, conducted annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems as required by the Code Provisions,
covering financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, and including reviews on the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial report function for the Period

and considered they were effective and adequate.

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to
ensure that information contained in announcements or
circulars are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact
in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and

negative facts.
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Conflicts of interest declaration

The Group adopted conflict of interest declaration policy
as one of the important internal control procedures.
Employees are required to provide annual declaration of
conflict of interest, and strictly comply with the policy to
ensure that the Group and its customers, business partners,
Shareholders, employees and business community of the
transactions and dealings are in line with the highest

standards of business conduct and ethics.

Whistleblowing policy
The Group established a whistleblowing policy for

employees under confidentiality to file complaint and
report any suspected misconduct, fraud and irregularities,
in an orderly manner. A designated director is assigned for
receiving, reviewing complaint and report, to investigate, to
draw conclusion and to make appropriate recommendations
for improvement, and inform the relevant departments

senior management to implement corrective action.

The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board engaged Apec Risk Management Limited to
conduct an independent review of the systems of internal
control and risk management of the Group. Weakness
and inadequacies identified during such review together
with recommendations for improvement thereon had
been accepted and implemented in full by the Company
and reviewed by the Audit Committee. Based on this,
the Company is of the view that the systems of internal
control and risk management in place for the year ended 31
December 2024 is sufficient to safeguard the interests of
the Shareholders and the Group’s assets.
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Auditor’s remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
engaged external auditor, Moore CPA Limited to provide

the following services:

A% 9 il P

R £ 202412 H31H 1F4F > A 4 E
Z AT AT A% BYRT K 2 55 it = @ 5 A 25 B T
AR A A 2 48R 51 R B

Service Fee

ik % &

HK$

o

Audit services % B B 955,000
Interim review services rp 4 2% B IR S 240,000

Investor relations and communication with

shareholders

The Board recognizes the importance of good
communication with the Shareholders. The Company
believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is the

key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has established several communication
channels, including (a) the annual and extraordinary
general meetings which provide a forum for Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed corporate
documents mailing to Sharcholders; (c) announcement
disseminating the latest activities of the Group on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange; and (d)
the Company’s website providing an electronic means of

communication.
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The general meetings are valuable forums for direct
communications between the Board and Shareholders. The
Directors and members of various Board committees will
attend the general meetings of the Company. Shareholders
can raise questions directly to the Board in respect of the
performance and future development of the Group. At
other times, Shareholders and investors can put enquires by
writing to the Company for the attention of an executive
Director, or the company secretary, whose contact channels
are set out above under “Procedures by which Enquiries
may be Put to the Board”. The Company regularly reviews
its shareholders’ communication policy and evaluates its
implementation and effectiveness. In light of the above, the
Company considered that its shareholders’ communication

policy is relevant and effective.

Annual general meeting

The Board and senior management are well aware of their
important tasks of acting on behalf of the interests of all
the Shareholders and raising the Sharcholders’ returns. The
Board considers that AGM is an important opportunity for
direct communication with the Shareholders. Code A.6.7 of
the Code Provisions require that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of the Shareholders. The Board encourages all the
Shareholders to participate in the AGM where the members
of the Board and external auditors will be present and

communicate with the Shareholders.
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Shareholders’ rights

How Shareholder Can Convene an Extraordinary

General Meeting

In accordance with Article 58 of the Articles of Association,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary
general meeting. Any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to

the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the
Board. Such enquiries can be addressed to the Company
Secretary in writing by mail to the Company’s registered
office in the Cayman Islands at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands or its principal place of business in Hong Kong
and headquarters at 26/F, YHC Tower, No. 1 Sheung Yuet
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong,.
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Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at

Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies
Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward
new resolutions at general meetings. Sharcholders who
wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the above paragraph heading
“How Sharcholder Can Convene an Extraordinary General

Meeting”.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director

If a sharcholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at a general meeting, the relevant
documents must be validly served on the Company’s
registered office in the Cayman Islands or the place of
business in Hong Kong and headquarters within the
requisite period of time. The full details of the procedures
for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director were posted on 31 December 2015 on the web-site

of the Company at http://www.hkperjew.com.hk.

Significant changes in constitutional
documents

There were no changes made to the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) provides an update information on the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) work of the
Group from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Year”). The Report is principally prepared with
reference to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (“the ESG Reporting Guide”, which has
been renamed as the “Environment, Social and Governance
Reporting Code” since January 1, 2025) issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and key performance indicators with reference
to Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group operates its principal business in the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) and
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and therefore the
Report only covers the Group’s operation in these two
areas. The principal business of the Group is designing,
manufacturing and sales of high-end fine jewellery
(primarily mounted with diamonds), development, sales,
and leasing of the Group’s integrated and comprehensive
industry park (the “Perfect Group Jewellery Industry
Park”)* (£ 8 FLE & ¥ D) located in the PRC, and
the provision of management services to the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park properties and a third-party
project. In addition, the Group has expanded its operations
in the PRC through subsidiaries engaged in photovoltaic
power generation projects and energy storage operations,
both of which have been included in the Report for this
Reporting Year.

For identification purpose only
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The Report also focuses on the following two subject areas

during the Reporting Year:

A. Environmental (emissions, use of resources
consumption, together with the environmental and

natural resources and climate change)

B. Social (employment, health and safety, development
and training, labour standards, supply chain
management, product responsibility, anti-corruption

and community investment)

This Report summarizes the performance contributed
by the Group in respect of environmental and corporate
social responsibility for the year ended 31 December 2024,
covering its principal activities in the operation of jewellery
business, property management business and the operation
of photovoltaic power generation projects and energy

storage.

For details of the Group’s corporate governance, please also
refer to the Corporate Governance Report included in the
Annual Report 2024 of the Group.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has
overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Board is responsible for evaluating and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The Executive
Directors are responsible for formulating ESG management
policies, strategies, goals, and annual reporting and
promoting related implementation. They also identify,
evaluate, review, and manage major ESG issues, risks and
opportunities while other departments are responsible for
organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG
related tasks under the Group’s ESG management policies
and strategies, including collecting and analysing relevant

information and data on the ESG aspects, supervising and
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evaluating the Group’s ESG performance relating to various
aspects such as the environment, health and safety, labour
standard and product and service responsibility, ensuring
that the Group abides by relevant laws and regulations
and assisting to formulate ESG priorities. All tasks will
be reported to the Board annually in order to review and
reformulate the policies and plans for achievement of goals
and targets. The progress of target implementation and
the performance of the goals and targets would be closely
reviewed from time to time. Rectification may be needed
if the progress falls short of expectation. As a responsible
enterprise, the Group considers the commitments of the
ESG be part of its responsibility and is dedicated to embed

the ESG factors into the decision-making process.

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining
sound ESG risk management and internal control
systems within the Group. Through exercising oversight
on the Group’s management and active and conducive
communication with management personnels and
employees who are involved in the day-to-day operation of
the Group’s business, the Board is able to identify material
ESG risks in the aspects of emissions, consumption of
resources, impact on natural resources and climate change,
as well as other social aspects pertaining to our Group.
The Board is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management
and internal control systems, and for ensuring that the
Group has taken reasonable measures to manage significant
risks. The Group believes that ESG risks have gradually
becoming an important factor in its business, and has taken
the approach to incorporate ESG risks into its routine risk
management process as a means of enhancing its overall
risk evaluation, prioritizing and management and control

capabilities.
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REPORTING STANDARD AND

PRINCIPLES

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“mandatory disclosure requirements” and “comply or
explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide under
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange. During its preparation,

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

the Group adheres to the reporting principles of materiality,

quantitative, balance and consistency by:

Reporting Principles
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Interpretation
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The Group’s Application
A 55 1 i e

Materiality

H R

Quantitative

Balance

The report should disclose significant impacts
on the environment and society, or aspects that
materially affect how the stakeholders assess

the company and make decisions.
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The KPIs disclosed in the report shall be

calculable and comparable where applicable.
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The Group should objectively and truthfully
report its ESG performance for the Reporting

Year.
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The Group conducts questionnaire to
understand stakeholders’ expectations. Based
on the results of the questionnaire, the Group
identifies and reports the Group’s material
sustainability issues.
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Under feasible situation, the Group records,
calculates and discloses quantitative
information and conducts comparisons with
past performance.
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The Group follows the principles of
accuracy, objectivity and fairness to report its
achievements and challenges in sustainable
development.
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Reporting Principles  Interpretation The Group’s Application
i 5 50 i 7 A 55 1
Consistency The ESG report should be prepared in The Group ensures consistency in preparing

a consistent manner, its ESG’s KPIs can the report and manage its ESG data for future

be compared to understand corporate comparison. If there are any changes to the

performance. methodologies, calculations, or any other
factors that affect meaningful comparison, the
Group will make a clear explanation.
— B ESG ¥ # ME LA — 8o 77 X A Y - HESGRA A 48 B e R A 0 i 19 — 2omE > W0
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CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the Report for
our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to

info@hkperjew.com.hk.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT
The Report was approved by the Board of the Group.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

We identified the key stakeholders of our business
operations and interacted with our stakeholders regularly
through various communication channels. The following
table illustrates the issues of concern of our major

stakeholders and the ways we communicate with them:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
iy & ma SHRE 1 1l
Shareholders and —  Provide high transparency for Annual general meeting and —  Issued notices of general meeting
Investors information disclosure other shareholder meetings and proposed resolutions
—  Protect shareholder’s rights and Annual report, interim report according to regulations
interest and announcements —  Disclosed Company’s
Company website information by publishing annual
reports, interim reports and
announcements
—  Disclosed company contact
details on website and in reports
and ensured all communication
channels available and effective
e R S E H —  RUEEMEN GRS BOoRBERGRIMBRE —  HERBEHRERGES L
—  REBCRER C RPN
B PR R —  EBTIRAER - PR R
2 ) A A E AW EALAEHR
—  TAAE R o R R
AT A T R B AT 8 A R
T HA
Employees —  Education and training Employee communication —  Provided a healthy and safe
— Career development Training, seminars and briefing working conditions and
opportunities sessions environment
—  Health and safety working Intranet and emails —  Provided training to employee
environment —  Provided attractive remuneration
—  Safeguard the rights and interests packages
of employers
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Stakeholder
YR

Expectation

Engagement channel

SHRE

Measures

fi 1

Customers

%F

Suppliers

Public and communities

>~
b
N
2
o
[
=0

Government

B i

Provide safe, high-quality
products

Stable relationship
Business ethics

R A BERYE G
f87E M Bl 1R
EES:K:

Honest cooperation
Strong relationship

CAGKCH(
2 ] 19 B

Discharge social responsibilities
Community involvement

Abide by laws and regulations
Fulfil duty to pay tax
Promote regional economic
development and employment

A kR A
B 17 Bt % B
A B o I A 8 A

Website, brochures and annual
report

Email and customer service
hotline

Complaint handling mechanism
Regular meetings

Sale representatives’ visits
- T M EAE R

BT BREF R # 8
eI

i Wk

& R FFE

Suppliers review and assessment
Regular meetings

08 8 75 9 B D P A
E W&k

Volunteering

Charity and social investment
Annual report

Donation

75 B M
LA GRE
B

1

On-site inspections and checks
Company website

HdisEneg
3w Y
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Provided prompt quality,
customized products
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Performed contracts according to
agreements

Enhanced daily communication,
and established long-term
cooperation with quality
suppliers and contractors
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Carried out charitable activities
Provided volunteer service, kept
communication channels open
between the Company and the
communities
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Operated, managed and paid
taxes according to laws and
regulations, strengthened safety
management

Accepted the government’s
supervision, inspection and
evaluation
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Materiality Assessment

With a growing population, challenges such as climate
change, energy supply and security, raw material scarcity,
human health and safety, and employment must be
addressed to ensure that people can lead healthy and
fulfilling lives. Faced with a wide range of issues, the
Group is keen to identify the key ESG issues that have a
great impact on its stakeholders and business, and then
to develop its strategic priorities. This is why materiality
assessment is an essential part of the Group’s ESG
management and reporting. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report
with reference to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide, the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) Guidelines
and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board
(“SASB”) Standards.
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The Group has established a stakeholder-driven approach to
analysing the importance of ESG and identified 14 issues
most relevant to the Group’s business. A questionnaire
was then conducted, in which stakeholders were invited to
rate the issues based on their importance to the Group’s

business and to the stakeholders themselves.

A. Environmental
Emissions

The Group’s operation does not result in significant
air and greenhouse gas emissions or, discharges
into water and land. The wastes created during
the operation are mainly generated from electricity
consumption and usage of vehicles fleet. During
the Reporting Year, the Group did not receive any
notification on non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the Group.
Such laws and regulations include but are not limited
to Law of the PRC on Environmental Protection* (1
3N R I B BR % A% # 7%), Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution* ('
N R IL R B K 5 G B iR %), Law of the PRC
on the Prevention and Control of Pollution from
Environmental Noise* ("' #E A R 3t fil B BR 55 i
#2 5 QL B V6 7)), Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution of Solid
Waste* (P 2 A B 3 F0 B [ B s 4 05 Yt ER BE Dy
1A %), the Regulations on Environmental Protection
Management of Construction Projects® ( & & JH
H R 5% 1 G % P B]), Law of the PRC on the
Renewable Energy* (" % A IR 4t A1 B 7T 4 4= G
Ji1%), Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact
Assessment® (' HE A 3L RN B BR BE R 2 HE A 1),
Law of the PRC on Electric Power* (7% A R It
A1 % J17%), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

For identification purpose only
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During the Reporting Year, most of nitrogen
oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,) and particulate
matter (PM) were emitted from fuel consumption
of vehicle fleet and the use of natural gas. With
the commencement of operation at Guangdong
Huijinying Jewellery Company Limited (“Guangdong
Huijinying”)* (ERESBKXEAFRAA), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
natural gas was utilized in the metal refining and
purification processes. During the Reporting Year,
it is estimated that 9,016 litres (2023: 9,012 litres)
of petrol and 330 m? (2023: Nil) of natural gas were
consumed. The Group has policy and guideline to
maintain the efficient use of fuel in vehicle and the

manufacturing process of jewellery.

During the Reporting Year and the corresponding
year in 2023, the air pollutant emissions from the

operation are set out below:

BN~ e RGN

R EEE RN KIS ARILY
(NO,) ~ il B (LW (SO,) I HE i K 5 (PM)
F PR VR B EE K UT T AR 0 K T B (T
RIRR o WE 2 A 5 18 1 T 42 9F & &
Ji§ N F R CRE & B ERE A R A A (E
BROME 45 422 1) B 46 7 - R SR B AR
G B AR RS B b o R R AR
A BT 9,016 7 (20234F ¢ 9,012
) 1R 33057 J5 K (20234F 1 &) K
SR o AT 2 B K48 5] 0 R
MERr e Rk E R BB A
A -

AR B AE B KR ME 120234 48 HE
T A A 22 SR 75 Y ) BE IR QT

Air Pollutant Emission

ZRIG RV R

Air Pollutant Emission (kg)

22 R R ki & (T 3)
2024 2023
Type of Air Pollutants ZRG B RN —EF=F
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) Bt A AL ¥ (SO,) 0.57 0.48
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) REAEILY (NO,) 4.26 4.78
Particulate Matter (PM) & IF KL T (PM) 0.74 0.73

Intensity g

(kg/Revenue HK$°000) (F35 /8Tl A) 0.00002 0.00002
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Note:

1. The air pollutants emissions mainly include the Sulphur
Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides and Particulate Matter generated
by vehicle petrol consumption and the use of natural gas.

2. The emissions data of Sulphur Oxides, Nitrogen Oxides
and Particulate Matter are based on “the Preparation of Air
Pollutants Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial)”,

“How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock

Exchange.

During the Reporting Year and the corresponding
year in 2023, the greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions
from the operation are set out below:

GHG Emission
= R i &

Scope i =

W &

Lo 225075 e W PR 2 R AR EO I T A
Be TR B8 SR AL B B AL ) - RAAL
L% < e A

2. BEALY - REAALY KR R T P
WOR TS M R T E B M B BRSSP
T RE A B A R (RUAT) ) W 2SI
e B T oy 45 A 3R 5 AR B B IG WOE
— B Bk . c BR T B B G AR E R A 5
FHE

TR AE B KR E 1920234 - B E A
A EERE(RERE)DERE
mnr:

Equivalent CO, emission (tonnes)
A AL R R & ()
2024 2023
R P =T =

Scopel: Direct GHG emissions

B E B E R 22.28 22.00

Scope2: Indirect GHG emissions 2 ¢ P UL RO 488.77 471.98
Total Fig=y 511.05 493,98
Intensity (tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (M BT T A) 0.0019 0.0014

Note:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from greenhouse
gas protocol, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange, latest released emission factors of China’s regional
power grid basis, the emission factor released by the CLP Power
Hong Kong in 2023, Calculating Methods and Reporting
Guidelines for Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land Transport
Enterprises (Trial)* (B bxxmEm it ERERBEERZE T
i B R T (RUAT)).

Scope 1: Refer to direct emissions from vehicles owned by the
Group and the use of natural gas.

Scope 2: Refer to indirect emissions mainly from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

Scope 3 is not disclosed as it is an optional disclosure.

For identification purpose only
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BN~ e RGN

During the Reporting Year and the corresponding AR R AE KR B 1920234 > A S HE
year in 2023, the hazardous and non-hazardous waste EEEANAELEEREY T
generated from the operation are set out below:
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
AEREEERED
2024 2023
Category B “EFTNE —EF=
Hazardous waste (tonnes) A EREEY) (W) 2.60 —
Non-hazardous waste (tonnes) 4 I W) (M) 0.86 1.00
Hazardous waste intensity AEBEEYEE
(tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (M /5 Tt A) 0.000010 —
Non-hazardous waste intensity M g )
(tonnes/revenue HK$’000) (M8 /5T el A) 0.000003 0.000003

During the Reporting Year, Guangdong Huijinying
started its operation through its licensed
environmental protection centre. The primary
hazardous wastes generated from the metal refining
and purifying processes and jewellery manufacturing
process are solid wastes and hazardous residues in
the wastewater, while non-hazardous wastes consist
primarily of commercial wastes. The Group has
established a hazardous waste management policy,
ensuring that all stages of waste generation, storage,
and disposal are recorded. Additionally, the Group
has established a temporary storage area for hazardous
waste and implemented measures such as anti-seepage
treatments to prevent the leakage of hazardous
waste and mitigate any impact on the surrounding
environment. To ensure the operation of our factory
is in compliance with the applicable environmental
law, the Group has established a Wastewater
Treatment Centre within the Perfect Group Jewellery
Industry Park to collect the wastewater produced
in our factory’s production process, and we entered
into an agreement with a qualified water treatment
service provider responsible for the operation of the
Wastewater Treatment Centre during the Reporting
Year. After undergoing treatment, the hazardous
residues in the wastewater will be managed and
recycled by certified providers of hazardous waste
disposal services. During the Reporting Year, the
Company has enhanced the collection process and
captured data on hazardous waste.

AR AR RE N > B RRE 4 B Ry
JE B R O B GG A A o 4 RS R I f2
A Tl R BRE R TR E AR
B E BE Y B A BE BT Y RN B K
A EREY  MEEEEYL 3
R Y AL R - AR B E—TH
HOEBE Y E R > RE R R B BE
FEYELE - MEKEBNITA MY EL -
WAh > REEE KA EEEY
fifs B ot 77 [ > NI BE il T K A0 By 98 e PR
SR RE o LART IR E B E Y s o
T ST R BR B A0 AT AT B B o e R
TR B AM AN EREL > AEME
B 7E 7 38 2k 8 2 2P0 N R oL BE K R
ﬂ¢®»&%1ﬁ¢?tﬁ¢%im
JBE K > Sl AT B A K R B
IR 5 5 % W W ok 0 B B K R B
Hly o 483 B PR AR > %m¢m%$%
m%%mmth§Mﬁi%ﬁ%@
BOR GS E EAT A PR K Il i o A R B AR
EWa$®ﬂEM@W%ﬁﬁaﬁ%
A WA EEEY B -
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During the Reporting Year, the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park has also completed the
construction of Zero Discharge of Sewage* (157K %
fE BE) and carried out environmental standardization
programme, resulting in no emission of wastewater to

the public sewage system after it was processed.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not
generate significant hazardous and non-hazardous
waste, and did not consume significant amount of

water due to its business nature.

In addition, the Group advocates emission reduction,
and is committed to achieving sustainable operations
and compliance with emission requirements
permitted by the local authorities. To this end, we set
management and control targets by 2027 in reducing
the intensity of air pollutant emissions, GHG
emissions, and waste production by 3%, with 2022 as
the baseline year. For the coming year, the Group is
committed to actively implement the environmental
initiatives, including the air pollutants control plan,
electricity-saving measures, material-saving plan and
waste reduction plan. These efforts will be based on
the progress made in the Reporting Year, with the
target of reducing the intensity of waste production,
air pollutants emissions and GHG gas emissions by
3% by 2027. The Group will review the progress and
explore more opportunities for various environmental
protection goals. In the future, we will consider
setting more specific quantitative environmental
goals to nurture the environment and cherish natural
resources. Moreover, we are investing more resources
in recycling to help the development of circular

economy.
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For each target established, the Group has placed the
following measures in office and daily operations to
achieve the targets for air pollutants emissions, GHG

emissions and waste production.

1. Carrying out regular maintenance of vehicles

with good condition for operational efficiency

2.  Encouraging the use of hybrid or electric

vehicles whenever possible
3. Replacing ageing lamps with LED lamps

4.  Installing blackout curtains to reduce energy

loss

5. Switching off lights and unnecessary
energy-consuming devices when they are not in

use

6. Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by means of slogan

or poster in office

7.  Focusing on quality management to reduce

wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted

BN~ e RGN

?ﬁ%&iﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ?ﬁ”  MEBERS
Qe PRk B - = SR PR B KO
%%;%EEZET?& AR B R A E
B HH B SR ICLL N 10

Lo SRS - R SR U R
o L3R T R

2. ol a0 IR 68 BkE AR

3. ffi FILED & & At &AL e

4, EALHEOB R AR DL D BE TR IR R

5. AEAGER > B P A B A
1 ¥& BE w M

6. *Tiﬁr AR o A0 AE s = R B AR
S 47K B ) R EE B
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Additionally, to minimize the exhaust gas emissions,
GHG emissions and waste generated during the metal
refining and processing of jewellery (such as roasting
and smelting), the Group has implemented the

following measures:

1. Some processes adopt three-sided fume hoods*
( = 1 & F 5 %8 A 8 ) and enclosed gas
collecting hoods* (% PANU R B for exhaust
collection, improving the efficiency of exhaust

gas collection.

2. Exhaust gas treatment processes, including
urea absorption* (JK R W IL), baghouse dust
collection* (77 4% B B ), alkaline spray* (1
W " W ) combined with activated carbon
adsorption* (1% 1 % W Fff), and alkaline spray
combined with sodium hypochlorite spray*
(K & R 5 W #K), are adopted to ensure that
exhaust gas emissions comply with relevant laws,

regulations and emission standards.

3. An exhaust gas monitoring plan was developed
by the Group for regular monitoring of

discharged exhaust gases.

4. Regular maintenance of exhaust gas treatment
facilities (e.g., replacing activated carbon)
is conducted to ensure stable and normal

operation.

5. Electric heating or clean energy sources
(such as natural gas) are utilized during the
manufacturing process.

6. The Group has entered into agreements with

suppliers for the recycling and reuse of raw

material packaging.

For identification purpose only
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7.  Hazardous waste is initially processed in the
precious metal refining workshop. The qualified
third-party service provider will be entrusted for
proper handling once the workshop is unable to

manage the hazardous waste.

The Group developed the environmental targets for
air pollutants emissions, GHG emissions and waste

production, and the results as at the end of the

BN~ e RGN

7. HEBE WY TE R B R R
HEAT 0 0 B o — ELHE [ i 75 )R
Mg ERREY  HEXEGE
%5 = O M 5 4@ I e o AT %2 % R
H o

A AL OBt B RIS e W P& -
i % 50 B PR R R R W E AR N E
BRETH R Wl AR Z &5 R A

Reporting Year are as follows: mr -
2024 vs.
Environmental KPI Targets Baseline Year 2024 vs. 2023 baseline year Status
20244 20244

RS e H# A W20234E bl BERERE  ORE

Air pollutants emissions Reduce the intensity 2022 Maintain Recorded an In progress
of air pollutants increase
emissions by 3%
by 2027

28 5 e W B R F2027FMERTG 20224 R EF kAT 5 EAE T
Ik & S
W 153%

GHG emissions Reduce the intensity 2022 Recorded an Recorded an In progress
of greenhouse gas increase increase
emissions by 3%
by 2027

i % S R E20074 W E R 2022 BR7 5 SAF A IEAEHEAT
R B R
3%

Waste production Reduce the 2022 Recorded an Recorded a In progress
intensity of waste increase decrease
production by 3%
by 2027

B E2027F B EY 20225 AT B AT B EEETT
7 AR P A 3%

2024 Annual Report “FEH L 101



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

Use of Resources

The Group’s production plants and business
operations are strictly abide by all relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC*
(b #E R L RN R A fg UR 1), Waste Disposal
Ordinance of Hong Kong and other laws and
regulations. We have implemented energy & resources
conservation measure in our operations including
having energy & resources conservation procedure
in place in the course of business operation. We are
committed to advocating conservation of resources,
and improving the efficiency of energy and resource
consumption.

During the Reporting Year, the electricity
consumption by the Group was approximately 0.9
million kWh (2023: 0.9 million kWh). During the
Reporting Year, Hong Kong operation has consumed
approximately 0.1 million kWh (2023: 0.1 million
kWh), while the PRC operation has consumed
approximately 0.8 million kWh (2023: 0.8 million
kWh).

Energy consumption by the Group during the
Reporting Year and the corresponding year in 2023
are set out below:

¥ R B

A AR B0 AR E R S M S B R i A%
BAFITA B R BEE AR W1
{H A BR S o 2 N R Sk i 6 44 B IR
)~ AR OR TS 388 W ) f K
il i ik B o FAM L AE B e
AE b B PR A o B0 A AE SR LR
AR b E B RE b IR A RAERE T
FA E B E A E U - B2 e TR
Lo IR A A

R FEEN > AEBHAEEL 209
HE TR (20234F : 0.9 & T FLIFF) ©
WHEFEEN HFHBNEECIHFE
#0108 T (2023% : 018 & T K
RE) > MR A& EEHEL8HE T
U (20234F 1 0.8T7 B T FLIRF) o

A% ) i R A R 2023 4F A IE AR R
I B RE VR T FEAE DL AR

Energy Consumption

HE R FE B
Energy consumed (kWh)
BB U1 FE (T R I

2024 2023

Type of energy fiE R 8 7 SERONE —SF =
Unleaded petrol A0 S5 IR I 87,380.74 87,337.05
Purchased electricity WEEN 936,668.03 860,899.43
Natural gas KRR 3,264.11 —
Total Ha st 1,027,312.88 948,236.48

Energy intensity ik U5 %% BE

(kWh/revenue HK$°000) (TR HT#TBRA) 3.78 2.72

For identification purpose only
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The water consumption by the Group was
approximately 56,944 cubic meters (0.21 cubic
meters/revenue HK$°000) (2023: 62,585 cubic meters,
0.18 cubic meters/revenue HK$’000). Most of them
are consumed in the PRC as Hong Kong office is
for general administrative and sales purpose. The
Group, same as last year, has ensured the consistent
efficiency in the use of water. We have obtained the
pollutant discharge permit for the newly developed
Environmental Protection Centre. The water in the
PRC is mainly supplied by the state-owned water
utility company while the water in Hong Kong are
mainly supplied by the Water Supply Department of
the Hong Kong Government, which we have no issue

in water sourcing.

Packing material used by the Group are light and
recyclable. The packing material used during the
Reporting Year was mainly paper estimated 0.20
tonnes (2023: estimated 0.20 tonnes).

In addition, the Group advocates energy and
resources saving, and is committed to achieving
sustainable operations and compliance with emission
requirements by local authorities. To this end, we
set management and control targets by 2027 in
reducing the intensity of energy consumption and
water consumption by 3%, with 2022 as the baseline
year. For the coming year, the Group is continuously
committed to actively implement the electricity-saving
plan and water-saving plan and measures. These
efforts will be based on the progress made in
the Reporting Year, with the target of reducing
the intensity of energy consumption and water
consumption by 3% by 2027. The Group will review
the progress and explore more opportunities for
various environmental protection goals. In the future,
we will consider setting more specific quantitative
environmental goals to nurture the environment and
cherish natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the development

of circular economy.

BN~ e RGN
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The Group developed the environmental targets for
energy conservation and water conservation, and

the results as at the end of the Reporting Year are as

follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

4R T ol B RE K K AfE T ] E BR B
FRR > 7 ko 4F BE R I &5 R T

2024 vs. baseline

Environmental KPI Targets Baseline Year 2024 vs. 2023 year Status
20244F J20235F 20244 B 4
5 T 8 0 H# o e 47 i b ik &
Energy consumption Reduce the intensity 2022 Recorded an Recorded an In progress
of energy increase increase
consumption by
3% by 2027
A 95,1 20274 MHEWT  20224F CSER ok 15 38 AT H
FE I B 15 3%
Wiater consumption Reduce the 2022 Recorded an Recorded an In progress
intensity of water increase increase
consumption by
3% by 2027
Fiok & 20275 MK E 20225 SRA A AT
I 13%

To achieve the goals of environmental protection

and reduction of its production costs, the Group has

placed the following energy and water conservation

measures in the production plants and the office:

1. Adjusted the central air-conditioning control

system to reduce electricity consumption.

2. Electricity-saving fluorescent tubes are installed

to save energy and reduce energy consumption.
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Stipulating employees to turn off the lights and
air-conditioning system after office or when not

in use.

Encourages employees to use electricity or hybrid
motor vehicles and provides facilities whenever

possible.

Utilising materials that facilitate clean
production environment to effectively reduce the

consumption of detergents and running water.

Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by slogan or poster

in office.

Using electronic document processing system to

minimise the use of paper.

Encouraging printing or photocopying on both
sides of paper, where applicable.

BN~ e RGN
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Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental
issues through education and enlists employees’
support in improving the Group’s performance,
promotes environmental awareness amongst the
customers, business partners and shareholders,
supports community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability, and
evaluates and monitors regularly the impact of
past and present business activities impacting
upon health, safety and environmental matters.
With the integration of policies and impacts of the
Group’s activities on the environment and natural
resources mentioned in the aforesaid sections headed
“Emissions” and “Use of Resources” of this ESG
Report, the Group strives to minimise the impacts to
the environment and natural resources. The operation
of the Group does not constitute any material adverse
effects on the environmental and natural resources.
The Group promotes green office to raise the
environmental protection awareness of the employees
and implements the following measures to achieve our

goal:

(i) Encouraging employees to treasure food and

reduce food wastes;

(i) Staff canteen provides healthy meal with
less oil and salt to encourage our employees
to pay attention to healthy diet and reduce

consumption;

(iii) The Group strives to facilitate paperless office
with more frequent use of electronic forms,

electronic photo picking system and recycled

papers;
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(iv) The Group compares the utility expenses each
month to look for ways to reduce the impact on

natural resources and environment; and

(v) Incorporate the green concept when designing
the production plants and the Perfect Group
Jewellery Industry Park.

Sustainability Services

The Group focuses on mitigating significant
sustainability impacts such as energy and water
consumption, waste generation, and indoor
environmental quality. The Group is committed
to sustainability by implementing energy-efficient
measures, promoting water conservation practices
and facilitating recycling programs. For our property
management services, the Group actively promotes
eco-friendly practices among tenants and maintain
high standards for indoor air quality to enhance
occupant health. By fostering a collaborative
relationship with tenants, the Group aims to

contribute positively to environmental preservation

and public health.

BN~ e RGN
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Climate Change

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather
and has a major impact on business operations.
Therefore, the Group has formulated working
mechanisms and contingency plan to identify, prevent
and mitigate climate change issues that may have a
significant impact. A list of potential climate-related
risks and opportunities pertinent to our business
operations has been identified. The Group’s
management and operating departments identify
material risks via self-assessment questionnaires
annually. Regarding the material risks identified, the
Group organizes and develops prevention and control
measures. The operating departments would then
organize the supervision of material risks prevention
and control, and report the material risks to the
management. Relevant operating departments arrange
the implementation of the material risks prevention
and control measures, continuously monitor the
implementation, and timely report the progress or any
issues encountered to the management. At the same
time, we would adjust the use of resources and energy.
In response to disasters and accidents that are easily
induced by extreme weather, we always enhance the

capability to the disaster response.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as
typhoons, heavy rain, thunder and lightning and
flooding that can cause physical acute risk. The
potential consequences include damage to documents,
material, equipment, buildings and even employees’
health and life. The above potential consequences
could possibly cause economic losses and increase

operating costs to the Group.
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The Group has established different measures as AL E LT AR > LA Ik
below to prevent and minimise the negative effect of T U ik g R S 1Y) BT R 2

extreme weather.

Physical Acute Risk
ST B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i 3 K 5 T8 i A 4% A% 5 i
Typhoons — Close doors and windows with advance notice
— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or covered with a
tarp
— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away
— Adoption of Photovoltaic (“PV”) modules and auxiliary materials with of PV
power plants to respond to extreme weather higher protection performance to
improve the ability
B Ja — Y B PR

Heavy rain and Flooding

T ALK

Thunder and lightning

Y
&

— RN A B B RS R L 2 > SURLP KA 3

— I AT A OE Y A

— BRREAR (D AR 1) A0 el B A1 R > 68 AR 78 ol B A 38 i i KR
95 B R - SR R B RE

— Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked

— Check that all windows and doors are shut as securely as possible

— Maintain drainage equipment

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be washed away

— Collect and analyse historical data for site selection of new PV power plants
through horizontal comparison of power generation performance of different
PV power plants projects in different regions

— Improve the power generation efficiency of PV power plants through efficient
operation and maintenance to partially offset the impact of persistent rainy
weather

— Install flood protection facilities

— ¥ IR N R PR KR A

— WA A PR AT RE % A B PR

— A DR K R A

— o1 AT RE b A R R A A

— A R ) LA [ M A TR O AR R i TE B B R R A o R A BT
5 BRI RS B o O AK R ik A 3 ik

— R R B R A R R O R T il 1 TR A > DANR ) KB AR R
BN 2

— RN BRI

— Keep good conditions of earthing devices

— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

— Equip the PV power plants with lightning protection systems, including
lightning rods, conductors, and grounding systems

— RIS BN R IR E

— PR B TR A7 BUPR I B PH B

— BOCREWE AR E RS CFBES RN RR
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as
extremely hot weather can cause physical chronic
risk. The potential consequences include an increased
chance of getting heatstroke for employees working
outdoor or in the workshop, increasing turnover rate
and work-related injuries. The demand for cooling
for the working environment will be increased,
which may lead to an increase in power demand and

operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as
below to prevent and minimise the negative effect of

extreme weather.

B RS P B

7 AR Tk i i K SR o 91 I AR
SCF] AE A ECE AR M R By o T TE AR
R E A F AP TR R T
hEMEE > WK EM TG .
TARBR B & M A &Ko a3 > 8
ATREE BN E R OR A
S A SN

A G H O E DL 2 R o LA IR
S S PN RN

Physical Chronic Risk
08 B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i 35 K SR T By A 8% i 5
Extremely hot weather — Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

=

EEE P THEF®

=i
|

— HEAR SRR (U
— B R2UPFER ML K

Transitional Risks

The Group has identified climate-related transitional
risks and opportunities such as advancement of
low-emission technologies, carbon pricing and
new developments and taxation. The advancement
on lower emission technologies may contribute to
expenditure in researching in and developing new
low-carbon technologies. Also, the latest development
of carbon pricing and taxation in geographies we

operate in may lead to rise in operational costs.

110 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5] [5 B2 1B A5 FRZA 7]
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The Group has established different measures as AL B 2 IR AS [A] 4E E  DAFE B
below to prevent and minimise the negative effect of ol B P D TR B ) BT B o

transitional risks.

Transitional Risk

8 U A B
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
SR 16 R D B T Bl A0 8% f% 1 i
Technology risk

Advancement of low-emission technologies

3 1 /8 B8
AR HE i H5 il 9 2 25

Policy risk
Development of carbon pricing and

taxation

3R B
e 7E 8 K2 B i i B

Market risk
Increasing customers’ focus on climate-
related risks and opportunities can

impact preferences

i 53 & B
380 & 5 S8 SR A B DL B e B A R B
A BE B W B 0T

Planned to invest in the innovations of energy saving products
Examined the feasibility and benefits of applying the latest low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies into our operation

B A5 AR AR E
A RO AR R D B A A 07 B DI T AP 284 10 R AT PR I i R

Monitor the updates of the local policies and relevant environmental
laws and regulations against existing products and services, to

avoid the unnecessary increase in cost and expenditure due to non-
compliance

Planned to conduct a carbon footprint survey, in order to work out

the Company’s footprint, to prioritise energy and waste reductions

BB i B MBS o B 0 M R A B BR Rk R B R - A
G TR S AT 25 IO 6 Y AR B B S 4
A B AT WL B A A DURE AR ) BB o 8 S A R

Fulfill the climate-related regulations by the government
Prioritize climate change as decision making criteria to demonstrate

that the Company is concerned about the issues of climate change

AT BT A7 TR SRR 1Y B
0 51 75 T SR SR AL AR DR SR I DU ) A 2 ) 3 S0 5 AL )
Y B 1
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Transitional Risk

08 % e
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
R Tk AT A e e T By A 5% i 45 it
Reputation risk
Reputation is negatively affected due — Fulfill the social responsibility by organizing public events to show
to stakeholder concerns, negative how our Group placing importance on climate change
feedback, and press coverage regarding — Review the business projects to ensure the production and the projects
our Group’s climate change impacts are environmental-friendly

BRI K
W R EEA LR RAEZLLEEN — BOAERME ASAKED R AEEE REELERN T
wE - AWKBLATRE BEY X

% 3 AT 8 — MR R ERERYARR
Climate-related Opportunities SR M A ] 1Y 15 2%
In order to promote the realisation of the dual carbon B B) B B SR B AR > R K ) SR
goal, the PRC strongly supports the development of AP A RE VR B RE o MEEh A — D AL e
renewable energy and promotes further optimisation U5 45 o [ IRF > o B R R A A ) E 3
of energy structure. At the same time, the PRC is also K ik s Y 05 R SRAL R B o UM
actively promoting low-carbon transformation of the Ko P 4k 6% 1 (B 15 6 RE¥ %)
industry and improving the level of electrification. 1) 7 oK A R o B A 4 E R OB AR
Therefore, end-users’ demand for green electricity, BEREHMS > KmEEEH KOS
including photovoltaic power, increased rapidly. N BRI EE R R AT S B 4k E
For the Group’s PV power generation business, end 7 ok H 4 3 R > FRH A AE R AR F5 A 42
consumers’ recognition of environmental value of FIEH A B FFE B e

green electricity and the increasing demand for green
electricity are expected to continuously enhance the
revenue and continuous cash flow of the projects in

the future.
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Climate-related opportunities description Possible Impact

SR 05% T T 1 e 2 Mt I RE Y B

—Use of lower-emission sources of energy — Return on investment in low-emission technology increases

—Utilizing supportive policy incentives — Investment in renewable energy is critical to lowering GHG emissions in our
—Adoption of new technologies value chain, which may reduce operating costs in the long run

—Shift towards decentralized energy

generation

— i A ik i 9 — AR AT B [

— M S A SR — BEAHERBHROHEEME IR EREEAOTSZ2RER &

— R R Al T AT RE & B A

— I 7 S R R

—Access to new markets — Revenue increases through access to new and emerging markets

—HE A — A A A KT 35 R i A5 i A

—Participation in renewable energy — Market valuation increases through resilience planning (the proactive
programmes and adoption of energy- measures taken by the Group to mitigate potential risks and challenges),
efficiency measures such as planning of the research in the use of electric vehicles to achieve cost

—Resource substitution or diversification savings and environmental sustainability

— Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate under various condition
increase
— Revenue increases through new products and services
—Z BRI E KR RE RS i — A TR R O A A % B A R B B Uk BRI BR Y R R RS ) £
—RER B Rk 2Tl i T 35 A B G0 B ST R RO > DL B R A B A R R T
R
— R B T A A T DT R A R T 4R
— T R MRS B e A

—Growing demand of investors and financial — Introducing green finance and diversifying our financing sources to access
institutions for green and low-carbon capital, enhance reputation and gain a competitive advantage
finance and investment

—BEER MR OMMR SR L — FIAKOSRH > FRERIEZ0L - DUEREAR - 5 E R U
BEN TR R TR B

Developing Green Energy R0 FE I

The Group continues to invest in shifting to a more A B2 ] A AN BT AR A L AR B AR e BF
resource-efficient and greener manufacturing system J5 T A T B o A R R R
by constantly advancing its innovative technology in T HERMAMRE RS - RKE R
energy-saving and emissions reduction. In addition Yy 3 EB LAS > A5 BN e SO0 AR R
to the jewellery and property businesses, the Group BAERE R R R o

engaged in the construction and operation of
photovoltaic power generation and energy storage

system.
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PV power generation is a technology that harnesses
solar energy and converts it into electricity, offering
extensive environmental benefits and social
significance. Currently, many countries heavily rely on
fossil fuels as their primary energy source, resulting in
substantial energy consumption and carbon emissions.
However, the solar energy is a kind of inexhaustible
clean and renewable energy with unique advantages
and huge development potentials. The development
of solar energy resources not only comply with the
national policies on the environmental protect ion and
energy conservation, but also contribute to reducing
the emission of greenhouse gas (such as carbon
dioxide), and thus mitigate the greenhouse effect and
global warming and provide a green and eco-friendly
living environment, creating better living conditions
for the public. Conventional fossil fuel power plants
pose significant pollution challenges, with issues
such as smoke, exhaust gases, and noise negatively
impacting the surrounding environment and human
health. In contrast, PV power generation harnesses
solar energy, effectively safeguarding the environment
and minimizing environmental degradation.
Furthermore, it enhances energy security by reducing
reliance on scarce and unstable fossil fuels while also

decreasing the need for imported petroleum.

PV power generation can promote sustainable
development. It involves multiple stages such as
photovoltaic silicon, batteries, modules, inverters and
installation. Its supply chain and employment capacity
are highly formidable. Moreover, it enhances energy
supply flexibility by empowering the generation
of green electricity through solar panels, enabling
end-users to achieve sustainable production and

lifestyles.
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Climate change has had a major impact on the world,
and PV power generation is an important way to
realise energy transition, move towards low-carbon
life, enhance the ability to deal with climate change
and change the survival crisis brought about by
climate change. The projects of the Group supply
approximately 9.8 million (2023: 3.6 million) units
of green electricity in 2024. Compared with the use
of traditional thermal power, it can save 3,000 tonnes
of standard coal and reduce 6,000 tonnes of carbon
dioxide emissions, which is equivalent to planting
1,540,000 trees. The economic benefits brought by
investment, construction and operation of PV power
generation projects to local community are not limited
to fixed asset investment, tax contributions and more

job opportunities.

A Win-win Development Model of PV Power Plants

Continuously increase the installed capacity of PV
power plants to achieve continuous growth in annual
carbon reduction. Insist on building environmentally
friendly PV power plants. During development and
construction, social benefits are placed in the same or
more important position than economic benefits, in a
bid to maximise the social and economic benefits of

PV power generation projects.

Ecological Impacts of PV Power Project Development

The Group is committed to sustainability through
our PV power generation project. Successful
development may be contingent on securing land
rights, site permits, government approvals, and
engaging with local stakeholders, while navigating
potential challenges like local laws and community
concerns over use of land and resources. The Group
prioritize transparent communication and thorough
assessments to mitigate risks and ensure mutual
benefits, aiming to harmoniously integrate renewable
energy solutions while supporting both our goals and

broader community sustainability objectives.

BN~ e RGN

st B R EATERNER M
AR 5% R TR U R 7 e KR
AL TE MR R S SR S AL BE ) B g
SR 5 AL A 00 A A S p 1Y) B BB AR o
R20244F > A< 4 [ 15 H Ik fE 4% 0 )
#19.8F & FE (20234F : 3.60 & ) o Bl
i {8 475 K 7B MR EE - HC AT 0 493,000 MR
HEHE R S e 26,000 ME AR AL B BE L
AH E A AR HE 1,540,000 48 18 - ek 85
THHMBE ~ e KOs A Al R
7 BRI S8 A A AS A4 PR [ A AR
T B EREEZN R ERE -

b 1k # 3if HE i 2 R

A R AR T O R BB AR
VUE BUAF Bk B 1 F5 0 R - Ol BR
2 BCIR AR RO E W o fE B B R
AR R AL AR R B AR A 4
S5 [F) B S 2y OB A AL > 1SRG AR
ERENEROE R N R IR RN E TR e SN A

btk 5% 7 A H B 7 19 F i 7 B

A4 B B R B O AR B R IE H HEE)
A FE A EE R o TH H By A 2 B 3% T fE

JEU AR M T RE 5 M FE T L
JRF A o B BELE b A 55 AH BE A A9 A A1E
[F] iRy 18 B¢ AT AE B Bk B o o ek A
A T3S b R YR T A BT o AR
V5 51 7% 4925 WD % 2 A e T ) T A
DA Jal g Sl e R B T HOR > B AE A
Al B S T T AR RE VR AR P07 & [l IRF S
£ B AM {9 H R B B Iz 00 A AT A
BREARE -
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Development of Energy Storage Business

The Group provides advanced energy storage
solutions that comply with energy storage policies
of PRC, enabling the enterprises to optimize power
management through gird peak and frequency
regulation, emergency backup and energy storage
capacity services. The energy storage projects support
environmental sustainability by reducing carbon
emissions through efficient energy utilization,
enhancing grid stability, and facilitating renewable

energy integration.

Social
Employment and labour Practices

In order to create a united and harmonious
professional team, the Group provides the employees
a fair working environment, and enhance their
knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work
and thereby their work efficiency.

Employment

To retain talents, the Group develops and provides
incentives to its employees based on their performance
and productivity. In terms of recruitment, promotion,
remuneration, working hours, leaves and benefits, the
Group ensures the conditions of which are competitive
and in compliance with relevant laws. The Group also
provides Share Option Scheme to give incentive to

staff to share the growth of the Group.

The Group pursues equal opportunities in terms
of recruitment policy. The Group also ensures the
fairness of process without any violation of the
local laws and regulations such as Sex, Disability,
Family Status and Race Discrimination Ordinances,
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).
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The Group focuses on investing in talents and
offering a promising career path. Thus, internal
redesignation and promotion of potential employees
will be first considered to fill any vacancies within the
Group. Promotion criteria are based on various factors
such as employees’ working performance, leadership

and cooperation.

The Group ensures the employees’ remuneration
be competitive in the labour market. Moreover,
in assessing the rate of annual salary adjustment,
the Group takes into account the annual financial
results, make reference to the economic environment,
inflation, salary trends and industry salary reference,
and base on appraisal reports and work performance

of the employees to make revision.

The Group ensures that the requirements of relevant
laws and guidelines have been complied with. The
Group participated retirement benefits scheme in
Hong Kong and PRC such as Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Pension insurance system* (EEMHR
B i &) in PRC. Besides, the Group strictly complies
with national and local government regulations,
including but not limited to the Labor Law of the
PRC* (% N R 4L A2 55 B #5), the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC* (H' # A [ 3 il [ 5t 2%
f % 1£), the Labor Contract Law of the PRC* (Ff
# N\ R LB 55 #) & W %) and the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group also provides its employees with a quality
working environment. A spacious staff canteen and
floor lounge in the office building are available for
the employees to use. The Group organises staff
buffet and dinner from time to time and distributes

gifts to employees at festivals.

For identification purpose only
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During the Reporting Year, the Group strictly A R A BE A > A 4R [E i A% B SF s
complied with labour laws and relevant regulations of T 4 5% B VR B AR B R B - Sl R W AT
the PRC and Hong Kong, and had not been involved fa] 36 A< 48 [ 4 A OK Y B A B
in any event of breach of laws and regulations P K AR - AR I E T LR
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment IRE R~ P45 He - RO R HoAth
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal A ) ) 8 2 LA o

opportunity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits

and welfare, which had a significant impact on the

Group.
As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed BOAE 2024412 H31H > A& 4 EH 4
approximately 133 (2023: 159) full-time employees. 13344 (20234F 1 1594%) 2 Wk (B B - 4%
The total number of employees classified by gender, PRI~ R RE ~ 4F 65 A Al K b PR [ S
function, age group and geographic region are as R B ARSI
follows:
Total number of employees by gender: i VE A ) 4 1 R B AR
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
Male X 54 66
Female Egds 79 93
Total At 133 159
Total number of employees by function: i Bk e & 4> 19 B B AR 8
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
Directorate and managerial staff —# L& H A 8 38 40
Clerical employees AR B 95 119
Total Bt 133 159
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Total number of employees by age group:

BN~ e RGN

Fe A i AL ) 3 ) R B A

2024 2023

20244 20234F

18 to 30 18 % 305% 46 56
31 to 50 31 E 50 65 75
Over 50 505 LA I 22 28
Total M 133 159

Total number of employees by geographic region: e b 3 [ dak ) o 09 1R B AR R

2024 2023

20244 20234F

Hong Kong i 33 34
PRC H 100 125
Total M 133 159

The employee turnover rate during the Reporting

Year and the corresponding year in 2023 by gender,

age group and geographical region are as follows:

The employee turnover rate by gender:

S KM ME B920234F > T
P~ A AE R K Hb B I S B 4 0 0R B

TR AT

i 10153 1 L0 2

2024 2023

20244F 20234F

Male B 20.00% 7.58%
Female B 16.28% 1.13%
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The employee turnover rate by age group:

e B 400 L0 53 0 1 L 2 5

2024 2023

20244 20234

18 to 30 18 % 305% 19.61% —
31 to 50 31850 14.29% 2.68%
Over 50 S05% L b 24.00% 13.33%

The employee turnover rate by geographical region:

e S 16 3 1 5 10 0 1 0% % %

2024 2023
20244 20234F
Hong Kong s 2.99% 5.97%
PRC H B 22.22% 3.31%
Note: B 5E
1. Turnover rate for employees in the relevant categories = 1. AR B B AR B e B = (R E IR B

(Number of employees leave in the specified category/
Average number of total employees in the specified category
at the beginning and the end of the Reporting Year) X
100%.

2. The increase in turnover rate is attributed to the disposal
of the Group’s subsidiary, Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management Led.* (LU 7 32 56 FE 49 3£ 457 B A IR A #))
in April 2024, and the dissolution of the showroom staff at
Perfect Jewellery (China) Co. Limited* (ff # 2k ()
£ B2 7)) during the Reporting Year.

In respect of dismissal policy, the Group offers those
underperforming employees or those who make
general mistakes a chance to improve. Should the
employee not make considerable improvement within
a reasonable time, the Group then considers to dismiss
them and handle it in accordance with the labour

laws and regulation in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with relevant labour laws and

regulations during the Reporting Year.

For identification purpose only
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Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide the employees with a
safe and harmonious working condition. The Group
provides suitable training to the employees whenever
possible. The staff are also provided with pay leave
whenever they attend suitable courses to upgrade
their work ability and performance. The Group is
always taking steps to advance the health and safety
of its employees and comply with relevant regulatory
requirements in all regions in which it operates,
including the Production Safety Law of the PRC* (!
3N R LA % 2 A £ 3E), the Law of the PRC
on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases* ("7 A B 3L A0 B Bk 2 95 B 16 7%), che
Fire Control Law of the PRC* ( ¥ 3 A K 3t A1
1H Bj ¥ ) and Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), as well as the latest safety procedures

and guidelines.

The Group has appointed a staff who is responsible
for the promotion, training, supervision and
management of occupational health and safety to

enhance the employees’ occupational safety awareness.

During the Reporting Year, there was 1 work-related
injury (2023: 1; 2022: 2) with 6 lost days (2023: 14;
2022: 19) due to work injury. The Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that would have any significant
impact on the Group. Our Group did not have any
incidents of work-related fatalities for the latest 3

financial years including the Reporting Year.

For identification purpose only
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Development and Training

The Group provides employees at all levels with all
around technical training, to ensure the employees
proactively equip themselves with skills and thus
attain outstanding performance. The Group also
provides the employees with relevant courses and
seminars to enable them to grasp the work-related
knowledge, skills and attitude to keep abreast of the

latest trend.
The training activities include:

(i) organise training courses and seminars on a

regular basis for the employees to attend;

(ii) distribute training materials on a regular basis to

the employees for them to review;

(iif) arrange external professional training courses for

the employees to attend.

51.1% (2023: 50.9%) in terms of number of staff had
received formal training course during the Reporting
Year. The rest were provided with reading materials,
business update related notes, circulation of study
materials etc., to enhance their knowledge. Of this
51.1% (2023: 50.9%), 44.1% (2023: 40.7%) were
senior management and the rest of 55.9% (2023:
59.3%) were other employees. 41.2% (2023: 45.7%)
of this 51.1% (2023: 50.9%) were male and 58.8%
(2023: 54.3%) were female.
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Training sessions and context of training were
provided to staff varied on the needs of the staff
and varied to each staff based on the relevancy and
needs of the operation. On average, they received
9.4 hours (2023: 9.7 hours) of training. On average,
9.0 hours (2023: 10.6 hours) and 9.7 hours (2023:
9.1 hours) of formal training course were received
by male and female staff respectively. Senior staff
received approximately 10.1 hours (2023: 15.4 hours)
of formal training while the other employees received
approximately 9.1 hours (2023: 7.8 hours) of formal
training. Staff are provided with training sessions
based on the needs of the job to keep current with

policies, procedures, and knowledge.

Labour Standards

The Group has formulated policies to ensure all
employees and job applicants are entitled to fair
opportunity and treatment. The Group strives to
comply with the local laws and regulation throughout
the recruitment and employment process. The
Group prohibits any employment of child labour
under certain laws including the Law of the PRC
on the Protection of Minors* (7 % A R 3t A1
K A N AR ## 32), Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour* (%% IF fif f # T. ¥ & ),
the Employment of Children Regulations (Chapter
57B of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Employment
of Young Persons (Industry) Regulations (Chapter
57C of the Laws of Hong Kong). The human
resources department in each location is instructed
to inspect the identity of the applicants to ensure any
employment of child labour. The Group has a clear
staff manual to prohibit forced labour and ensure
legal and volunteer employment of all employees.
If any violation is discovered, it will handle it in a
serious manner, depending on the actual situation, it
will be handled in accordance with national and local

laws and regulations.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with relevant labour
laws and regulations that would have any significant

impact on the Group.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The principal business of the Group is in the design
and manufacturing of high-end jewellery and
therefore precious metals are the major resources
consumed by the Group. Our major suppliers are
suppliers of raw materials, in particular, diamonds
and gold. Significant portion of raw materials and
processing materials (in term of dollar value) are
sourced in Hong Kong and these suppliers sources

their products through PRC.

The Group pays much attention to the suppliers.
During supplier selection process, it takes into
account the price, stability of goods as well as
reputation. Afterwards, the department head and
management head will review and approve in order
to ensure the procured equipment and raw materials
come with good quality at reasonable price. For
the jewellery business, in order to ensure that the
diamonds we purchase are legitimate and come from
suppliers who are in compliance with the Kimberley
Process, our administrative department carries out
periodic reviews of diamond purchase invoices on
which the suppliers undertake the legitimacy of the
supplied diamonds.
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Regarding the installation projects for PV power
plants and energy storage systems, the Group
manages its procurement and supply chain through
a standardized bidding process. The Group conducts
the selection of suppliers and subcontractors and risk
management in an orderly manner. Set out rating
items of suppliers and subcontractors, covering their
experience and past performance, management
systems, environmental and occupational health
and safety awareness, etc. Additionally, the Group
specifies appropriate requirements to monitor
relevant responsibilities and obligations, and stipulate
the compliance with related environmental and
occupational safety regulations for all services,
products and materials supplied.

Apart from product quality, price and delivery time,
we evaluate if the suppliers consider the environmental
and social criteria including the prohibition on the
recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating
discrimination to employees, providing a safe working
environment, considering if the products provided are
beneficial to environmental protection and fulfilling
the Group’s internal environmental requirement
while minimizing the negative impact to natural
environment, and strictly obeying the law. We also
conduct annual evaluations on our suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group also reviews the quality
of stock or materials with sophisticated machines
from time to time. The selection and monitoring
mechanisms are applicable to all suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group attaches great importance
to the environmental and social risks within its supply
chain. The Group regularly reviews the updates of
policies and laws related to the supply chain, and
communicates with internal and external stakeholders
to understand and identify potential environmental
and social risks within its supply chain. With
the above assessment processes, the Group can
minimise potential environmental and social risks of
supply chain. During the Reporting Year, there are
approximately 33 (2023: 20) and 3 (2023: 5) major
suppliers and subcontractors from Hong Kong and
PRC respectively.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group is not aware of
any major suppliers that had any significant impact
on business ethics, environmental protection, human
rights and labour practices, nor did any of them have
any material non-compliances in respect of human

rights issues.

Product Responsibility
Quality Control

Due to the nature of our products, the Group seldom
subjects to recall for safety and health reasons. The
Group always review the quality of the stock with
sophisticated machines from time to time, before,

during and after the production.

Generally, products sold can only be returned if our
products are defective or do not meet our customers’
specification. In general, if our customers request
for sales returns within a week upon receipt of the
products, the products will be delivered back to us.
Our quality control team will check on the quality of
the products and confirm if the returned products are

defective or fail to meet customers’ specifications.

Besides, the Group strictly abides by the Contract
Law of the PRC* (' #E AN R A1 H & [F] %), the
Construction Law of the PRC* (*p 3 A R L 1 ]
48 5) and other relevant laws and regulations in the
process of PV power plants and energy storage systems
installation projects. To ensure project quality, the
Group continuously monitors the quality of its
projects, appoints designated inspectors to carry out
detection in each phase of our works and formulates
rectification plans to make relevant rectifications in
case of any problems, in order to guarantee the project

quality can satisfy relevant requirements.
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The Group has team of management, including the
sales director, to look after the complaints received
and in case the Group received any complaints, the
Group targets to resolve the issues with customers
within the shortest possible time. During the
Reporting Year, the Group did not receive any
material service-related complaints and there are
significant no cases of product recalls for safety and

health reasons.

Intellectual Property Protection and Data Protection
and Privacy

The Group understands the importance of intellectual
property and makes every effort to safeguard and
protect the intellectual property. By the same token,
the Group places much emphasis on the infringement
of other intellectual property rights. During the
Reporting Year, the Group had not been subject to

any material claim in this matter.

We generally own the intellectual property rights in
the design that we create except for designs provided
by our customers and adopted by us. To protect our
intellectual property rights, our designers are required
to sign an agreement to acknowledge that the designs
produced by them during their employment are the
intellectual properties of our Group. For designs
which are based on our recurring customers’ specific
raw design ideas, as an attempt to protect our
recurring customers’ interest, we typically restrain
from producing the same jewellery product for any

other customers or for our sales to general customers.

BN~ e RGN

A A — R A
B B DL BR A 4 R AR o i A 4 E
ST AT £ 5 - A< 4 18 B AR A 3% AT Be DA
o B R ] 4 %% 5 fR U ) RE o A SR AR
BEA > 7 52 1B MK 8 i 24T o] A BE IR 5
RN ) N N =2 e S & 9 R ]
MK EE R E & -

il il 7 AR A~ R AR R E

A ORI R B R
PR B Do DR e Al EEE o TR B > AR B
— B E A A A E R AT R o
ol BN A S BI04 A L Ol % AT
TR RMHE -

B 70 5 B ARSIl AT R A 0 B LA
T — i B AT B Rh O Mk EE o B
PR e AT B0 R e E > R AP A R A
TR 3 i ik o DO S A 2 MR 39 1R A
PR B 5 Rt A 4R 11 0% 0 il 2 HE o il AR
1B R IR E R R R0 A A Y BT T
FoBREEERES > BN RA
B /AT ] A % 5 R A ] 2R BT
BT RER -

2024 Annual Report “FEHE 127



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

The Group keeps reminding the employees of and
emphasizing the importance of safeguarding the
security of personal data. When collecting and
processing such data, the Group will comply with the
local laws, regulation and guidelines to protect the
privacy. The Group also has measures designated to
prevent unauthorised access to personal data such as

password and code.

The Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Product Quality Law
of the PRC* ("3 A 3L A 7 it B 8 1K), the
Trademark Law of the PRC* (+ 3 A B 2L Al B p4
BE%), the Advertising Law of the PRC* G PN
RN B JE 45 15, the Cybersecurity Law of the PRC*
(PN R ILANR A B %2 215, the Sale of Goods
Ordinance (Cap 26 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap 362 of Laws of
Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong Kong) and the
Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap 559 of the laws of
Hong Kong), that have a significant impact relating
to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters regard to products and services provided by

the Group during the Reporting Year.
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Anti-corruption

The Group recognises the importance of the
ethical conducts and integrity of each director
and all employees in order to maintain a fair,
honest and integrity-based business environment.
Hence, we strictly adhere to all the applicable laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC* (71 # A [&
LA Pk 88 1), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law
of the PRC* ("F #E A B H Al B L A IE 8 31 57 3%),
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), and the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
The Group has formulated a clear code of conduct
in respect of the prevention of bribery, employees’
interests, conflicts of interest, prevention of extortion
and fraud in the employee handbook. Besides, the
Group has an anti-bribery policy in place to further
provide clear guidelines in respect of anti-bribery and
maintaining honesty and integrity. Such policy applies
to all directors and employees of the Group, together
with the agents acting on behalf of the Group. The
Group reminds the employees by internal notice to
avoid bribery and acceptance of advantages as and
when appropriate. During the Reporting Year, the
Group organised online trainings on anti-corruption
for directors and staff as well as distributed relevant
training materials for their learning and reading,
in order to strengthen the relevant management on
the prevention, implementation and oversight of
anticorruption measures in the Group. Furthermore,
the Group encourages its employees to report any
suspected corruption, bribery or misconducts through
the whistle-blowing mechanism established by the
Group. Such reports are kept confidential and the
Group has established a procedure to protect the

whistleblowers from unfair treatment.
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During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that would have any significant
impact on the Group, nor any corruption litigation

against the Group or its employees.

Community
Community Investment

The Group participates in and promotes various
community and volunteer activities for helping
the needy in the society, promoting environmental
awareness, fostering and facilitating industry
development, with an aim to contribute to the society
and fulfill our corporate social responsibility. During
the Reporting Year, the Group donated a total sum
of approximately HK$36,800 (2023: HK$27,000)
to Shunde Lunjiao Charity Association* (e 75 A
# 7% % &), which was aimed at supporting the
development of the jewellery industry in Lunjiao and
the organization of Respect and Comfort Event for
the Elderly* (4 & 7 fi 1% #)). Health, social culture
and social welfare will be the focus areas of our

community investment strategy.

The Group also encouraged staff to participate in
the other industry-related charity or social welfare
activities by providing monetary sponsorship or pay

leave to staff.
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REFERENCES TO THE ESG BRE - g hkEmkERIIRY
REPORTING GUIDE
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FERE - I - — B bk EE KB AR % Hg

A. Environmental

A BRE
Aspect Al: Emissions
JEHAL: Bk
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions 94-95 »
97-98
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— ik Bk % A AR U E R R K K R
MRS - AHEREEREFEYNEESERN:
(@ B K
(b) ESFHEEAT NA K B A B E
1 B #i A1
R -
KPI Al1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Emissions 95
data.
B SRR BEALL PE 0w TR S K AR B B s B PETs Y
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope Emissions 96

2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
EEERNE ~ FE I — R K B AR AR N Ve s H
KPI Al1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Emissions 97

appropriate, intensity.

PR s R ALS FrEE AR EEEYAE (B %E - Ry
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, Emissions 97

where appropriate, intensity.

B o B IR AL BB MEE AR R T () W o PR

KPI Al1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Emissions 98-101
taken to achieve them.

B S B R B ALS o Rl LR PE I E EE R AERE L P
H A Fir 5% By 20 B -

KPI Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- Emissions 98-101
hazardous wastes are handled, and a description
of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.

B 8 B iR BEALG WA FREEEREYR I X
2l BT RT SE 0 U RE HRE I A B S H
T B R Ry 25 B o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

JEMmA2: BEIRMEH

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, Use of Resources 102
including energy, water and other raw

materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage,
transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment,

etc.

— Bt % & A BE N E R (S REVR - /K B HoAt I AR & IR
1 B
REc OB UR AR AEE A W BT BT R
% -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by ~ Use of Resources 102

type in total and intensity.
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R .
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of Resources 103
A o AR R A2.2 e KB R - R A
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F R RNE R~ B EE % B A R R R H
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) Use of Resources 103-105
set and steps taken to achieve them.
PR o iR EEA2.3 P TR SR REVRE A s B K Ay E B
F 75 L H AR BT B ) 25 R o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Use of Resources 103-105
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
PR o S R HR EEA2.4 i 7 SR s R K R BT AARIRE - L B
Ko BT T S W R K 3 4 H AR I 2y 1 B s Lt
H B 8% By 25 B o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Use of Resources 103
products and, if applicable, with reference to
per unit produced.
PR o B R HE BEA2.5 BB T L M R AR R (W ) B IR
B ERAMAEE -
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
JEMmA3: BERLKRAEHR
General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant ~ Emissions and Use of 106-107
impact on the environment and natural Resources
resources.
— ik B 9% BWAREAT N R R RREWRERER Py &R
OB BUR o
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of Emissions, Use of 106-107
activities on the environment and natural Resources and The
resources and the actions taken to manage Environment and Natural
them. Resources
B S SRR BEASB.1 P ETIEE MR R RAREWWEKR Pl - B &
WERKCRIUERAE R Y Z2NITE - TR KRN E IR
Aspect A4: Climate Change
JE& A4 2 SR 52 AL
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change 108-116

— % W% 8%

significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
F B NE R - — B EE S B B A R R TR H
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate related ~ Climate Change 108-116
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.
A S B B HE B A4 ik O R KT RE & W AT N E AR B AR
HRREEAHBER > EHITE -
B. Social
B. it &
Employment and Labour Practices
1 10 B 55 1% Bl
Aspect B1: Employment
JEmiB1: 1
General Disclosure Information on: Employment 116-
117 ~ 120
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination and other benefits and
welfare.
— B % g A B I R R E T - TAERRE - (R
B~ FERKE - Z2oufk - REHE D RH
b 75 8 S A A Y
@ B K
(b) ESFE AT A E AT B M B %
&R
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEL - ihE R

Chapter/Disclosure Page

FRERNE - RGO~ — B B B K B S AR AR e H
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type =~ Employment 118-119
(for example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
BH #1317 B B1.1 PR - AT (A SR - AR R
i A1 F) D i [ ) 23 1) R B AR -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group ~ Employment 119-120
and geographical region.
B 3 (% 48 PR B1.2 FeE R - AF B 4RI K b I o i B B 0 O

KA .

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

JE B2+ f# B K A

General Disclosure

— Mk B

KPI B2.1

B o B 45 B B2.1

Information on: Health and Safety 121

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer,

relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

BB b2 A TARER BT AR e g B % (R B &

Wk 2EME fa E Y
@ KK

(b) 3~y B AT A E R B A B ik
E VSR

HY &R o

Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 121

occurred in each of the past three years

including the reporting year.

25 = AF (LA RE AR ) 49 4R I DT Ry f@ R B A

NB R -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FERE R ok Br K B S AR AR T 9% HT
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 121
i 8 45 2% 46 B B2.2 B A7 R A H % e fidt B B 4 2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Health and Safety 121
safety measures adopted, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B #2534 R B2.3 Fil 20 P BR A B0 R S i R B e o DA R B R &
B A B AT B BE 5 OT 3k -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
JEé B3+ %R K& 5
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge Development and 122
and skills for discharging duties at work. Training
Description of training activities.
— M P 9 A B R THE B AT TARR R ARGk S e g g
AE B BUSR o il 2t 55 9105 B
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by Development and 122
gender and employee category (e.g. senior Training
management, middle management).
B B 751 3% 4R B B3.1 kB B g BRI (s s B - P A B R SR
P RE A 3 1 Z IR B A e
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and 123
employee by gender and employee category. Training
bR i 29 % 4% B B3.2 AE R K AR B 3 > B4R AR R K

32wl B4 - 2 Ry B
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEL - ihE R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FRERNE - RGO~ — B B B K B S AR AR e H
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
J& i B4 ¢ 55 TBEAE
General Disclosure Information on: Labour Standards 123-124
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— i P 2 A BB 1k 2 T R g A5 T 5 TR
(@ BUR:K
(b) Sy ¥ AT NA R BN A B %
B AL A5
& K -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 123
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
B %1 30 15 B B4.1 $ih 20 A T A T ) Y B b LA S0 B T N B AR
58 il 95 T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 123
practices when discovered.
Bl 3 4 % 45 PR B4.2 il i e 5% B BUIG DURF I BR A B S DL 55 AR e

PRHCH) 22 B -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page
FERE R ok Br K B S AR AR N Ve s HT
Operating Practices
BIEE
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
J& i BS : fit HE 4 45 B
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain 124-126
risks of the supply chain. Management
— M o R B ) BR O R Ak T B BOK o {3 g4 B
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 125
Management
IR B A 3% 15 B B5.1 $2 o i ) 73 1) {3t R P BOR o A i A 3L
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging ~ Supply Chain 124-125
suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management
practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
PR B A 2% 5 #R B5.2 AT B R A R R o o AT (LR R
A7 Tl 15490 1) 3t 8 P BCE - DA KR B B AT B
L R
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain 125
environmental and social risks along the supply Management
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
IBH B A 3% 45 B B5.3 fil 2t A7 B A A R G ER B A BR BT K R P B
Mg E B AR - DL OHE B AT K B R
Jrik e
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain 125
environmentally preferable products and Management
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
IR B A %% 15 B B5.4 il 200 7 DRCSE {36 8 7 B U2 G BT BROR A A (R

Be B 55 ) A8 00 DL KR BR AT B BT
% e
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

FRERNE - RGO~ — B B B K B S AR AR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BEL - ihE R

Chapter/Disclosure
ES Ve s

Page
Hig

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

JE W B6 : B 3 AL

General Disclosure

— % W% 8%

KPI B6.1

B 3 %1 30 15 #R B6.1

KPI B6.2

BA 8 45 %% 15 #R B6.2

Information on: Product Responsibility

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer,

relating to health and safety, advertising,

labeling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods of
redress.

A TR P B B R R S A RR B2 4~
JE A~ BR R K OFL R R DA B RO i

(55

i

@ BR K

(b) 7 BT A R B A B ik
NN

&R o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
C 8 B X A& SO R % B (g R
o 1 2 1B Ui B 0 B

Number of products and service related

FE il BT

Product Responsibility
complaints received and how they are dealt

with.
PeRE BN E S R RS AR BOE DL R E S EAT
57 -

126-128

127

127
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB A E R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Chapter/Disclosure Page

FERE R ok Br K B S AR AR N Ve s HT

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing ~ Product Responsibility 127
and protecting intellectual property rights.

A B A 2% 15 #2 B6.3 i 70 BELAfE G R (R Rk 7 RE A B A IR o L AT

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and ~ Product Responsibility 126
recall procedures.

bR B A 2% 15 #R B6.4 fi 2t BB A E R R % 7 [ U RE R o 7 i AT

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  Product Responsibility 127-128
privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

bW & A 3% 15 # B6.5 il 2 R R R FARR B > DU EM AT
B AT R BEE T -

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

JEWB7 : REG

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Corruption 129-130

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact

on the issuer,

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
— % bk 2% HEY LG - R - MTE R R RN :
@ BUK; XK
(b) BESF B EEAT ANAT TR B A Bk
2 I B
W) & ko
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

BN~ e RGN

Chapter/Disclosure Page

F R RNE R~ B EE % B A R R R H
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-Corruption 130
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
B B %5 34 BE B7.1 i RE R N B R AT AN B R AR e &S
AW E TS A s RO RBOE iR A R o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and Anti-Corruption 129
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
B o % 3 1R PR B7.2 T e By R A e B ERAR Y o A RAHBA L R &S
17 R B B T7 ¥ o
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training Anti-Corruption 129
provided to directors and staff.
B B %5 34 BEB7.3 it E RN B TRMENREENN - &I
Community
L b

Aspect B8: Community Investment

JE B8 : F I B E

General Disclosure

— % % 8%

KPI BS.1

A S 51 %% 4 B B8.1
KPI B8.2

i 3 %% %% 41 R B8.2

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’
interests.

A B DAL I 22 BB T i A BT AE AL IR R
2 e OR L SE B0 B & B 8 AL I A 25 Y
IR o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).
HEERER(WHE - BEFEHE - 5L
oK~ R Uik - B E) o

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to

the focus area.

T T3 W P U (A B B ) o

Community Investment 130

i £ &

Community Investment 130

1 5 E
Community Investment 130

TS
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Independent Auditor’s Report

3 > A% B e o

M OO R E Moore CPA Limited ﬁ x
1001-1010, North Tower, World Finance Centre, B HE
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road, =
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong 7% =4
B
T +852 2385 3180 5
F +852 2375 3828 e §E
/L}
www.moore.hk a =

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Perfect Group International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 150 to 325, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the

consolidated financial statements of the current period.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Allowances of inventories — finished goods

We identified allowances of inventories
for finished goods as a key audit matter
as the Group had significant amount
of finished goods which are jewellery
products as at the end of the reporting
period. These finished goods may be
subject to impairment due to changes
in selling prices. In determining the
allowance to be made on the finished
goods, management considers the current
market conditions, ageing and conditions
of the finished goods, inventory
realisation plan for slow-moving items,
and estimated selling prices, subsequent
sales of similar products and the valuation
of selected inventory items performed by
an independent valuer.

The Groups finished goods as at
31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$84,737,000 as
disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to allowances of
inventories for finished goods included:

¢ Obtaining an understanding from the
management about their estimation techniques,
significant assumptions adopted, key inputs and
data used in the assessment;

+ Testing the subsequent sales of finished goods
or similar products, if any, on selected finished

goods items;

* Obraining an independent valuation report on
selected items of finished goods and evaluating
the independent external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity as well as comparing
valuer’s results with our own estimation, on a

sample basis;

* Discussing with management and evaluating
the impairment assessment by management on
finished goods with no subsequent sales after the
reporting period, if any; and

¢ Assessing the reasonableness of the estimation
of the net realisable value of finished goods with
reference to the current market conditions, ageing
and conditions of the finished goods, inventory
realisation plan for slow-moving items, and
estimated selling prices, and subsequent sales of
similar products.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matters — continued

Key audit matters
Impairment on properties held for sale

We identified impairment of properties
held for sale as a key audic matter due
o the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statement as a
whole. These properties held for sale may
be subject to impairment due to changes
in selling prices. In determining the
impairment to be made on the properties
held for sale, management considers the
current market conditions, estimated
selling prices, subsequent sales of similar
properties and the valuation of the
properties held for sale performed by an
independent valuer.

The Group’s properties held for sale
as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to approximately HK$299,154,000 as
disclosed in Note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment on

properties held for sale included:

¢ Obraining an understanding from the
management about their estimation technigues,
significant assumptions adopted, key inputs and

data used in the assessment;

o Testing the subsequent sales of similar properties,
if any;

¢ Obraining an independent valuation report on
those properties held for sale and evaluating
the independent external valuer's competence,
capabilities and objectivity as well as comparing
valuer's results with our own estimation, on a

sample basis;

* Discussing with management and evaluating
the impairment assessment by management on
properties held for sale with no subsequent sales
after the reporting period, if any; and

* Assessing the reasonableness of the estimation of
the net realisable value of properties held for sales
with reference to the current market conditions,
estimated selling prices, and subsequent sales of

similar properties.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or

safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements —
continued

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Li Wing Yin

Practising Certificate Number: P05035

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f oy TR i B HL Al 2 i WAL i

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Fi T# o T T
Revenue Wi 45 5 273,492 348,711
Cost of goods sold o A (190,948) (246,507)
Gross profit E A 82,544 102,204
Other income oA e A 6,463 5,272
Other gains and losses, net HoAth U £5 K s 45 1 A (3,221) (2,909)
Impairment losses under expected credit TG B R B
loss model, net L (E s 18 7 48 8 (845) (1,042)
Impairment losses on properties FrfE B 2 TH T 2 WiH
held for sales Jii 18 (26,293) —
Selling and distribution costs B B K 4y B AR (12,639) (13,590)
General and administrative expenses — & B AT BB Z (45,880) (45,580)
Finance costs WA 9 (1,843) (1,061)
Share of result of a joint venture oA — TS A A 59 (35)
(Loss)/profit before income tax % i 75 B BT (s $8) %8 A 10 (1,655) 43,259
Income tax credit/(expense) B8 WAk o, (B8 52) 12 11,514 (9,101)
Profit for the year AF N Yt ) 9,859 34,158
Other comprehensive expense for the year — 4F IR H Ath 4> T BH 3¢
Item that will not be reclassified to profic A% A& & ¥ 7 =
or loss: RasmEE :
Equity instruments at fair value through % 24 V- {8 7 A A 4
other comprehensive income 4 2 B fE LR
— change in fair value — N T {H 8 ) (260) (347)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently % 7] fig & B /3 JH &
to profit or loss: B IEH :
Exchange differences arising on 1 5 A 3 55 IR EE AR Y
translation of foreign operations [ 58, 2= 48 (13,804) (9,676)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

f 7 R A e LAt 2 v Y i R

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE 2024 £ 12 H 31 AIL&EE

2024 2023
20244 20234F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 T 0 T 5T
Other comprehensive expense for the year — 4F A H Ath 4> 18 B 2 (14,064) (10,023)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for — 4F [N 4 [ (B 32) A& St
the year (4,205) 24,135
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: RIS N
(F48) -
Owners of the Company ENUNETE? E DN 9,671 34,364
Non-controlling interests IF HE b 4 188 (2006)
9,859 34,158
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for [ 3] A 1 JRE A A% 4R BE AT
the year attributable to: (B %) /il 4 A%
Owners of the Company AN F AN (4,117) 24,529
Non-controlling interests JE ¥ W RE 45 (88) (394)
(4,205) 24,135
Earnings per share & % 1
— Basic - FEAR 14 HK cents # fill  HK cents i 1l
0.72 2.56
— Diluted — HK cents # il HK cents # 1ll

0.72 2.56
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o W BEIR DL R

At 31 December 2024
2024412 H 31 H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b Fil e e
Non-current assets I B G E
Property, plant and equipment W2 ~ g K B 15 119,170 93,351
Right-of-use assets i I 16 16,242 7,894
Interest in an associate A — T B s A RE 2 17 — —
Interest in a joint venture W — A A R RS 18 236 185
Equity instruments at fair value through i/ /AN o = ) N = N R T g
other comprehensive income fi 2 JOHE TR 19 448 696
Deferred tax assets I 4t Bl JE & = 20 1,369 1,139
137,465 103,265
Current assets i B
Inventories & 21 122,669 140,050
Properties held for sale FEAE B 2 22 299,154 350,459
Trade and other receivables L Gy R H At I8 i 3k E 23 61,819 87,575
Loan receivable from an associate JRE Wir — [ W A % ) A 3K 24 — 7,268
Financial assets at fair value through /N S = N =B RN U
profit or loss % E 25 3,788 6,131
Restricted deposit =2 PR A7 3Kk 26 2,413 _
Bank deposits AT A 27 112,899 66,736
Cash and cash equivalents e kB E&%EHEY 27 44,796 76,041
647,538 734,260
Current liabilities Uit B A fE
Trade and other payables 5 5 B A JRE A 3K TE 28 45,636 56,510
Contract liabilities G # Ak 29 5,129 4,055
Lease liabilities IR 30 3,035 35
Tax payables JRE 40 Bt IH 57,432 76,903
Bank loans M|ATH K 31 31,901 25,029
143,133 162,532
Net current assets LB E I E 504,405 571,728
Total assets less current liabilities W AE WO B Al 641,870 674,993
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BRI

At 31 December 2024

2024 4F 12 A 31 H

2024 2023
20244 20234F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5E Tt T oo
Non-current liabilities I F) A fE
Lease liabilities HE A E 30 6,746 908
Defined benefit plan obligations FLE A A # EAT 34 1,072 898
Deferred tax liabilities I SE BLIH B fE 20 14,534 23,483
22,352 25,289
Net assets % T E 619,518 649,704
Share capital and reserve B AR I A A
Share capital B A 32 4,454 4,470
Reserves Tt A 605,485 638,197
Equity attributable to owners of the A ' HEA N BEAG HE 25
Company 609,939 642,667
Non-controlling interests IE ¥ 1 BE 2 9,579 7,037
Total equity TE 25 AR5 619,518 649,704

The consolidated financial statements on pages 150 to 325 FISOENHZ M B E R ESRE G
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 202543 H24 H #HL 1 Je #2 HE P88 - S R
Directors on 24 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf b FH AR K E

by:

Kan Kin Kwong Chung Chi Keung
A 1 T
Director Director
HE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

Autributable to owners of the Company

KRARENEL
Property Share  Statutory Non-
Share Shate  Special  revaluation  Exchange  options  surplus  Other  Retained controlling
apitl  premium  reserve serve  feserve  feserve  feserve  reserve  profits  Sub-total inerest ~~ Total
S BRE e *ER
Bk RGEE SAME  EERE EARE  BE RBEE LORE REEN A kg &
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000  HKS000 HKS000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 — HK$000 HKS000
Thr Tz TEx  TEx TEx TEx TEx Tz TEx Tz TEx  TEx
(Note (2)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)
(&t ) (RE3E®) (RF3E Q)
At January 203 JSIRESVL 4470 37918 (37,720) 3493 8504 8850 31936 (3811 576084 642705 1047 644752
Profit/(loss) for the year EREH/
(E8) - - - - - - - — M4 34364 (06) 34158
Exchange differences arisingon 4 8 5 90 S5 B
ttanslation of foreign operations 7 A i [E 5
£ - - - - oMy - B - —04) (188 (0676)
Fair value change through other B2 T Z
comprehensive income AFESH - - - - - - - (347) - (347) - (347)
Total comprehensive income/ EhAmELE/
(expense) for the year (%) 4 - - - —(90%) - (394) (347) 34364 24509 (394) 24,135
Acquisition of subsidiaries under % 1 F £
common control A} I - - - - - - ) - 2,5 1,692 3947
Contribution from non-controlling £ ¢ ft & 1 &
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 3,692 3,692
Dividend (Note 13) kA (D) - (682 - - - - —~ —~ — (2682) — (682)
Shate option lapsed and transfer to B 1E % 4 R
retained profit (Note 33) BERAEA
(5331 - - - - - W) — — 4l - - -
Transfer ap - - — - — - 568 - (568) — — —
Ac31 Decenber 2003 ROBEBE 440 106 @) B3 S8 4705 R0 (94 61405 66T T 6o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

LY N 1]
Property Share  Statutory Non-
Share  Share  Special revaluation Exchange options  surplis  Other Retained controlling
capital  premium teserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits Sub-total  interest  Total
hx BRE ¥ Ftib
Bk b EfGHE BARG  BE BREE LURE REGN M L3-S Tj
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n T T#x  T#x  TEx  TEx  TEx TEx  TEx TEx TEx
(Note (b))  (Note (c))
(Wit ®) (W)
Ac 1 January 2024 Ra04E11H 4470 11,09 34935 (17598) 4705 3010 (1914) 614,025 642,667 7037 649,704
Profit/(loss) for the year EREH/
(E5) - - - - === en 188 9859
Exchange differences arising on 48 B 91 S5 0%
translation of foreign operations € % I 5
EH - - - (135%9) - - - - (13509 (276)  (13,804)
Fair value change through other ~ F 2 Hi & 2
comprehensive income ATEES - - - - - - (260) - (260) — (260)
Total comprehensive income Eh2EE/
(expense) for the year (30 4 - - L — (60 91 (4117) (68)  (4205)
Further acquisition of equity E-HUE-H
interest in a subsidiary (i vd e
(Note (4) (k@) - - - - - - b - () 0 (605
Contribution from non-controlling % £ ¢t JE 1% &
shareholders (Note (¢)) (M) - - - - - - — - - 2,205 2,205
Repurchase and cancellaion of BT Ju ik 8t
share (Note (f) (&t @) (16 @7 - - - - - - o - O
Diidend (Not 13) RE (WD) - - -~ - - - (26,788)  (26,788) — (26788
Share option lapsed and transfer o 11 5 R
retained profit (Note 33) LYY
B Pt 33) - - - - W) - — A - - -
Transfer ¥/ - - - - - 145 (145) - - -
At31 December 2024 43 4454 10,199 3,495 (31,126) — 305 (3,084) 601468 609,939 9579 619,518
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Wz

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)
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2024 4F 12 A 31 HIEFFE

Special reserve represents the reserve arising from the business
transfer of the jewellery business of the shareholders by then to the
Group on 26 June 2015 and acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries on 22 October 2019.

In accordance with relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries
are required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation reported
in their statutory financial statements prepared under relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to
enterprises established in the PRC to the statutory surplus reserve
with limit reaching 50% of registered capital.

Since Accounting Guideline 5 (“AG5”), Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combinations, issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants is adopted, the net assets
of the acquired controlling companies are the difference between
the consideration paid and the net book values of the acquirees.
The details of the common control combination are more fully
explained in the announcement named “Connected transaction
in relation to the acquisition of the target company in the PRC”
published by the Company on 24 May 2023. The announcement is
available on the Company’s website and Stock Exchange’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there is a fair
value change of equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income of approximately HK$260,000 (2023:
HK$347,000).

In June 2024, following a further acquisition of the equity interest
of, and injection of paid-up capital in, an indirect non-wholly
owned PRC subsidiary, Guangdong Huijinying Jewellery
Company Limited* (/% HIE 4 2 2R 8 A BR A Al) (“Guangdong
Huijinying”) for a total amount of RMB5,100,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$5,478,000), the Group has increased its
shareholding in this PRC subsidiary from 61% to 74.67%. Such
changes resulted in changes from non-controlling interests and a
change in share of accumulated losses from the non-controlling
interests of total amount of approximately RMB845,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$910,000) was recognised in
the other reserve. The movement of non-controlling interests
of approximately RMB395,000 (equivalent of approximately
HK$405,000) was arising from the acquisition of the equity
interest of Guangdong Huijinying. The Details of the further
acquisition of equity interest and injection of paid-up capital are
included in Note 1.

.

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

A

Ak AR TR 20154E 6 H 26 Bt 8 I i R 2 3k
BT RS R A T A R AR B 2019 4F
1022 H i Jif BiF Jog 2 =1 10 At B 4

AR 45 A N B R (e B ) 4 2E 09 A BR O
WL o o I B R T R i R R A
BapEne Rl - g W NI e FTRIFE
1 E S R PO 2 R 2 R B U R 2 10%
AR RGMAE AR EAFEMEARN
50% 4 1k ©

A O BR A Rl AT & 2 & RS 5
S5t (T8 w6 51 5598 ) [ 3L [ 6 5 0F 1 15 i
TRt Dl E R AR EEFHELC
S AR PR B i T Ty IR 9 R ) Y S e
A B SE 1A A DF YRR TR AR 2 T 2023
S 24 H TR AY 2 A A B I b B E R 2
Z B ZE G ) R AR o %o Ml T R A A
A il e W 5C BT A ol A B -

AR E 20244124310 14 > A CFEFIA
Hih 2wz BETAZ A TFHEEHN S
260,000%5 JT (20234F : 347,000%5 JC) ©

i20244F6H > it LA #R 4 B N R ¥55,100,0000C
(FH i #95,478,0007 JT) #E — 25 g 5 — M 1 32
FEBEFHEMEAFA R RES BEKEARLS
w) (TR RO & 8 )) Y e M Sl e A B R e AR AR
A% 45 BBt LR 5% AP B R 2 A I RE i 1%
BN E74.67% © %% S B E IR R G5 s B
FMEAGEE R i Rt R 2 B EEAOANR
#5845,0007C (FH & 7% £91910,000% JT) it H: i %
5 P Tl RE o I F ABHE 25 48 Bh 49 A R #5395,000 7T
(K & i #1405,00095 J0) 2 I ik B B T 4
B0 T RE o A7 B — A5 i R R B T A B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain non-controlling
shareholders have injected a total amount of RMB2,050,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,225,000) as paid-up capital to

certain non-wholly owned PRC subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
purchased 4,764,000 shares in aggregate of its own shares from
the market. The shares were acquired at prices ranging from
HK$0.178 to HK$0.200, with an average price of HK$0.192 per

share.

The English name of the company established in the PRC
represents management’s translation of the Chinese name of such

company for information purpose only.

oS S UL RS
For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

A 202412 H31H 1L FF > 35 T R R
B T I 28 o B A R A SN R
2,050,0007C (AH 5 A £2,225,000%% 7T) 1 44 2 &
zjg o

A E 2024 F12 A31H 14 > RA AR 5
B E 48 514,764,000 % H B & A o B LAY
“F0.178#5 JC £0.200% JC 1Y 18 A% i 1 > T3
¥ B B 20,1927 IC -

o B S 28 0 S 4 R B B
NPT Ll LR T
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A BlEiiak

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$°000
it 7t i 5
Operating activities BEEH)
(Loss)/profit before income tax W B 15 B R (s 48) /3 1) (1,655) 43,259
Adjustments for: BT EE E i
Share of result of a joint venture i — R G E R EE (59) 35
Changes in fair value of investment properties REWMELTHES — 198
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment YI2E ~ R T R i 5,415 3,264
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ARG EE 1,472 953
Dividend income from financial assets at fair /N R WNE = E N U
value through profit or loss % AT B A (165) (164)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss TG B BT Y
model, net {H 5 185 845 1,042
Impairment losses on properties held for sale F ) 26 100 B B R 26,293 —
Interest income F B A (4,951) (3,246)
Interest expenses BB % 1,843 1,061
Provision for defined benefit plan obligation FIE A A S I AT 4 174 —
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair /N R WNE = U o]
value through profit or loss BEZ N TFHEHES 4,869 1,420
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — [ BB A Rl 2l g (2,827) —
Loss on inventories FERER 1,975 —
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEZEH — 1,586
Written off of property, plant and equipment S P 3~ R e B A 2 —
Written off of other receivables i B L th R i 3K IE 2,783 —
Written back of other payables 985 1] 5 Ay 8 A 300 (1,254) —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment W R E R S
e 47 — 136
Operating cash flows before movements in working BEE S S B e R
capital i 34,760 49,544
Decrease in inventories TEWD 18,442 12,011
Decrease in properties held for sale &Y 3B D 13,710 32,327
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables and B R oAb JRE e B0 A M &
deposits Wb, (K4 m) 17,530 (8,668)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 B oAt JRE A 2k A TR D (6,742) (17,573)
Decrease/(increase) in contract liabilities HRAMERE D () 1,292 (3,343)
Cash generated from operations BENEE £ 78,992 64,298
Tax paid oA B (6,384) (5,085)
Net cash generated from operating activities BEEE IS & TR 72,608 59,213
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HABEeRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BE 2024 4 12 A 31 HIFFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$°000
T T 70
Investing activities % & 1 E)
Placement of bank deposits A7 T BRAT A7 3K (46,163) (3,104)
Placement of restricted deposit 17 32 PR A7 3K (2,413) —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment fi B BB (34,552) (34,845)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value A (/A O [ I WANE = K11
through profit or loss T E R (840) —
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets at AT EEI AR
fair value through profit or loss B & R AR A 4,262 —
Dividend income from financial assets at N TR % E’J W&
fair value through profit or loss 7E FT A I Bl A 165 164
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary A — D B JB 2 ] E A Y
HERAFH 2,397 —
Interest received 2 ik A8 4,951 3,246
Investment in a joint venture AEEBENRE — (228)
Proceeds on disposal of properties held for sale H B R A B ) 2E B A K — 2
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties B BE W 3 T AR AROR — 16,730
Net cash used in investing activities P& E) A 4 (72,193) (18,035)
Financing activities il & V5 By
Dividends paid EENLgs, (26,820) (26,822)
Dividend received from own shares W BLE B B 2 BB 32 —
Capital injection EE — 3,947
Repayment of bank loans 1 9% BRAT B K (24,650) (6,188)
Payments for repurchase of own shares ] & 5 B 1A AT (913) —
Further acquisition of equity interest in a subsidiary e — 25 WS I — [T R Ja 2 )
i (505) —
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (978) (856)
Interest paid EERRPSS (1,843) (1,515)
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders R R E 2,225 3,692
New bank loans raised R AR AT B 31,901 11,013
Net cash used in financing activities HE 5 ) T B 4 (21,551) (16,729)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents B4 LB 4% EY D),/
18 5 5 (21,136) 24,449
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FERBB & Iﬁ i EHY 76,041 52,260
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes S BEE BB < 5 ) 5y 2 (10,109) (668)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year EEANHEE AR EEEY 44,796 76,041
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HabEeRaR

For the year ended 31 December 2024

#E 2024 12 A 31 HIFEE

Major non-cash transactions:

O]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, addition
of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$9,820,000
(2023: approximately of HK$977,000) was incurred.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, lease
liabilities of approximately of HK$9,820,000 (2023:
approximately of HK$977,000) was incurred.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, inventories
of approximately of HK$3,493,000 (2023: Nil) were
transferred from an associate to offset the amount due
from it. Details of the transfer were disclosed in Note

24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in Note 35 to these consolidated
financial statements, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group disposed of its entire
equity interest in a subsidiary and recognised gain on
disposal amounted to approximately HK$2,827,000.
Net cash inflow arising from this disposal amounted
to approximately HK$2,397,000. Net assets disposed
of, excluding cash and cash equivalents, amounted
to approximately HK$430,000 was adjusted in the
consolidated cash flows statement in their respective

line items under operating activities (2023: Nil).

THEEHEL S

O]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

B A 20244F12H31H 1F 4F B > 88 i ff
JHHE & 75 49 159,820,000 %5 76 (2023 4F
#1977,000% JT) °

B F 20244120310 1L - FE A
B A 4 559,820,000 8% T (20234F : 4
977,000 4 7C) ©

W E2024F12H31HIEFE > F B A
3,493,000%5 JC (20234F : ) J5 H — [#]
B/ N F LA > DK B B i L BRIE o
FHZEBE RO ER GG
5 3% Mt 5E 24 -

AN % A B R 3R B R3S T B R R
B E20244F12H31H 1F 4 > AR % E
tb L — D BT R 4 D Y A S A RE
S il 52 B IR 5 492,827,000 JC © #%
O E A B B T A R 29 492,397,000
B CHEFEE (REEH &K
B4 % {EY) #1430,000% 0T B i 45 &
HEeERERPTELEEHETWAA
THH A E i1 % (20234« 48) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION OF
THE GROUP

Perfect Group International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 16 June 2015 and its shares were listed on the
Main Board of the The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 4 January
2016. The registered office of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal
place of business of the Company is at 26/F, YHC
Tower, 1 Sheung Yuet Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong
Kong. The Company’s ultimate holding company
is Immaculate Diamonds Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company
are designing, manufacturing and sales of high-end
fine jewellery as well as metal refining and purifying
process for jewellery; development, sales and rental
of and provision of property management services for
properties in the PRC; sales of electricity generated
from photovoltaic power generation system as well as

energy storage business.

On 19 June 2024, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement to acquire 4.5% equity interest
together with the rights to subscribe a further 4.5%
equity interest in Guangdong Huijinying from one of
the non-controlling shareholders for a consideration
of RMB450,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$505,000). On 28 June 2024, the Group exercised
the rights to subscribe the 4.5% equity interest by
injecting RMB450,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$484,000) to Guangdong Huijinying as paid-up
capital. Upon completion of these acquisition and
capital injection, the Group increased its shareholding
in this subsidiary from 61% to 70%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

162 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5] [5 B28 JB A5 FR2A 7]

GENERAL INFORMATION OF
THE GROUP - continued

Pursuant to a sharcholders’ resolution passed on 19
June 2024, all existing sharcholders of Guangdong
Huijinying agreed to increase the registered capital
by RMB5,000,000 to a total of RMB15,000,000.
The Group agreed to take up 84% of the required
capital injection. Accordingly, on 28 June 2024, the
Group further injected RMB4,200,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$4,511,000) to Guangdong
Huijinying as paid-up capital, and thereby further
increased its shareholding in this subsidiary from 70%

to 74.67%.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from
the functional currency of the Company, i.e. United
States Dollar (“USD”). The reason for selecting HK$
as its presentation currency is because most of the
shareholders of the Company are located in Hong
Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these new and revised
HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and
disclosure in financial
statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without

public accountability?
Amendments o HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 classification and
measurement of
financial instruments?

Amendments o HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing

and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent
Electricity?
Amendments o HKFRS 10 Sales or Contribution
and HKAS 28 of Assets between

an Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venure*

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability!

Annual improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Amendments to
HKFRS1, HKFRS7,
HKEFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2026.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2027.

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) — continued

New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective — continued

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. Whilst many of the requirements will
remain consistent, the new standard introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the income statement; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements
and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the primary financial
statements and the notes. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also

made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted, and
will be applied retrospectively. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation
of the income statement and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is still currently
assessing the impact that HKFRS 18 will have on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

f 7 S B e o A AL e e
K& wHBCRE R

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

3.1 % 4 W B o B L o

b6 BE B R TR B AU g st
fili 2> & BE M 00 & W5 B 15 R 4 o
I o ol A S 55 5 B 5 Rk R T
of the consolidated financial statements, FoWMRAEHNHEAEMEZE
information is considered material if such R B E A EE R
IRz &R g ot A B2 - 4
&% 6 BB i 3R HOA BB A2 B RS 2

v R R A s N w9 T R
F 28 B o 5 0 -

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation

information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured
at fair values, as explained in accounting policies

set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for

goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

consolidated financial statements —
continued

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets (“HKAS 367).

3.1 Basis of preparation of the 3.1 %6 B 3 g AR v
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

f 7 S B e o A R e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.1 Basis of preparation of the 3.1 % 17 B 5 B 3 o R R U

consolidated financial statements — #H

continued

For financial instruments and investment G /N S = R’ =D S NS W

properties which are transacted at fair value BeEY M F > A B A

and a valuation technique that unobservable 1 2 Ak B J7 kR 7 BE 1% 9 1A

inputs are to be used to measure fair value in it B AE - RIS (R D7 T R

subsequent periods, the valuation technique B e TR T ) I Tl R IR Al E

is calibrated so that at initial recognition the W7 ik 4 R L AR By (B A A o

results of the valuation technique equals the

transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, 0 W S = /AN B 1

fair value measurements are categorised into il %5 ARSI L TN

Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which 1A B R R Mo A R B

the inputs to the fair value measurements are FEFENBEREEZESHEA

observable and the significance of the inputs to SHIAR - ER28 B SR3Ak o L uk
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which Ik

are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices . SRR A PR 2 H M OR R
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical = H 0] DUBAS A A0 [R] &
assets or liabilities that the entity can Bl B I R T R R AE Ok
access at the measurement date; KR

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than o B2 A BUHE 2O E AE K
quoted prices included within Level 1, that BUAE 2 B 2 T B A
are observable for the asset or liability, B A R B LR0N £ 46 1Y
either directly or indirectly; and RN 5 R

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for . 3R A BOPE R E R B A

TR A9 AN AT B o A SR -

the asset or liability.
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 A EEHEORE B

information
Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (L.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the

investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee,

including:-

o the contractual arrangement with the other

vote holders of the investee;

. rights arising from other contractual

arrangements; and

. The Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R ERHBURE B -

information — continued

Basis of consolidation — continued AEARE 4

The financial statements of subsidiaries are Bt i 2 F] 2 B i 3R T 8RO T
prepared for the same reporting period as the — B & wh R i B AR 22w AH [F]
Company, using consistent accounting policies. Z iﬁ’( 15 B i & o Mﬂ% i N ] %
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from S5 FR A 4 B AT R D RE 2 H R 45
the date on which the Group obtains control, BAM BB SAREZHE
and continue to be consolidated until the date HIHEACIEZ H o

that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other 5 #5 S 4% TE H A A i IR %5 TH B B
comprehensive income are attributed to the JB§ s A R [ BE A E A ON IR B
owners of the parent of the Group and to the JBcHE 7 > BRIV 2 e A BOE R
non-controlling interests, even if this results i b B A& B o AEEN AR
in the non-controlling interest having a deficit Al Z BB 28 5 - &k~ WA KB
balance. All intra-group transactions, balances, SO G A R R BUIK B o

income and expenses are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls i =5 B w1 T & B SCHEHE A R
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate G EFBUR A i S IHE R PR —
that there are changes to one or more of the TH B DA b B )y > A 4R i
three elements of control described in the WAL R AR R E R -

accounting policy for subsidiaries below.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests i A< 4R [ A BB S WD R HE A OME
in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group R i th BB E) (H F M R R
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted 9o L Mg s A 2 PR IRE 5w
for as equity transactions. ARSI HERS 5 -
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Basis of consolidation — continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profict or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any investment retained and
(ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to the consolidated income statement
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or

liabilities.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

Interests in an associate and a joint - /NCI DS S -
venture HE 15

An associate is an entity over which the Group Bigamfs A LEEBLRAE
has significant influence. Significant influence KREBOWER - HEREEIIE

is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is

not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing

control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, less any
impairment losses, unless it is classified as
held for sale. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of
the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment
is adjusted for the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 7 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture,
the Group’s interest is reduced to zero and
recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this
purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or the

joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the investee, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the
associate or joint venture is included as part of
the Group’s investments in an associate or a joint

venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Interests in an associate and a joint
venture — continued

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for
under the equity method. In all other cases,
when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant
influence or joint control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair

value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

When an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is

accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R ERHBURE B -
information — continued
Revenue from contracts with customers HL &5 1) A 2 IR 45
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a A AL A (BE) 58 BB £ AT RF
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when (AP E B AT HENE
“control” of the goods or services underlying the IR B R TR IR A TR F
particular performance obligation is transferred Ry ) i 58 UK 5 o

to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or J& #) AT 45 — TH W B IR B
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is (8 — it & 5 sk IRk B sk — R 51K
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services S{OH [R] Y BH A B B IR S o

that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is 45 G DA Hoh — I e Al
recognised over time by reference to the progress it HE 2% W T ) RS > ik g B 2
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant % M BB A AT 1 58 B HE B BB
performance obligation if one of the following I [H] i 58

criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives . 5 A B ] A IR [R] I
and consumes the benefits provided by BRI FE A 4R B A BT 4R
the Group’s performance as the Group R
performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or . A B Y JE A A B R T
enhances an asset that the customer B F R A £ B ) I 4
controls as the Group performs; or B 5 Ek

. the Group’s performance does not create an . 7 £ ) JE AR A R A
asset with an alternative use to the Group EHAABARENERE
and the Group has an enforceable right M7 A 4 ] A7 5 i) 04T HE Ui R
to payment for performance completed to T4 T B A HR 4 B EE -
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
— continued

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the

distinct good or service.

Sales of jewellery products

For sales of jewellery products is recognised
when control of the goods has transferred,
being when the goods have been shipped to
the customers’ specific location (upon delivery
of goods). The selling prices are agreed with
customers prior to any delivery and with credit

terms ranging from 0 to 120 days.

Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties is recognised
when the control over the ownership or physical
possession of the property is transferred to the
customer, which is the point in time when the
Group satisfies its performance obligations
under the contracts. The considerations of
purchases are negotiated with customers and
officially stated in sale and purchase agreements,
customers are required to settle in full at the

point of completion of transfer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
— continued

Sales of properties — continued

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

Sales of electricity

Income from sales of electricity is recognised
at a point in time when the Group satisfies its
performance obligations under the contracts,
that is the sales of electricity based on actual
units of electricity consumed by customers,
which is measured by electricity meters based
on contracted unit price and on monthly basis,
the electricity is generated by the Group’s

photovoltaic power generation system.

Service income from energy storage business

Revenue from service income of energy storage
business is recognised at a point in time when

the services are rendered.

Service income of metal refining and purifying

process for jewellery

Revenue from service income of metal refining
and purifying process for jewellery is recognised

at a point in time when the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers
— continued

Property management fee income

For property management services, the Group
bills a fixed amount for services provided on a
monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to bill
and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. The Group primarily
generates revenue from property management
services income from properties managed under
lump sum basis, the Group entitles to revenue at
the value of property management services fee

received or receivable.

Revenue form other source
Rental income

Rental income is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the respective lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange

for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application of HKFRS16
or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a

contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease

components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease

term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of

the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease

incentives received; and

* any initial direct costs incurred by the

Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued
Right-of-use assets — continued

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Bk 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessee — continued
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not

readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any

lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease

payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets) whenever the lease term as
changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued

Leases — continued

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All

other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the respective lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value

model.

Rental income derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business is presented as

revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Bk 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessor — continued
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency
of the entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except
for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s

interest in an associate or a joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Leases — continued

The Group as a lessor — continued
Foreign currencies — continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. For properties under development
for which revenue is recognised over time, the
Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as
soon as the properties are ready for the Group’s

intended sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Borrowing costs — continued

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them

and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under other

income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the consolidated profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an

independently administered fund.

Short-term and other long-term employee

benetits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the

inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount

already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Employee benefits — continued

Short-term and other long-term employee

benefits — continued

Liabilities recognised in respect of other
long-term employee benefits are measured at
the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities
carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in

the cost of an asset.

Defined benefir plan

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. Remeasurement,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the
effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if
applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in
the consolidated statement of financial position
with a charge or credit recognised in other
comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income is reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified

to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Employee benefits — continued
Defined benefit plan — continued

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment
and a gain or loss on settlement is recognised
when settlement occurs. When determining past
service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an
entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit
liability or asset using the current fair value of
plan assets and current actuarial assumptions,
reflecting the benefits offered under the plan
and the plan assets before and after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, without
considering the effect of asset ceiling (i.e.
the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan
or reductions in future contributions to the
plan). Net interest is calculated by applying the
discount rate at the beginning of the period
to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
However, if the Group remeasures the net
defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the
Group determines net interest for the remainder
of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using
the benefits offered under the plan and the plan
assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit liability or asset during the
period resulting from contributions or benefit

payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -

information — continued

Employee benefits — continued & B 48 F| — 78

Defined benetit plan — continued TE F A 7 F -

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows: FE AR R AR Ay R

D service cost (including current service cost, o IR 5 A A (6L 45 & A IR B i
past service cost, as well as gains and losses A il A RS AR DL A ek
on curtailments and settlements); Je GE B 28 M s 1R

. net interest expense or income; and M FI S BH S Bl A VR I

. remeasurement. ° A %ﬁ ?F " e

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in G A BE B IR I 3 e SR 0 AR IR

the consolidated statement of financial position & B AT 48 A 45 3] 5L 48 A 5T #

represents the actual deficit or surplus in the Y E B R AL BB BR o X RT R

Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus A B AT AT B R PR R LA R # R

resulting from this calculation is limited to the A I N S O O | =0

present value of any economic benefits available B AHE ) AT T 4 9% A 45 1 BRAH o

in the form of refunds from the plans or

reductions in future contributions to the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees 1B B B 56 = 5 1 th 2 91 O
or third parties reduce service cost upon ] &t #1 S2 AT kRN D Ik B
payment of these contributions to the plan. 7 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Employee benefits — continued
Defined benefit plan — continued

When the formal terms of the plans specify
that there will be contributions from employees
or third parties, the accounting depends on
whether the contributions are linked to service,

as follows:

. If the contributions are not linked to
services (for example contributions
are required to reduce a deficit arising
from losses on plan assets or from
actuarial losses), they are reflected in the
remeasurement of the net defined benefit

liability or asset.

o If contributions are linked to services,
they reduce service costs. For the amount
of contribution that is dependent on the
number of years of service, the entity
reduces service cost by attributing the
contributions to periods of service using
the actribution method required by HKAS
19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits.
For the amount of contribution that is
independent of the number of years of
service, the entity reduces service cost in
the period in which the related service is
rendered/reduces service cost by attributing
contributions to the employees’ periods
of service in accordance with HKAS 19

paragraph 70.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Employee benefits — continued
Defined benetit plan — continued

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation,
the Group accounts for the employer Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis.
The estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service
cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed

to be contributions from the relevant employees.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a
provision for defined benefit plan obligations
of approximately HK$174,000 that will not
expire within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period and such amount was included
in trade and other payables under current

liabilities.
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

f 7 S B e o A R e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Share-based payments — continued

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share options reserve. When the share options
are cancelled after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve

will be transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the

tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilized, except in respect
of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

f 7 S B e o A R e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Taxation — continued

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Taxation — continued

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale, except for
frechold land, which is always presumed to be

recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
for leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the lease liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to
the same taxable entity by the same taxation

authority.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Taxation — continued

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will
accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities
in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income
tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant
taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is
reflected by using either the most likely amount

or the expected value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,

if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line

method as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms
Plant and machinery 5% — 20% per annum
Furniture and fixtures  20% per annum

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation — continued

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
(continued) use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents property,
plant and equipment in the course of
construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the

assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment

loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or

group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets —
continued

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of

future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets —
continued

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating
units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets —
continued

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land
and buildings held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use
in production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Investment
properties also include lease properties which
are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating lease.
Investment properties are measured initially at
cost including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market

conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

information — continued
Investment properties — continued

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of investment properties are included in
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and
comprehensive income in the year in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and
comprehensive income in the period of the
retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to
owner-occupied properties or inventories,
the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change
in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes and
investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between
the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in
accordance with the policy “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For
a transfer from inventories to investment
properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit of loss and

comprehensive income.

3.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R ERHBURE B -
information — continued
Properties held for sale Fi & W =€
Properties held for sale which are intended to be FrEME Y ES B A NEE
sold are classified as current assets. Except for FE o BR AR T HE & A 2 | R L
the leasehold land element which is measured at UL A B A G 2 '
cost model in accordance with the accounting WA > FRAE i E W ¥ 2 EE Ty
policies of right-of-use assets, properties held FI2 AR B i) B B W L AR
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net FHONHR o WA 12 A 2 PR K AR T
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific i E o LRI B C A A 2 M B
identification basis including allocation of the JE S DL e A B E I LN B R E
related development expenditure incurred and A ZAE B MA o ] 5 B E T 48
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. W) Al T B A R 52 A
Net realisable value represents the estimated B Al st 85 65 B G MA o B8 B P
selling price for the properties less estimated cost B B HE B B AL R 1 &
to completion and costs necessary to make the BAS DA B A B ] /5 58 8 4 T
sales. Costs necessary to make the sale include FE A IF 1 AR o

incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group

must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group

must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (when the effect of the time value of

money is material).

A contingent liability is a possible obligation
that arises from past events and whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured

reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued

Provisions and contingent liabilities —
continued

A contingent liability is not recognised but
is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that the
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised
as a provision in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the

change in probability occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the

market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

f 7 S B e o A R e I W
K& wHBORE B - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“HKFRS 157). Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”))
are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. oMM ERMEAERE LT
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEFBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 HREGRBURE B -

information — continued

Financial instruments — continued A B T H - 48

Financial assets BB E

Classification and subsequent measurement of P & B R ARG &
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following TF A DA A0 B % & E H AR
conditions are subsequently measured at i 4 B LA G &

amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business d 7 E R A A £ B
model whose objective is to collect M EB N FE A 2 W
contractual cash flows; and BiE &

. the contractual terms give rise on specified . B A 15 3OE BUR Ry B E
dates to cash flows that are solely payments A AR S SN AR A KR B
of principal and interest on the principal EASHEANEWB SR E -

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently SR L P < ) R /N
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial B w5H A8t 5 & > MR D 46 B 52
recognition of a financial asset the Group may W 5 Y RE > A A T T RE AN AT i
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes B b, 728 43 A T At A 1T R A 2 90 i
in fair value of an equity investment in other MREAFHZHLBZET i
comprehensive income if that equity investment W2 HERCE N F R AE R E - N
is neither held for trading nor contingent Wi B T A A s S R e RIS
consideration recognised by an acquirer in 398 B G UF BT 2 A D
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 e 58 2 R AU o

Business Combination applies.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy 3.2 R ERHBURE B -

information — continued

Financial instruments — continued A% T H - 48

Financial assets — continued BB E - A

A financial asset is held for trading if: i 75 & F A > RN BF B & E TS

ERR (-

. it has been acquired principally for the o O W T A T O S
purpose of selling in the near term; or A R

o on initial recognition it is a part of i W) A R R > H A AR 4R
a portfolio of identified financial I [A] 4 B 2 B Ak A B LA
instruments that the Group manages HEw— a3 B A5
together and has a recent actual pattern of B F B B A A B

short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and . L& I R 45 E R AE S B T
effective as a hedging instrument. HAZMWMETLR -

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate oAb o A 4 B RTORE & R AT
a financial asset that are required to be measured b 6 8 BB A R (2 DL 8
at the amortised cost or fair value through other PN £ /N | I NS =W R 1
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) as measured ([ 4% 75 T B 5F A HoAth 2 1 Ui %5 )
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly FHE) BN EFABRGR &

reduces an accounting mismatch. I 42 2 G B n] I B ECOK iR D

TR E -
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Bk 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer

credit-impaired.
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the property revaluation
reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and will be transferred to

retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other

income line item in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Bk 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the other gains and losses line item. Dividend
and interest earned on the financial asset are

included in the other income line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan receivable from an associate,
rental deposits, bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect

changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of

future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for

trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether

credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instruments external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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3.2 HAERNBORE B - #
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

218 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E B2 B A BRA 7]

Significant increase in credit risk —

continued

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtors

ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk —

continued

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates

otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(ii)
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Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full

(without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is

more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when

one or more events of default that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash

flows of that financial asset have

occurred. Evidence that a financial asset

is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

(a)

(b)

(o)

significant financial difficulty of the

issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default

or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets —

(iv)
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continued

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent

recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
In addition, certain significant balances
of trade receivables and credit-impaired

debtors are assessed for ECL individually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 —

continued

v)
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Measurement and recognition of ECL —

continued

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial

asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amounts, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss

allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Bk 7 T B e o A R e [ W
K BORE R - 8

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial assets — continued
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another

entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the assets carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instcrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the assets revaluation reserve will not be
reclassified to profit or loss, but transferred to

retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. Lo EH LR RE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEEBURE B - 8
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERHBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued
Financial liabilities and equity — continued
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly
in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, bank loans and
bank overdrafts are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method.

Derecognition/modification of financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy

3.2 HAERNBORE B - #

information — continued
Financial instruments — continued

Derecognition/modification of financial

liabilities — continued

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate

benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or
financial liability to which the amortised cost
measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes
by updating the effective interest rate, such
change in effective interest rate normally has no
significant effect on the carrying amount of the

relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is required by interest
rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these

conditions are met:

. the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark

reform; and

o the new basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the

basis immediately preceding the change).
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION - continued

3.2 Material accounting policy
information — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Derecognition/modification of financial

liabilities — continued

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are
offset and the net amount presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and

future periods.

Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

consolidated financial statements.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. ¥ K EE A B B Al EEA W
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY R AR - H

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Critical judgements in applying & M & 5 BUR Z 31 OR K B -
accounting policies — continued

Deferred taxation on investment properties & Yy 2 2 R IE B IR

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising M ERAATFEEXFE LA
from investment properties that are measured using Yy 2E BT EE AR R R SE BRI 5 > AT
the fair value model, the directors of the Company HEOHFMAEH R EYEASE >
have reviewed the Group’s investment property 37 5 5 A 4R 1 BE W) 2 DL E AR Sy e
portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment ERHMERMEAREY ERQSTZ
properties are held under a business model whose 58RIy R A 1 2 EBREXFFA o
objective is to consume substantially all of the I - 7 i UG 3 2 R AEBLIA I
economic benefits embodied in the investment ANFHEFRS > R AP EAAF
properties over time. Therefore, in determining o BOE W 2 R T E AT A 0 B
the deferred taxation on investment properties, the T 4 Ol (8] 2 AR % B4

directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are

recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowances of inventories for finished goods

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value of inventories is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimation
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal. In
determining the allowance to be made on the finished
goods, management considers the current market
conditions, estimated selling prices, subsequent sales
of similar products and the valuation of selected
inventory items performed by an independent
professional valuer. Allowances on inventories can
change significantly as a result of changes in these
factors. The Group will reassess the estimation at
the end of each year. As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of finished goods is approximately

HK$84,737,000 (2023: HK$95,619,000).

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty —
continued

Impairment on properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for the properties less estimated cost to completion
and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale. In
determining the impairment to be made on the
properties held for sale, management considers
the current market conditions, estimated selling
prices, subsequent sales of similar properties and the
valuation of the properties held for sale performed
by an independent valuer. Impairment on properties
held for sale can change significantly as a result of
changes in these factors. The Group will reassess the
estimation at the end of each year. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amount of properties held for
sale are approximately HK$299,154,000 (2023:
HK$350,459,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty —
continued

Impairment on assets

If circumstances indicate that the net carrying amount
of non-financial assets may not be recoverable,
the asset may be considered “impaired” and an
impairment loss may be recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets. These assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. In assessing whether
there is an indication that non-financial assets may
be impaired, the Group considers indications from
both internal and external sources of information
such as evidence of obsolescence or decline in
economic performance of the assets, changes in
market conditions and economic environment. These
assessments are subjective and require management’s
judgement and estimations.

The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. It is
difficult to precisely estimate fair value less costs of
disposal because quoted market prices for the Group’s
assets are not readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant estimation relating to the level
of sales volume, selling prices and the amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of sales
volume, selling prices and the amount of operating
costs. As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying
amounts of (i) property, plant and equipment
amounted to approximately of HK$119,170,000
(2023: HK$93,351,000) and (ii) right-of-use assets
amounted to approximately HK$16,242,000 (2023:
HK$7,894,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY - continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty —
continued

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and

credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables which
are not assessed individually using a provision
matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the

forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 42

and 23 respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of
trade receivables was approximately HK$45,453,000,
net of allowance for expected credit losses of
approximately HK$19,731,000 (2023: approximately
of HK$61,400,000, net of allowance for expected
credit losses of approximately of HK$22,658,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. W3 K4 EE R
INFORMATION

Analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as PLTR 5 A 42 ] 48 ) i 4 22 o0 A
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T8 T
Revenue recognised at a point in time A R — TR [H] 5 A SR A5

Sales of jewellery products B B 2R B E 223,456 286,426

Sales of properties Rk 14,144 34,195

Sales of electricity S 7,066 3,039

Service income of metal refining and TRE 1Y 4 B RS PR $E Alim

purifying process for jewellery TR 5 it A 9,349 —

Service income of energy storage business itk HE & 5 MRk 75 Uit A 91 —
RCVCDUC fCCOgniSCd over time IZ;E H% FEﬁ ﬁﬁ %1%{ [‘l& %Zl?.

Property management fee income ESSLE JIPN 7,733 10,982
Revenue from contracts with customers B A KL % 261,839 334,642
Rental income 14l A 11,653 14,069

273,492 348,711
Sales of jewellery products and service income of TROEL 7 B B R OBR B 4 RS R
metal refining and purifying process for jewellery & A O B i A AR B BR EE R RS
are derived from jewellery business segment. Sales e MEME - WEERBERA R
of properties, property management fee income and HEWARAY EEK T - &
rental income are derived from property business T 1 I it RE SE B RS I A B B O AR B
segment, Sales of electricity and service income of CESETATEE

energy storage business are derived from photovoltaic
power generation business and energy storage business

segment.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION - continued

Segment revenue and results

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on the
revenues and profits from different types of business

divisions.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(i) Manufacturing and sales of jewellery products
business represents manufacturing and sales of
jewellery products including rings, earrings,
pendants, bangles, necklaces and bracelets as
well as metal refining and purifying process for

jewellery (Jewellery business);

(i) Property business represents the development,
sales and rental of properties at the Group’s
integrated and comprehensive industry park
project and property management business

(Property business); and

(iii) Photovoltaic power generation and energy
storage business represents sales of electricity
which is generated from photovoltaic power
generation system owned by the Group as well
as service income of energy storage business
(Photovoltaic power generation and energy

storage business).
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WesE B AR E B - A

INFORMATION - continued
Vil L .|

Segment revenue and results — continued

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

B B i KE A S AT 3R e BB oy 2 AR

and results by operating and reportable segment: N ETYSE S o
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #2024 12H31H L4
Photovoltaic
power

generation and

Jewellery Property energy storage
business business business  Consolidated
bAiN
LEYE ]
3 &3 EE 3 *H &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T# T T# T# 7 T#
Segment revenue 7 A A 232,805 33,530 7,157 273,492
Segment results HEiES 32,423 5,812 3,097 41,332
Impairment losses under ECL model BUEEERER T
(Note 8) 018 16 1R (L) (845)
Tmpairment losses under properties held % fF 8§ & ¥ £ I T 2
for sale {H e 15 (26,293)
Loss on inventories FEER (1,975)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary A — B B A R 2 0 4 2,827
Changes in fair value of financial assets %24 V- 3T AR # 2 Bt
at FVTPL BEEZAFEZY
(Note 7) (Fft 5k 7) (4,869)
Unallocated corporate income RAEAFERA 200
Unallocated corporate expenses ROy B b 3R X (10,248)
Unallocated finance costs KR (1,843)
Share of result of a joint venture o — A R 59
Loss before income tax B B 15 B 11 i 48 (1,655)

2024 Annual Report “FEHE 237



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION - continued

Segment revenue and results — continued

5. Wik o dBE OB - 48

L& E S .

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B E2023F12H31H 1L F &
Photovoltaic
power
Jewellery Property generation
business business business  Consolidated
AR
REEY EE BEET e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000

T T T Tt

Segment revenue o Pl % 286,426 59,246 3,039 348,711

Segment results NP EE

49,225 6,728 1,249 57,202

Impairment losses under ECL model {5 B s 45 1 T

R U(E R R (1,042)
Unallocated corporate income R B AU A 250
Unallocated corporate expenses A3 B A B XL (12,055)
Unallocated finance costs &5 e W H A (1,061)
Share of result of a joint venture i — A E A

ES (35)
Profit before income tax W oy 45 0 11 36 ) 43,259

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s material accounting policy

information as described in Note 3.

Segment results represent the profit earned or loss
incurred by each segment and hence is arrived at
without allocation of impairment losses under ECL
model, impairment losses on properties held for sale,
written off of inventories, loss on disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL, fair value change in financial assets
at FVTPL, share of result of a joint venture and
certain unallocated income and expenses and finance
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM of
the Company, for the purposes of resources allocation

and assessment of segment performance.
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. Woak Mg GBE B - 4
INFORMATION - continued
Segment assets and liabilities o1 wb B B K A
The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment N A 5 s o] i o TRy 2 AR
assets and segment liabilities by operating and £ 7y B A oy W AR 0 AT

reportable segments:

At 31 December 2024 R2024412HA31H

Photovoltaic

power

generation

and energy

Jewellery Property storage
business business business Consolidated

xR

5 K g
HEEH LEE 3 E3/ A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T 70 Tt

Assets B
Segment assets A HE E 339,730 374,273 63,786 777,789
Interest in an associate T — [ B N |
i HE 4 —
Interest in a joint venture i — A A ZE
1 HE 45 236
Equity instruments at FVTOCI WA EFAR
by 4 T 7 2
i HE T A 448
Deferred tax assets IE Gk B TE E B 1,369
Unallocated corporate assets KAOMAEEE 5,161
Consolidated total assets GEA G EAH 785,003
Liabilities =K
Segment liabilities s S=i 40,483 12,855 39,432 92,770
Tax payables TE 480 Fi TE 57,432
Deferred tax liabilities A = 14,534
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA BC A 2 B S 749
Consolidated total liabilities G O A i 48R 165,485
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. Wi Ky iR E B -
INFORMATION - continued
Segment assets and liabilities — continued s E R kA -H
At 31 December 2023 #20234E12 H31H
Photovoltaic
power
Jewellery Property generation
business business business  Consolidated
Sk
REET VESE ¥ BEEY o
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

T o Tt T Tt

Assets G
Segment assets o B 311,920 464,370 33,292 809,582
Interest in an associate i — A A
i1 HE 4 —
Interest in a joint venture A A
i HE 4 185
Equity instruments at FVTOCI T EFEA K
At 4 TR 5 2
i HE TR 696
Deferred tax assets i 4 B TH & 1,139
Unallocated corporate assets KymAeEERE 25,923
Consolidated total assets GAEEMAE 837,525
Liabilities A
Segment liabilities Vi =K 48,327 20,134 17,119 85,580
Tax payables e 45 i 16 76,903
Deferred tax liabilities i fiE B IH AR 23,483
Unallocated corporate liabilities A3 e AR 2E A 1,855
Consolidated total liabilities A AEAE 187,821
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. W &R E B - 8

INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued b E R KA - H

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances N S i T & LT LV <

and allocating resources between segments: B 5 -

— all assets are allocated to operating segments — BRI — B A E R RE 4R R —
other than interest in an associate, interest in a MEeEBESCENMLRD LA TH
joint venture, equity instruments at FVTOCI, A At 4 Tk g 2 RORE T -
deferred tax assets, and unallocated corporate R GE Bl JH E E MRy AR EE
assets. EAN > B E E B i E R

0

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments —  BRE BB TE - R RE B TH B fE X
other than tax payables, deferred tax liabilities Kol EAEIN THAEY
and unallocated corporate liabilities. o ER =

Geographical information o [ & R

Revenue from external customers, based on location Y= S R Nk vl S R

of delivery/transfer to customers and location of eGP b B K W 2 M B R

property is as follows:

2024 2023
2024 4F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T

Revenue I 5
— Hong Kong — i 170,017 197,009
— Dubai — M FE 46,627 88,651
— PRC — 56,848 63,051
273,492 348,711
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.
INFORMATION - continued

Segment assets and liabilities — continued
Geographical information — continued

Revenue from customers which account for 10% or

more of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

Wt B2 43 B & OB - 4

g vB & E KRR -
i IR - R

il 7 2 1 i 2 109 B LA B Y &5 IR Ak
nr

2024 2023

20244 20234F

HK$’°000 HK$°000

T#n T# T

Customer A in jewellery segment WE 7 M EFA 28,712 42,695
Customer B in jewellery segment RE 7 iM% B 30,311 —

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets (other
than interest in an associate, interest in a joint
venture, equity instruments at FVTOCI and deferred
tax assets) by their physical geographical location is as

A 45 1 IR O B A O — [ I A
RRESE - R — M & B RENRER - 1%
AR K ER NS R (LR T il & |
HL % R SE i TH K FE BR A1) 1% KT R

follows: BB H AR
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 7t T 0
PRC Hh 126,486 100,289
Hong Kong R 8,645 565
Dubai Jil=s 281 391
135,412 101,245
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6. OTHER INCOME

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

At e A

2024 2023
20244F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Interest income B U A 4,951 3,246

Dividend income from financial assets at AP EFIAEE M
FVTPL B 4 E i Bl A 165 164
Government grants (Note) BT i B (B &) 142 402
Agency fee income A ON 84 —
Others H Aty 1,121 1,460
6,463 5,272

Note: Bff 5

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group received
government grants of approximately HK$39,000 (2023:
HK$402,000) and HK$103,000 (2023: Nil) in respect of
increasing entity’s business scale and export and credit insurance

subsidy provided by the PRC Government respectively.

There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these grants (2023: Nil).

B E 20244124310 1E4F FE A > A 4L B i B
0 B R ST RO A B AR BB DL K
O K A5 FOR B 6 A 19 B0 RF 4 Bh 40 Bl 49 £539,000
W J0 (20234 1 402,000 JT) 103,000 JT
(20234 : %) -

ME 4 75 B 5% 55 4 Bl 0 oK R R ok el Sk g5 e
(20234 « &) ©
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7.

At W i M s 4H 9 R

2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
HK$’°000 HKS$’000
Ti# 5t T JC
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B — [ B B 2 7] 22 i
(Note 35) (Bft £ 35) 2,827 —
Net foreign exchange gain BEE 58, Ui 4 1 A8 350 431
Changes in fair value of financial assets at i /NS R WNE B O S
FVTPL B N T 5 (4,869) (1,420)
Written off of other receivables LB b RE U R IE (2,783) —
Written back of other payables o B G A B A AOH 1,254 —
Loss from changes in fair value of investment 4% & ¥ 3£ 2 /A “F (H 52 B)
properties I 15 — (198)
Loss from disposal of investment properties LEREYEZBER — (1,580)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and i H ¥ 3 ~ i B K ik 2
equipment (s ) I 48 — (136)
(3,221) (2,909)

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

8. VHIUIf5 B H B AT AY IE

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 5 18 9
MODEL, NET
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # o T
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment losses T8 WG &G AR Y
under ECL model on: T e 1R ] (FE )
— Trade receivables — B 5 ek # A 1,137 835
— Loan receivable from an associate — M — B N E K (1,982) (1,877)
(845) (1,042)
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FINANCE COSTS

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

9. M #EHM

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
T ¥ 0 T# T
Interest on bank loans SRAT B 3R] B 1,596 1,448
Interest on lease liabilities & & AR 247 67
Less: interest capitalised into property, plant ¥ : ¥ % ~ Mg 5 K& &% 5
and equipment (Note) O & A b FLE (B 5E) — (454)
Total interest expense on financial liabilities A~ DA P 51 = B H 5 )
not at fair value through profit or loss FEACIE 1 I B R ﬁ =41
B 3 #8 1,843 1,061

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the finance costs were

capitalised at an effective rate of 4.3% per annum.

10. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME

B

HE2023F 124310 ILFEE > M &AL HE
W% AF I 3R 4,300 1 & AR Ll B2 -

10. B3 B 5 88w Os 16) 3% #

TAX
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T ¥ 50 T 5 T
(Loss)/profit before income tax has been B BT 45 B AT ks 38) 73 AL
arrived at after charging: BT & HAAAS
Directors’ remuneration (Note 11) 3 4 (B s 1) 8,283 8,270
Other staff’s salaries and other benefits Hth B T % 4 M HAth 457 F) 18,958 20,795
Other staff’s retirement benefits scheme HoAh & E TR 3R AR AR R EL S
contributions 3K 1,375 1,631
Total staff costs B T AR 4% 28,616 30,696
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S i T 4
— Audit services — % ERE 955 910
— Non-audit services — JE A% BOR 240 230
Defined benefit plan obligation (Note 34) FE R A EE B EAT (B 5234) 174 —
Loss on inventories (Note 44) 178 e 18 (B 5k44) 1,975 —
Weritten-off of property, plant and equipment il ﬁlﬁ W3~ WS Bk A
(Note 15) (K 5% 15) 2 —
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #) 3£ ~ W& 5 o 3% i 7 8
(Note 15) (B 5E15) 5,415 3,264
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) 5 B O 7 BT (M EE16) 1,472 953
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses T il 58 S BH SR A7 B LA
(included in cost of goods sold) (%1’)\ B85 AR) 187,432 238,164

There were no forfeited contribution available for offset

against existing contributions to pension costs, defined

contribution plans and social security costs during the years

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

* JA B A 20244F K 20234F12 A31H IR 4F B »
S 4 35 5 Y I AT R K B ) R A
A~ BLSE R E B At R R R AR AR
) BLAT HE 3K -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 11. & F M &
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the A T AR AF BE A B RE A AR 2 ]
directors and the chief executive of the Company FEATEN B SRS s

during both years are as follows:

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
# &R 78 P A
4 Al A A it 3 4k % gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T T# T T % T %
For the year ended 220244
31 December 2024 12H31H 1L 4 B
Executive directors: AT
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Note (i)) fi7 2 5 5 4 (M 35 G1) — 4,500 9 4,509
Ms. Shek Mei Chun aEB L+ —_ 1,545 18 1,563
Mr. Chung Chi Keung §E e A — 1,545 18 1,563
Independent non-executive directors: % 3. I $ 17 # ¥ :
Dr. Ng Wang Pun Dennis (appointed on 5 % i 18 -
1 August 2024) (#20244F8 1A
LSS 90 — — 90
Mr. Fan Chor Ho (resigned on 1 August DER et
2024) (202448 A1H
A L) 126 — — 126
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick Bt 216 — — 216
Mr. Lee Ka Wing (resigned on 30 FREFAE
September 2024) (4202449730
RET) 162 — — 162
Ms. Ng Sin Kiu (appointed on 30 R
September 2024) (JA2024F-9A30H
AT 54 — — 54
648 7,590 45 8,283
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION -

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

11. EHMW L - H

continued
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
ek R AE F
R il 45 A a3k M5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$000
T T T T RV
For the year ended #WE2023%12431H
31 December 2023 LA
Executive directors: BT ES:
Mr. Kan Kin Kwong (Note (i) £ 2 5% 2 2k (I 33 ) — 4,500 18 4,518
Ms. Shek Mei Chun AEB UL — 1,534 18 1,552
Mt. Chung Chi Keung i B — 1,534 18 1,552
Independent non-executive directors: 3 JF $47 # F :
Mr. Fan Chor Ho A W e 216 — — 216
Mr. Wong Wai Keung Frederick L 216 — — 216
Mr. Lee Ka Wing BRERE 216 — — 216
648 7,568 54 8,270
Notes: [t 3% -

(@)

(i)

Mr. Kan Kin Kwong is also Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those

for services rendered by him as Chief Executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments
of independent non-executive directors shown above were

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

@

(i)

B 1 't 58 AR AR A A R AT B Bk
HC 37 T B % 6 15 AR R AT O AR AR IR
B B A5 B 4 o

bSO R BT S TR A
Ay E Jo AR A T AE B B R AL IR B - b
SCIT R 5L AT E A A SR
VE J 7 > W) 3 = 42 (IR o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION - 11.

continued
Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included three
(2023: three) directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Details of whose
emoluments are included above. The emoluments
of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid

individuals are as follows:

EREM e -

EIROAE=T N n

B £ 20244F12H31H 1k F > B &
B N S = A7 (20234 1 =) A
INTIE S o (%55 2 MR O B e
H % W A7 (20234F © W 7)) B B A+
4 357 I G0

2024 2023
2024 4F 20234F
HKS$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T

Employees =]
— salaries and other benefits — W & B H A 4w A 1,567 1,455
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — — & 4K 48 F] 51 ) fit 3K 36 35
1,603 1,490

Their emoluments were within the following band:

8 55 A9 387 P A P AT o A

2024 2023
20244 20234F
Number of Number of
Employees Employees

B\ % & B A\ %

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000% JC

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company or the five
highest paid individuals (including directors and
employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the directors have waived any emoluments during

both years.
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

12. i3 B (3K %), B 3%

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T# T T T
The income tax (credit)/expense comprises: BT A5 B (& ) B S A 4
Hong Kong Profits Tax B s F 15 Bl
— Current year — R 1,527 3,143
— Opver-provision in prior year — R M E A (693) —
PRC Tax Hh e B TH
— Current year — R 5,291 14,914
— Opver-provision in prior years — R M AE A (7,033) —
Over-provision in prior years A0 A R R A (2,043) (1,941)
(2,951) 16,116
Deferred tax credit (Note 20) % A B TELHE B (K 3£ 20) (8,563) (7,015)
(11,514) 9,101

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax
of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
(“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

EREBMAH T FEREBERN
) 72,000,000 JC % F o $58.25% K
Bl R OB > 1 42,000,000 76 1Y %
FI A% $216.5% 1) BL R B BL - A FF & F
15 ol T A 1 B B R R N R N A A K
165% W E B R B - Fitk > &
% 42 8 E B 792,000,000 J0 19 4 5T HE
o Bl s R Y $28.25% 1 B A F s
FIAS B > 1 42,000,000 76 19 il 5
JRE S B s A I 1659 B Bl K 5H A o

R 95 o B A 2 A5 B (T4 25 P A5 8 )
T K HLE AN R o IR A FD B
FF25% ©
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE  12. i B (3K %) B % — 44

— continued

The Group’s manufacturing of fine jewellery products
is conducted through its processing factories in
the PRC under contract processing arrangement.
Accordingly, under such 50:50 onshore/offshore
arrangement between the Group and the processing
factories, certain profits of the Group are not taxable

under Hong Kong Profits Tax during both years.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. LAT has been levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation
of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs.
Prescribed direct costs are defined to include costs of
land, development and construction costs, as well as
certain costs relating to the property development.
According to the State Administration of Taxations
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally
upon sales of the properties, followed by final
ascertainment of the gain at the completion of the

properties development.

250 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited {7842 5] |5 B2 1A FRZA 7]
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE  12. i 58 (3K %) B & — 4

— continued

Income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be A IR BT A9 B (I fR) Bl 3R] B AR A 48
reconciled to the (loss)/profit before income tax per i M HoAth 2 TR 55 2 A 19 BR BT A5 B Al
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other (5 48) s I B R F

comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
T# 5t T # I
(Loss)/profit before income tax W i 15 B 0 (s $8) i (1,655) 43,259
Tax at the applicable income tax rate at 16.5% % % F T 15 Bi %£16.5%
Al A ) B IH (273) 7,138
Tax effect of share of result of a joint venture & fli — FEJ ’KE.B'/\ EEHEW
BB 10 6
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 7~ AJ 411 #t Eﬁ i 11 B s i
purpose 4,468 4,110
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax PR R B A Y Bl S Y 2
purpose (2,183) (1,828)
Utilisation of tax loss previously not By F 5 H R A RR Y
recognised i I8 i 18 (316) (116)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences 7 e 78 7T 411 5 & H%" Tt
not recognised 75 N BT R B (4,578) (3,058)
Effect of profit under 50:50 arrangement 50 :50ZEHETR B %R 5 2 (1,672) (3,307)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries & H [5 & 4 [t J&§ A 7] 2
operating in the PRC N[ B A 2 BB 5 780 697
PRC LAT w1 i 3 (B B 2,184 7,565
Tax effect of two tiered profits tax rate regime F| 15 B W % il Bi 2 il B 2
Tl 55 7 28 (165) (165)
Over-provision in prior years T AR I A A (9,769) (1,941)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year RSB GE ) B S (11,514) 9,101
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

13. DIVIDEND 13. ik &

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti# 5t T T
Dividend recognised as distribution FROHER K2 KA :
during the year:
Final dividend for 2023 of HK$0.02 2023 4F R W1 B 5B B0.029 T
(2022: HK$0.02) per share (20224 : 4 80.02% 7C) 26,788 26,822

The directors proposed to declare a final dividend
of HK$0.01 per share, totaling approximately
HK$13,362,450 in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024, based on the total shares in issue as
of the date of this report, payable to the sharecholders
whose names appear on the Company’s register of
members on 12 June 2025.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has purchased 4,764,000 shares in
aggregate of its own shares from the market. Among
these 4,764,000 shares, 1,587,000 share were entitled
to the final dividend for 2023. The dividend paid by
the Company in respect of those 1,587,000 shares,
amounted to approximately HK$32,000, has been
eliminated to the respective dividend received by the

Company.

252 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 ][5 B2 1B A PR 7]

# A E IR F2024F12H31H 1k
R 2 RS R0.013 T - LA
13,362,450 7 70 (L ih #k 2 A& 45 H 1
B AT I BB 5D > TR 202548
6H12H & 5 A 2\ 6 i 3 4 i 2 o o

A 202412 H31H IR AF B AR
A H T8 W E A 464,764,000 B & B
By o 1£4,764,000/8 B # > 1,587,000
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. & B &
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per A 2% AN A A B R T i
share attributable to owners of the Company is based M SRR T 5 BOE A

on the following data:

2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T# 5t Tt
Profit for the year attributable to owners of A0S A HEA N RE AL AR A T A
the Company and earnings for the purposes 5 il 5t 58 5 I 5E A K 4
of calculating basic and diluted earnings per % F1| 2 Z F|
share 9,671 34,364

Number of shares

Jie o ¥ H
’000 ’000
T e
Weighted average number of ordinary shares i 5t 53 5 & & A K # # 21 ]
for the purpose of calculating both basic 29 i T HE S ) B
and diluted earnings per share 1,339,100 1,341,009
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the A 2024412 H31H IE4EJE > A A H]
Company purchased 4,764,000 shares in aggregate of 735 i E 5 35 4,764,000 B B B LAY ©

its own shares from the market.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

15. W3 ~ W B8 M ik i

EQUIPMENT
Plantand  Furniture and Construction
Buildings machinery fixtures  Motor vehicles in progress Total
BY  KEREK  BHREE i FRETH #t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T#x T#x T T T#x
Year ended 31 December 2024 # 20244124310
L4
At 1 January 2024 #2024 1711
Cost A 66,550 38,287 17,069 5,765 - 127,671
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (8,220) (5,932) (14,320) (4,353) — (32,829)
Exchange realignment I 54 3 % (822) 2 (146) (529) — (1,495)
Cattying amount L 57,508 30,357 2,603 883 - 93,351
At 1 January 2024 2024F 1 A1H 57,508 32357 2,603 883 — 93,351
Additions NE — 24,708 362 — 9,482 34,552
Depreciation e (1,465) (3,083) (470) (397) - (5,415)
Written off i€ — — ) — - 2)
Exchange realignment e 58 3 % (2,497) (559) (220) (40) — (3,316)
At 31 December 2024 20244121310 53,546 53,423 2173 446 9,482 119,170
At 31 December 2024 1#2024412J131H
Cost A 66,550 62,995 17,429 5,765 9,482 162,221
Accumulated depreciation P (9,689) (9,019) (14,790) (4,750) — (38,240)
Exchange realignment 515 % (3,319) (557) (366) (569) — (4,811)
At31 December 2024 20045 121311 53,546 53,423 2073 446 9,482 119,170
Representing: %
Carrying amount fRT (8 53,546 53,423 2,273 446 9,482 119,170

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
buildings with net carrying amounts of approximately
HK$4,401,000 (2023: HK$4,558,000) were pledged
to secure a bank loan granted to a PRC subsidiary of
the Company (Note 31).
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15. W3 - W Kkt -

EQUIPMENT - continued

Plantand  Furniture and Construction in
Buildings machinery fixtures  Motor vehicles progress Total
BY  HEREN  GAREE i EETH o)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Year ended 31 December 2023 # £2023% 12311
R34
At 1 January 2023 #2023 1410
Cost A 64,134 5,374 15,540 5,249 — 90,297
Accumulated depreciation At E (6,237) (5,374) (14,394) (3,956) — (29,961)
Exchange realignment [E 55 % (140 - (77) (4) — (221)
Carrying amount Wi 57,757 - 1,069 1,289 - 60,115
At 1 January 2023 20341 1A 57,757 - 1,069 1,289 — 60,115
Additions RE - 20,076 1,870 516 12,837 35,299
Transfer 814 — 12,837 — — (12,837) —
Transfer from investment HHARE
properties /E 2,613 - - — — 2,613
Depreciation fié (2,180) (558) (129) (397) - (3,264)
Disposals ik — - (138) - — (138)
Exchange realignment e i 7 % (682) 2 (69) (525) - (1,274)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12 H31H 57,508 32,357 2,603 883 — 93,351
At 31 December 2023 20234 12H31H
Cost AR 66,550 38,187 17,069 5,765 - 127,671
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (8,220) (5,932) (14,320) (4,353) — (32,825)
Exchange realignment [ Jt 30 % (822) 2 (146) (529) — (1,499)
At 31 December 2023 202312311 57,508 32,357 2,603 883 — 93,351
Representing: f%:
Carrying amount LEf 57,508 30,357 2,603 883 — 93,351
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

16. f3 F B & &

Leasehold land Buildings Total
4 M52 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T # o Tt
As at 1 January 2024 202441 H1H
Carrying amount % T (E 6,966 928 7,894
As at 31 December 2024 *20244E12H31H
Carrying amount W T (B 6,584 9,658 16,242
For the year ended B E2024412H31H
31 December 2024 1k 4 B
Depreciation for the year S NE 382 1,090 1,472
Total cash outflow for leases HEH W45 1,225
Additions to right-of-use assets 5 M TR B 9,820
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS -

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

16. 1 I HE & & - ]

continued
Leasehold land Buildings Tortal
&+ #b e o
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt Tt T# T
As at 1 January 2023 20234 1H1H
Carrying amount R T B 7,269 1,589 8,858
As at 31 December 2023 *20234E12H31H
Carrying amount I T (. 6,966 928 7,894
For the year ended # £2023412H31H
31 December 2023 1k 48
Depreciation for the year AN T B 303 650 953
Total cash outflow for leases HE B 404 923
Additions to right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 977

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold
land and buildings for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed terms of 2 to 50 years.

For both years, the Group also leases certain rooftops
from landlords for lease term of 20 years, in respect of
its photovoltaic power generation and energy storage

business.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
has entered into a new tenancy agreement for the
Company’s head office located in Hong Kong for

lease term of 3 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

AR AR AR EE S H s E TR
THE L EET - HESLHEE
HABR B2 E504E -

TR T A AR A A T 2 B R O AR R
e RESEHE - BL3E AT oL Ay 204 2
J& TH AL 5 1h ok o

M E2024F12H31H 1F4F B> A £
WA T R Y N B AR T S — 0y A )
SAERHEE W

L 9 AR ] M 7 NI 4% TR A
[A] foe i Je e PR o R i E FH B KT
bt AN W] SR 0 ) 2 R A A
5 #2380 2 S R AT -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. 7 — ] Bk 2 2 B By HE 42
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T L T T
Cost of investment in an unlisted associate A — T FE b g A AR
A — 1,111
Exchange realignment [ifE 5, 3] %% — (16)
Share of post-acquisition loss JRE Ak i B % 5 48 — (1,095)

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

A AL E B8 N\ 2024 4F M 2023412
H31HWFEE T -

Place of
incorporation Proportion of Proportion of
Name of associate and operation ownership interest voting power held Principal activity
wk B 3% K
Wi 8 2 vl 44 1 R b B PEARERESR L PriFRMEILH]  EEEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024%F  2023F 20244 2023%F
BRI 8% 2k 1 S0t PRC — 19% — 19%  Trading of fine jewellery
BERATR A H
(MREERE i)
i EHKERE S

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its
share of losses of the associate because the share of
losses of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest
in the associate and the Group has no obligation to
take up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of this associate for the
current year and cumulatively were approximately of
HK$132,000 (2023: HK$187,000) and HK$325,000
(2023: HK$193,000), respectively.
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FH 7 B A 5% B 1 ) e 4R R A A SR
A = /NI DR - Sl S R N SR | A
EHREE LR WAEBC K
I sR AL 2 B AR R - &
A8 B AR A B R BRI K T ER AL 5%
5t 2 N w8 4 L o Al 2 £5132,000
I (20234 : 187,000% JG) £325,000%
JG (20234F : 193,000%5 JC) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE - 17. 7 — B 36 8 2w 19 HE 4 — A

continued

On 30 December 2024, the Group entered into a R20245F12 H30H » A 48 3] B 57 5
disposal agreement with independent third parties, =7 RTOL VB W o SRt > A B ]
pursuant to which the Group agreed to dispose its HEUB & REANRK2TmE &
entire 19% equity interest in Ff % Bk E UMb to the FOh TR R 38 2R E oAk 19 A #819% K
purchaser at a cash consideration of RMB2. The RE o B OR B 2R E SOk B RORE R
disposal of the equity interest in F& ¥ 2k Ut was 20244F 1230 H 58 Al - I 4% A 4 B R
completed on 30 December 2024, and thereafter the TR A R B TR SR AT AT i - 2
Group no longer held any equity interest in f& #§ Tk 2024%F12 H31H 1F 48 B > A 4 J R &5
# Xfb. The Group has recognised RMB2 as gain A HE A B A A T g R P e R R
on disposal of an associate in consolidated profit or g A Al g AN RE25T -

loss and other comprehensive income during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. ¥ — [l & B 4 € iy £

2024 2023

20244F 20234F

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T

Cost of investment in an unlisted joint venture I 77 & & 4> 3 19 % & s A4 228 228
Exchange realignment e ba, 5% & @s) (8)
Share of post-acquisition profit/(loss) JE Ak i 1 4% 8 R (5 48) 23 (35)
236 185
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

— continued

Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Directly held by a PRC subsidiary —
iz 31 W i IR A R 4 )

Place of

incorporation

Proportion of

18. it — Il & & A SE Ry HE 1% - A

AL G A 220244 12023412
H31HWFEE T -

H v B o W] — R A R
REARARIEZNA

Proportion of

Name of joint venture and operation ownership interest voting power held Principal activity

w57 K A B it §§
aEMELWH 88 b HE 25 LL il % Ve HE Lo ol FEEY
2024 2024 2023
20244 20234 20244F 20234
FEREIEZ T IFH PRC 27.5%  27.5% 50% 50% Photovoltaic power

ARAFCMEZE)
H

* JEE BRAE BT BT AR VR AT IR A A acquired 50% of the equity

interest in 1 Z ) on 7 June 2023, at a consideration of

RMB200,000 being 50% of the paid-up capital.
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generation business
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

19. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT 19. & 2 P AR 5F A At 4 i W g
FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER f it B T H
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$°000

T# 5t T# 7T

Investment in unlisted equity securities JiISE SN B VR < 448 696
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s unlisted 2024512 31 H » A 4L B JF i ik
equity securities investment represents 19% (2023: A 5 PO S — T o B ST Y R
19%) equity interests in a private entity established B 2 19% (20234F 1 19%) I HE - # F
in the PRC. The directors had elected to designate CEBMEME TAKREREBILEL
this investment in equity instruments at FVTOCI. - E FEA A A2 T A o B 20244F
No dividend income was derived from the equity K20234F12 H31H IF4F > 5% Ik #E T
instrument during the years ended 31 December 2024 HAREEBRBWA - A FHEF &5

and 2023. Details of fair value measurement are set 1% O B 5E42 -
out in Note 42.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 20. B %E BLIH & (R 1K)
(LIABILITIES)
The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) AR IR AEBLIE G E S (BE) B
during the year are as follows: B
Fair value
change of
investment
properties/
excess
of fair value Accelerated tax
over cost of Unused  depreciation/
properties tax loss accounting
held for sale recognised  depreciation Total
TR MER B
AEEES,/

AR &% A8 T Bt 5

ff 2 {1 5y ¥ it/
WA 2 EH B Sk itk it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T Tk T Tk

At 1 January 2023 120351 H1H (30,432) - 429 (30,003)
Exchange realignment [ 50 9 % 644 — — 644
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss FIAES/(AEGIR) 6,305 723 (13) 7,015
At31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 12023412 4310 K 202441 A1H (23,483) 723 416 (22,344)
Exchange realignment e 58 9 % 648 32) — 616
Credit to profit or loss AR 8,301 262 - 8,563
At 31 December 2024 2024512310 (14,534) 953 416 (13,165)
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ 20 BEBIEEE (AF) - H
(LIABILITIES) — continued
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax VLR 2 75 B 85 W 3k B i 2 R A Bl JH
balance for financial reporting purposes: Lz b
2024 2023
20244F 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T
Deferred tax assets i 4 Bl JH E = 1,369 1,139
Deferred tax liabilities AU = (14,534) (23,483)
(13,165) (22,344)
21. INVENTORIES 21. + 8
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T T
Raw materials 5 M 32,926 36,979
Work in progress TE B 5,006 7,452
Finished goods R 84,737 95,619
122,669 140,050
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

22. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 22. FFEH B %
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 T oC
Properties held for sale HFEHEYE 299,154 350,459

Properties held for sale are located in the PRC.
Properties held for sale which are expected to be
recovered in more than twelve months after the end of
the reporting period are classified under current assets
as they are expected to be realised in the Group’s

normal operating cycle.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, properties
held for sale with carrying amount of approximately
HK$13,710,000 (2023: HK$29,356,000) were sold to
third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
impairment of HK$26,293,000 has been made

in respect of the properties held for sale as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s
properties held for sale with a net carrying
amount of approximately HK$43,341,000 (2023:
HK$44,889,000) were pledged to secure a bank loan
granted to a PRC subsidiary during the year (Note
31).
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A1 th B 3 G o o S
015 A 05 2 A i
S U VB o D L IO S A
5 T TE 9 4950000 2

M E2024F12H31H IEFE > IEWEL
513,710,000 % 7T (2023 4F : 29,356,000 &
T ZFEREYECHEE TE =0 -

| F2024%12H31H 1k 4 B> k2024
F12H3IHFEE & Y O b W E
26,293,000 JT (2023 4F : ) o

2024412 H31H > BRI OF H A &
43,341,000%5 JC (20234 : 44,889,000 5
T ZALELE TRELEYEC
A AEAFERNE T —H P g S
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

23. TRADE AND OTHER 23. ® 5 B 3 At R Wk E
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T 5o
Trade receivables 2 5 JRE I K T 65,184 84,058
Less: Allowance for impairment losses on ECL W TE WIS B R 0 R
BE M (19,731) (22,658)
45,453 61,400
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits At & Uit 3 IE ~ T8 AT 3E &
¥ 4 14,931 24,426
Amount due from a joint venture JRE Wi — ) 5 7 A 2 R KR 1,435 1,487
Amount due from an associate JE Wi — [ W 2 2 ) 1Y) 3K — 262
61,819 87,575
The following is an analysis of trade receivable net of N5 B S R R TE B TR B
allowance for expected credit losses by age, presented T8 7 M i IR IS ) 4 B0 A AT > AR P B
based on the invoice date, which approximates the FBEWEHERH AN SRR
respective revenue recognition date. Bl o
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T o
0-30 days 0Z30H 12,306 15,796
31-60 days 312 60H 9,449 13,310
61-180 days 61%E180H 19,252 27,580
181-365 days 181%365H 4,446 4,714
45,453 61,400
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

23. TRADE AND OTHER 23. ¥ 5 B 3 4t E Wk JH -

RECEIVABLES - continued

The Group generally allows a credit period of up to
120 days to its customers. A longer credit period may
be granted to large or long established customers with

good payment history.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an
internal credit control system to assess the potential
customers credit quality and the board of directors
has delegated management to be responsible for the
determination of credit limits and credit approvals
for customers. Limits attributed to customers are

reviewed periodically.

The Group’s management takes into consideration
of customers’ credit history, settlement patterns,
subsequent settlements, customers financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions and aging analysis of
trade receivables in determining the recoverability
of the overdue trade receivables. The directors of the
Company considered that the concentration of credit
risk is limited due to customer base being large and

unrelated.

As at 31 December 2024, following the assessment of
individual balances based on the Group’s historical
default experiences and the individual characteristics
of each customer including but not limited to
the aging profile and financial position together
with other forward looking factors, the Group has
reversed an impairment loss under ECL model of
approximately HK$1,137,000 (2023: HK$835,000) on

trade receivables for the year.
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AEH-HEEFHENGEENRZ
F120H > KR s JE 5 1K A BHAT 3R
BRI EFTERRENEEW -

AT MR E A A & aA N
R B S RS et £ & P
BHR #FEGICHRREMEEAR
i E BT AR B R KR B - S
HLE WA AT &5 i BR A

A 4R R B R T R E W 5 I
AR AT R & B EE S
ek~ AT S AR A5
HF 2 W B ARUL - 5 B IRy K T B R
KL R UL 2 7P Al L K 5 BRI 2
MR AT - ANFIERHR S BRE
J5 R E R S LA AR B - lf L B 4R
O A BR -

R20244E12 H31H - AR 8 A 4 @ B &
R RSB A5 R R R R (R
E S BR 7 B B B B BS R0 DA R A
il S e L 2 S e N SR
ARk B ) I ik TE 3 ] T A 4
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23. TRADE AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES - continued
As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s

trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$28,428,000
(2023: HK$43,088,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Included in the past due
balances of approximately HK$14,320,000 (2023:
HK$12,895,000) has been past due 90 days or more
and is not considered as in default based on good
repayment records for those customers and continuous
business with the Group. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management of the Group to ensure

relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits mainly

comprised of value-added tax recoverable.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the balance
of other receivables, prepayments and deposits was
approximately HK$2,331,000 (2023: HK$2,956,000)
prepaid to Guangdong Guguang Electric Power
Technology Co., Ltd.* (JEHRBCE TR ARA
A]) (“GGEP”). For the year ended 31 December 2024,
GGEP provided maintenance and construction works
to the Group for its photovoltaic power generation
projects and engineering and installation construction
for energy storage projects amounted to approximately
HK$15,724,000 (2023: HK$1,281,000). The ultimate
controlling shareholder of GGEP is Ms. Lin Qiongzan
(“Ms. Lin”), who is also a director of GGEP. Ms. Lin
is a substantial shareholder and a director of certain

PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

23. ® 5y B 3L fth JE Wi SR IH - A

R20244F12H31H - IR | OH A 5
28,428,000 JC (20234F : 43,088,000
T ZIRAKEFTAAREBZE 5 B
IE A Br > 2 R IE R A H I
W o HhA A &5 Bk 2 914,320,000 %5 JC
(20234F : 12,895,000 Jo) £ % 90 H
sl b A LSRR R Bk R IT
S B AN 4R [ RE A 2E RS A R T A R AE
EA o AR BT A S E
hal MREBABRSFCETAZ
I T AH B & R o

A JRE WCERIE BT BRIE MR e E
B4 AT i m] (B -

R20244F12 A31H » H fth M Wi 3K TH -
T AP BCE K 4 RS TE AT R H R
JeE R E A R A AR R B L E
J11) 2 3 IE £92,331,0005 JC (2023 4F -
2,956,00045 JT) ° At # 2024412 131
H 1k 4 B > 5 R B 7 A 4 1ok
K3 T H 4R AR S s AR - RU
Ko st fvt e TE H AR A3t TR B e S sk
A8 4 B A 515,724,000 JC (2023 4F ¢
1,281,000 J0) » J& Rt E ) 1 i
PR M B+ (TR L) »
HIBERBEEENNESR - Mo+
V=R NN 2o i R N BN e o 14
WL o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

24. LOAN RECEIVABLE FROM AN

24. JBE W — IR WGk 22 2 R B K

ASSOCIATE
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’°000 HK$°000
T o T o
Carrying amount at 31 December 12731 H 2 iR T (H — 7,268

The original loan amount of RMBI11,550,000 was
provided to & ¥ ¥k ¥ 3C{L in the financial year
ended 31 December 2019. In subsequent years and
up to 31 December 2023, accumulated provision
for impairment allowance of approximartely
RMB4,951,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,452,000) had been made in respect of this loan.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of this
loan was approximately RMB6,599,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,268,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, & #f 2k
% 3 {t has repaid RMB1,550,000 (equivalent to
HKS$1,648,000) to the Group and the Group has
confiscated the inventories of f# % Tk & X{t with
carrying amount of approximately RMB3,221,000
(equivalent to HK$3,493,000), which were pledged
to the Group as collaterals to the loan. In the opinion
of the management of the Group, & ¥k # 3 fb
would be unable to repay the remaining balance of
the loan to the Group and therefore further provision
of impairment allowance of the remaining balance
of approximately RMB1,828,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,982,000) was made in the current year. As at
31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the loan

receivable from P %% Bk B At was nil.

As disclosed in Note 17 to these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has disposed its entire
equity interest in f& ¥ Tk H Lk to independent
third parties in December 2024 for a consideration of

RMB2. Thereafter, f& % Bk ¥ 3CfL is no longer an

associate of the Company.
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# £ 20194F12H31H 1k B B4R BE > )
RERE bR EREREHE AR
#11,550,0007C o A H A% 4F E H %2023
12310 » B #% & 3K 25 E &
(B 4% 5 40 N R ¥4,951,00000 (FH & 7
#15,452,000%70) ° A20234F12H31H >
w2 88 3 R T E A A N R 6,599,000
JG (FH & 7 17,268,000 JC) ©

#E 2024 12 A 31 HIEF > fREF2E
B oofk o A L I AE R N RHE 1,550,000
It (AHE 1 1,648,000 # T ) > 1 A< 4E [
ER YR Bk E UL A & IR (E A A
¥ 3,221,000 70 (AH 5 i~ 3,493,000 s
J6) w4 B OAE A B FGEAT E AT
AR o ANFE R A MR ERE S
Al A% 21 g 1) A A2 (9 AR R R B R
A AR B 3 — 25 R WU 1A AN R
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25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

25. % o P {H 5F A R 45 0 B &

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR FE
LOSS
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T# T
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong Tk B AR 5 (M EE )

(Note (a)) 2,948 5,360
Investment in an unlisted fund (Note (b)) B Ik bl & (B 5E (b)) — 771
Derivative financial instruments (Note (c)) fir A= B4 B T (B 5 (o) 840 —

3,788 6,131
Listed equity Investment in Derivative
securities in an unlisted financial
Hong Kong fund  instruments
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) Total
Hil B BEFE B
JB 7% % 27 e MAEMBELR
(B 3E (a)) (P 3E (b)) ( &E (<) MGt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$ 000
T T T 7T T 7T T 7T
At 1 January 2023 #20234E1H1H 6,744 807 — 7,551
Changes in fair values recognised in R £ R R R A T

profit or loss HEH) (1,384) (36) — (1,420)
At 31 December 2023 and 20234124310 &

1 January 2024 2024%F1H1H 5,360 771 — 6,131
Additions wE — — 6,788 6,788
Disposal & (3,583) (679) — (4,262)
Changes in fair values recognised in R g5 N R A A T

profit or loss HaH 1,171 (92) (5,948) (4,869)
At 31 December 2024 #2024412H31H 2,948 — 840 3,788
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE 2024

12 H 31 HIEFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS - continued

Notes:

(@)

(b)
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Fair values of the listed equity securities investments as at
the reporting dates were determined based on the closing
prices as quoted on the Stock Exchange. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group sold certain listed equity
securities for approximately of HK$3,583,000 (2023: Nil)
and realised gain of approximately HK$903,000 (2023:
Nil). The realised gain was recognised as changes in fair
values of financial assets at fair value in the consolidated
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. At 31
December 2024, fair value gain of the remaining listed
equity securities of approximately HK$268,000 (2023: fair
value loss of approximately HK$1,384,000) was recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
received dividend from these listed equity securities
investments of approximately HK$165,000 (2023: of
approximately HK$164,000) (Note 6).

The unlisted fund represents investment in an unit-linked
insurance product. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group has disposed this unlisted fund for
approximately HK$679,000 and recognised loss of
approximately HK$92,000 in the consolidated profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Details of fair value
measurement are set out in Note 42.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into certain commodities future contracts
which could be settled net in cash with aggregated
carrying amount measured at fair value of approximately
HK$840,000 (2023: Nil). Details of fair value measurement
are set out in Note 42.

5. A
B —

Bt 3k

(b)

;ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ%%%ﬁ

EiiAESERERBRE BB -
{8 75 AR 9% Bt 52 Br i i i T A A
A2024%F12A31H 1k 4F ZK;‘F
3,583,000%5 JG (2023 4F « M) i B 45 F Ll
M AR 7 F 0 B 5 B IR 52 49903,00095 I
(20234F « 4) o 3% % B0 45 i 45 & 18 %
o At 4 T Ui 25 A HE RE B LA A 5 &
W) BE B & A T (H éJJ 2024412
31H » 8 N LT AR R 5 2 A (k4
#1268,000%5 JG (20234F © 28 T {H K B 4
1,384,0005 J0) it 45 & 48 %5 S o fh A 1
Wi 25 HEE R o

B

SN
—-

P

Py

HE2024F12H3IHILFE - AE@HHH
T R AR R R R B B R A9165,000 %
JC (20234F : £9164,0003 70) (Bff 556) °

IE LT B A A R L A R B A AR
B oo B E 202412 H31H 1L > AR EE
LA #1679,000% o0 B 3% I BT A4 o I
AR A 1R o S H A T 0k 4R TE B R 1R A0
92,000%5 I o 2 {8 5 & 5 1 R 5k
42 o

BE20244F 12 A31H 1L 4EE > A £ B 5T 57
%JFT‘“UiE%Z%”EZ*%E@PE%EHﬁ%
# > B T AR N T {H B 2 4Y £5840,000
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27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

RESTRICTED DEPOSIT 6. 32 PR il 17 3
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
T-# 0 T oo
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 331 H i RE 1 {5 2,413 —

The balance was placed with a licensed corporation
registered under the Securities and Futures
Commission and a future company in the PRC. As
at 31 December 2024, the balance was represented
by the initial margin required to be placed with the
licensed corporation and the future company for
the Group’s open position of derivative financial
instruments as of that date (2023: Nil). Details of the
derivative financial instruments are set out in Note

25(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS/
BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (*RMB”)
amounted to approximately HK$19,106,000 (2023:
HK$49,860,000). RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies and the remittance of funds out of

the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed
by the PRC Government.

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market
rates ranged from 0.25% to 0.50% (2023: 0.625% to
0.875%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

Bank deposits are denominated in HK$ and United
States Dollar (US$), with an original maturity
between four to twelve months carry interests at
market rates ranged from 3.98% to 5.50% (2023:
3.60% to 5.50%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

27.

Mm%ﬁmﬂ~%ﬁ MK E
WERZEGHEMWREEEE L —XK
LM@#IM%%@‘? *20244F12 1
31H » &M AAELEBEZAW
e M TR KRG ER S EHAARE
JE 5 ) e A BN R W B R B 4 (2023
M) o T AR BEBS LB SR R
LA B HRR M RE25(0) -

ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁ%{ﬁ%/ﬁﬁﬁf

mk

R20244F12H31H » A £ FH LA R ¥
(TN R 5HE rY B 4 K SR AT &5 B 40
$519,106,0004 T (20234F : 49,860,000
T A%%TTEEE?@EEWJ
s > FLAE A R A ZH ST R R
B R B it ) A1 B B 7

2024512 H31H > 4R 47 &5 8 )9 4% Bl
7T 85 4 ) #0.25% £0.50% (20234 :
HEF] F0.625% £0.875%) 7FE. o

202412 H31H > SR AT A7 A UL oo
KEHXTETDFHE > REIHANF
M2\ T S AR %23.98% &
5.50% w1 & (2023 4F : 3.60% %.5.50%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. ¥ o B I Ath JE Ak K JH

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#n T# T

Trade payables 5 5 A 3O 28,388 32,481
Accruals and other payables JRE St R T e Al B A KOIE 17,248 24,029
45,636 56,510

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on invoice date at the end of each

BA%EXJ’“%&? H 2 51 1 E 5 e S
SKCIFFO IR B 49 A -

year:
2024 2023
2024 4F 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T T
0-60 days 0%60H 10,671 13,616
61-90 days 61%E90H 1,798 3,556
Over 90 days 90H DL E 15,919 15,309
28,388 32,481

Accruals and other payables mainly consist of payable
of staff salaries and benefits.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the balance
of accruals and other payables was approximately
HK$86,000 (2023: Nil) payable to Guangdong
Guguang New Energy Co., Ltd.* (J& R 6 Hr e
U8 A B A Fl) (“GGNE”). For the year ended 31
December 2024, GGNE provided construction works
to the Group for its photovoltaic power generation
projects and engineering and installation construction
for energy storage projects amounted to approximately
HK$9,884,000 (2023: Nil). The ultimate controlling
shareholder of GGNE is Ms. Lin Qiongzan (“Ms.
Lin”), who is also a director of GGNE. Ms. Lin is a
substantial shareholder and a director of certain PRC

subsidiaries of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. & #) B
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$°000
T# 5t Tt
Property business LESE S0 4,143 4,055
Jewellery business WHEEH 986 —
5,129 4,055
The Group receives deposits from customers when AL R B AT EE E W ek BN
the sale and purchase agreements are signed for WRE R RT R O F 7 & - %%
properties or on placing purchase orders for jewellery. EAREMEPNEER 2 GHAR B
The deposits give rise to contract liabilities being R F AT 3 SR 2 P A RE B
recognised throughout the period until the customers 15 BT R A 10 R RE S o
obtained the controls over the ownerships or gain
physical possessions of the properties or the jewellery.
The movement of contract liabilities during the year FENGHABREBH T
is as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # oo T T
At 1 January r1H1H 4,055 7,398
Revenue recognised that was included in the 7 AAE¥I & & A & 19 T #E &2
contract liabilities at beginning of the year I A (4,055) (7,398)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of A AR NI P A A
receipts of customer deposits during the HECE AR
year 5,129 4,055
At 31 December #12H31H 5,129 4,055
Contract liabilities at 31 December 2024 are expected R20244F12H31H 19 & £ & & 7 51 i
to be settled within a year when the controls over the s ) 3 BT A RE BCE B AG A Y 4 D RE
ownerships or physical possessions of the properties CHBTEFREZE - FRNEH -

have been transferred to the customers.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. H B A fH
2024 2023
20244 20234

Present Present

Total value of the Total  value of the

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments

BASALE  RAGEEE  RAEEE REE
PRI MBI MKARE RoRE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000

Tt Fww T TG

Within one year — AR 3,581 3,035 70 35
Within a period of more —AE R AW AN
than one year but not 1 ]
more than two years 3,581 3,252 70 36
Within a period of more A & AR AR A
than two years but not 19 1]
more than five years 2,622 2,431 190 108
More than five years AR 1,372 1,063 1,004 764
11,156 9,781 1,334 943
Less: total future interest R : R AR R B S
expenses 4 %E (1,375) (391)
Present value of lease liabilities & & f& 3 (H 9,781 943
Less: Portion classified as AR 2 B T R
current (3,035) (35)
Non-current portion i B 7 4y 6,746 908
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates LB A £ Ir B7 ) 2 36 & A 3OR] 2R i R
applied to lease liabilities range from 3.70% to 7.00% T A T B F3.70% F£7.00% (2023
(2023: range from 3.70% to 5.13%) per annum. A T3.70% £5.13%) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

31. BANK LOANS

31. AT H X

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$°000
T# 5t T o
The carrying amount of bank loans AT B AR TS A
containing a repayment on demand clause e SR E R e K (B A
(shown under current liabilities) but B A ) H LR 5 =
repayable as follows: i %
Within one year —4E R 31,901 17,201
Within a period of more than one year but — R
not exceeding two years T 4F ) TH] — 6,187
Within a period of more than two years but Wi 4F 15 {H A 4 i
not exceeding five years TLAF W [H] — 1,641
31,901 25,029

The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans are secured

ASE MR FHE MRAT B CE B LT Oy

by ways of the following: 32 9 £

(@) pledge over the Group’s properties held for () L iR2024%F12H31H W) BE I 48
sale which had an aggregate carrying value B #) /543,341,000 JC (20234F :
of approximately HK$43,341,000 as at 31 44,889,000%% JT) Z 7 4 [ 5 AF
December 2024 (2023: HK$44,889,000). (R 7/E X (iU

(b) pledge over the Group’s property, plant and (b)  LAIR2024%F12 H31H 114 B T A8 (EL 47
equipment which had an aggregate carrying F54,401,0009 JC (20234F : 4,558,000
value of approximately HK$4,401,000 as at 31 T 2 ALY ¥ E MK
December 2024 (2023: HK$4,558,000). FEVEHEHR o

() Guaranteed by a PRC subsidiary for an amount (© M —FK B Mg AR AR

of RMB45,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$47,851,000). Such guarantee will be
released by banks upon full repayment of the

loans.

45,000,000 7T (48 & it 147,851,000
W T) B & AR B AR - A BIE
PR A B3R A U R R B R AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

31. BANK LOANS — continued 31. RIT B -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank loans
contain a repayment on demand clause and carry
variable interest rate ranging from 3.10% to 3.70%
(2023: 3.70% to 7.87%) per annum.

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to
the fulfilment of covenants. Some of those relating
to the Group’s financial metrics which are tested
periodically, as are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants the related loans
would become payable on demand. The Group did
not identify any difficulties complying with the
covenants. As at 31 December 2024, none of the
covenants relating to drawn down facilities has been

breached (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. I A
2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tt T
Authorised: e
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of one 3,000,000,000 % &5 % i {H
third Hong Kong cent each (2023: =y Al 22
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of one (20234F : 3,000,000,000
third Hong Kong cent each) % 4 BT (E = 2 — i
il 2 % 28 i A7) 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: ELEEAT MBI
1,336,245,000 ordinary shares of one 1,336,245,000 f% 45 % T {E
third Hong Kong cent each (2023: A2 — Al 2 Ay
1,341,009,000 ordinary shares of one (20234F : 1,341,009,000
third Hong Kong cent each) % 4 B THE = 2 — i
il 2 3 8 1% 13 4,454 4,470

The movements in the Company’s share capital for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as

B 220245 % 20234F12 H31H 1E4F B
KNE Z A BB MT -

follows:
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
¥ ik WH & 3 i T
HK$’000
T# o
Authorised: g
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 202341 H1H ~ 2023412
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 H31H ~ 202441 11H K&
2024412 H31H 3,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: T AT KA
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 22023 4F1H1H ~ 20234F12
1 January 2024 H31H ) 202441 H1H 1,341,009,000 4,470
Repurchase and cancellation of shares T A B[] J% G 8 (4,764,000) (16)
At 31 December 2024 2024412 H31H 1,336,245,000 4,454
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

32. SHARE CAPITAL - continued 32. g A — #
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the B 2024412310 1F 4 & A LA
Company purchased 4,764,000 in aggregate of its A W 22 B A 3 A Hi 4,764,000 % H B
own shares on the Stock Exchange as follows: Bty > sEE T

Number Highest price Lowest price
of shares paid per paid per  Aggregate

Month/year repurchased share share  price paid
C I [l FRC A it © A o A
%/R e 4 % H B v L B A% R % fE 1% 480
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
# 70 T T#
April 2024 202444 A 1,170,000 0.188 0.188 220
April 2024 202444 417,000 0.195 0.195 81
August 2024 202448 J] 729,000 0.188 0.187 137
September 2024 20244F9 1 195,000 0.180 0.178 35
September 2024 2024491 123,000 0.184 0.183 23
September 2024 2024491 243,000 0.184 0.184 45
September 2024 20244F9 1 300,000 0.190 0.190 57
October 2024 2024410 222,000 0.194 0.194 43
October 2024 20245101 69,000 0.196 0.195 13
October 2024 2024410 231,000 0.200 0.200 46
October 2024 2024410 450,000 0.192 0.192 86
October 2024 20245101 183,000 0.187 0.186 34
October 2024 2024410 432,000 0.188 0.187 81
4,764,000 901
The total amount paid on the repurchased shares of |l B 19 2 A 88 B £9901,000% T
was approximately HK$901,000 (2023: Nil). (20234 : ) -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were B 2 20244F12H31H 1L 4F > I E
no issued and repayments of debt and equity securities BEAT BB IR AR B I AR 7 55 (2023 4F -
(2023: Nil). ) o
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 14
December 2015, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme was valid for a period of 10 years

commencing on 14 December 2015.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the

Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the directors of
the Company may, at its discretion, grant options
to subscribe for shares in the Company to eligible
participants (Eligible Participants) who contribute
to the long-term growth and profitability of
the Company. Eligible Participants include (i)
any employee (whether full-time or part-time
including any executive director but excluding any
non-executive director) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity (Invested Entity) in which
any member of the Group holds an equity interest; (ii)
any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any adviser
(professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area
of business or business development of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any
other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the

development and growth of the Group.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

33. VAt =2 £+ sk JH

R4 7R A A iR 2015412 14 H % 8 1
TR E L AN A D R RE
T ) (7B B 5 30 ) o W% B HE 51 81 i
20154E12 14 H M 5HA B104E -

Sl IS HE ) 2 AR A AR 4R B AT LA 1
TRt 2 2 BB T I CHE > DL BR
S Wy SF A S BT AR E R -

R 5 1 i ) o AR N FDEE R REDR
SE 0] 2y AR N F) 2 R R R R B R R

FEHERMZEERSZHE(FEKS
B35 )) % T 0T R B AR N A Ay 2 B R
M AEMSHEELRE  OAAA
HCAT AT B 8§ 2 ) =K i AR 4R EAT AT R B
NEVFE A B HE S AT E (TR
HH ) 2 AT TR B (4 5 2 0 o Fe ik -
AT AT HAT S W RS I AT
#H) i) AN A HAT ] K E A A
AT TR G E M E AT HEH (1
5 98 S0 JE AT E ) 5 (i) A 4 E AT T
WMEAFRSAL R EEWE AL MEY
ol R 55 116 T 7 5 Giv) AS 4 AT ] i B A
AT E BB ZAMBER: V5
A% 48 EATA] R B 4 7 ST ] 32
P HE B AT - BA B B 4 il S 4R 2 AT
fap {8 N\ B R B (vi) AS 4R AT T B A
A S AT o] 5 & B 2 AT AT B R s sk
A AR AT AT B B 2\ ST ] 4
B8 T B AT 2 AT ] 7 R 2 AT A N £
(vii) A AT 1] A 46 [ AT o] B & 28 &) 84T
o £ & B S AT AT 3 B DA ol 26 9t
JE R R N (B2 A e HAth) 5K
B Reii) B A EMNE - EBY
5 At 7 3 2 P i A 4 1 2 g R
AR R A R T e AR E R 2 AT
fa] o Ath 25 B 25 A1 A mk 4 A o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — 33. DA 2 A°F sk JE — 28

continued

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under this scheme and any other
share option schemes adopted by the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in

issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under this scheme and any other share option of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant

resolution adopting this scheme.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5,000,000, within any twelve-month
period, are subject to sharcholders’ approval in

advance in a general meeting.
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS -

continued

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors of
the Company, save that such period shall not be
more than ten years from the date of the offer of
the share options, subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme.
Unless otherwise determined by the directors at
their absolute discretion, there is no requirement of
a minimum period for which an option must be held
before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is
no performance target which must be achieved before

any of the options can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors of the Company, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer
of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s

shares on the date of the offer.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

33. VA A S A K I - A

152t M I HE 2 B A AT R 2 A H O 21 H
A R 3N LA T T 2 4 38 A
fE AR o P % i I TS HE 2 A i 0 e A
O FEE S PLE 5 M A B I BCRE H
A FE o SRR AR 3l JH 52
w1 T AR 2 B A L R O S T R A
B I Fh A HE T B E 7 U
Sl d B dx b JH FR R R A 2
IR BR 4 A A7 6 - b Ah o O JE AR S JH
O AR R B AR 4G AT AT

W RE 2 AT At A A A 8 g
e BB AR S DA R 2 f A () 7E R
B4 H AR 2 w0 A B 28 I 22 ik
T8 5 (i) 7F 5540 I B 22 40 H W R A
1 7% 2 BN AR 2 &) 0 7 B 58 BT 2
Il i 5 K (i) 78 B2 40 H AR 2 A\ R
iy 2 T A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - 33. VLI Ay X Ak sk0E - 4
continued
A summary of movements of the outstanding share R TARRNF G EWKS WG L%
options granted to and held by the Company’s Eligible R A i AR AT (0 I e 2 5 AN
Participants:

Number of share options

Ji 1B H
Outstanding at Outstanding at
1 January Lapsed during 31 December Adjusted
Date of grant 2024 the year 2024  exercise price
120244 120244
1A1H 12/131H i
B HH WAGHE  FREKK i A AT B fr B
’000 ’000 ’000 HK$
T4 T4 T # 7T
Directors i 31.5.2017 2,835 (2,835) — 1.07
Other eligible persons HinhEw A+ 31.5.2017 8,572 (8,572) — 1.07
Total At 11,407 (11,407) —

Number of share options

W R H
Outstanding at Outstanding at
1 January  Lapsed during 31 December Adjusted
Date of grant 2023 the year 2023 exercise price
1£20234F 120234
1A1H 12A31H AL
R WA  FREEM W R AT it
’000 ’000 ’000 HK$
T T T4 HEp
Directors EE 315.2017 5,670 (2,835) 2,835 1.07
Other eligible persons HibaERAL 31.5.2017 17,145 (8,573) 8,572 1.07
Total At 22,815 (11,408) 11,407
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS -

continued

No share options were granted or exercised during
both years. The share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme are exercisable commencing from
31 May 2018 to 30 May 2024 (both dates inclusive)
for the first tranche (“Tranche 17) and from 31 May
2019 to 30 May 2024 (both dates inclusive) for the
second tranche (“Tranche 27). The closing price of the
Company’s shares immediately before 31 May 2017,
the date on which the share options were granted was
HK$1.07 after the effect of the share subdivision on
13 September 2017. For Tranche 1, the fair values of
the share options determined at the dates of grant
using the binomial model for share options granted to
directors of the Company and other eligible persons
were HK$0.37 and HK$0.36, respectively after the
effect of share subdivision. For Tranche 2, the fair
values of the share options determined at the dates
of grant using the binomial model for share options
granted to directors of the Company and other eligible
persons were HK$0.42 and HKS$0.41, respectively

after the effect of share subdivision.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

33. VA A S A K I - A

T AR A R DA AR 42 o AT (O R o
R 4% A & ) T 2 1 2 B TR
55 — b I I HE (T35 — it 1) T H120184F5
H31H #2024 F5H30H (BiEEREMH)
A7 > T EE R RE (T4 — 4t )) w]
H20194F5H31H £2024%5H30H (£ 15
HREMHE) AT o AN AR R B
20174Fs H31H (BD M i #E #2 B 89) /i
Z W E A51.07 % o0 (R iR 20174F9H
13H B 3R 4l 2 52 2 4%) o 5 — it
Mma > i AR ER TAL
A R Hh A B AR N 2 R RE R
P H W 2 W 8 RE A 7 (B 4 Bl £50.37
W 6 £0.36%s Jo (5T X I 0 ik 4 2 52
) o WL M E > A E R
BRI I TA N A E R R MG E
k&N 2z B I HE P B2 s BB 2 W I RE
I8 AE 4 B By 0.429 I8 K0.417 T (5
KR A 2 R BAR) -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS — 33. DA 2 A°F sk JE — 28

continued

The following assumptions were used to calculate the

fair values of the share options:

PATF 2wt 5 3 RO HE 2 - P ) 2 R

2L .
AX -

Tranche 1 Tranche 2
it 5B ik

Grant date 31 May 2017 31 May 2017
% H 201745 H31H 201745431 H
Grant date share price (adjusted) HK$1.07 HK$1.07
2 ) AR (8 ) 1.07# 70 1.07# 70
Exercise Price HK$1.07 HK$1.07
A7 A 1.07# 70 1.07# 7T
Expected Life 6 years 7 years
T w4 64 74
Expected Volatility 52% 53%
At
Dividend Yield 1.87% 1.87%
Jik B 2%
Risk-free interest Rate 1.00% 1.06%
e a1 By A1) A
Early exercise multiple (Directors) 180% 180%
& AT A B ()
Early exercise multiple (Other eligible persons) 120% 120%

$RFAT O B (LA & B AR A T

The valuations were carried out by independent
and qualified professional valuer, which were not
connected with the Group. The binomial model had
been used to estimate the fair value of the options.
The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options were based on the
independent and qualified professional valuer’s best
estimate. Changes in variables and assumptions might

result in changes in the fair value of the options.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 11,407,500
shares options with fair value of approximately
HK$4,705,000 were lapsed (2023: 11,407,500 shares
option with fair value of approximately HK$4,145,000

were lapsed).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

SCHEME
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries or up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 and they can choose to make
additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(the mandatory contributions). The employees
are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65,

death or total incapacity.

The employees of the Group’s factory and offices in
the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit plan operated by the government of the PRC.
The Group are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan

is to make the specified contributions.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

34. 38 It 15 A 5t

95 it

EE SN R SO R A o
o A9 28 A S A R i B IR AR
A A st B (790 < wt #01) o AR R 9 B
Gt # o R B ZEAE A AR R H 5%
2 i 21,5009 70 1Y 6 30> 1 45 I AT A
FEAE BN K o B A A P R
e B A #r 195% 8% i 21,500 T (52 il
PEAE RO wHE o B BT R 6B K - B
B B 58 4 12 Ok T AR RE U1 I 15100%
(Y 1 = o il 4 kKo

A AR T R B TR SRR 9 U B 2
Fh I R 2 AR 1 [ 5 B AR AR A A
AP o AN SR B JH % B AR B E
3 L 1] AR AR AR AL EAE EER RAA
e R I o AR 2R I A B AR IR AR A
at & G E — SUAT A R E ke
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 34. Bk A 5B - A

SCHEME - continued
LSP Obligation

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to
LSP in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance under certain circumstances. These
circumstances include where an employee is dismissed
for reasons other than serious misconduct or
redundancy, that employee resigns at the age of 65 or
above, or the employment contract is of fixed term
and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP
payable is determined with reference to the employee’s
final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per
employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP

obligation.

In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR
gazetted the Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”)
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived
from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to
offset severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”).
The Abolition will officially take effect on 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead
of the date of termination of employment) is used
to calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the

employment period before the Transition Date.

286 Petfect Group International Holdings Limited {7842 5] |5 B2 1B A PR 7]

= W B & | AL

AR 45 A S 0B R e ] > FEREEIEDLT o
HEZRBREDVDHFENEERE B A MEE
BERE G- BHENE: EA
(Rl B H AT A O 5 3% B LA Y i ]
fift 48 5 1B B 765K B LA b IRF B R > Bk
BEEMEHGAHTHEH > WK
AHEE BEXMTHERESFES R
fE 8 & 1% 35 & (F R 522,500 J0)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

SCHEME - continued
LSP Obligation — continued

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective of the
contributions made before, on or after the Transition
Date) to reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s
service from the Transition Date. However, where
an employee’s employment commenced before the
Transition Date, the employer can continue to use the
above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect
of the employee’s service up to that date; in addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition

Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting

mechanism and its abolition as disclosed above.

The Group has determined that the Amendment
Ordinance primarily impacts the Group’s LSP liability
with respect to Hong Kong employees.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

34. 38 I 15 A w0 - 4

RN % & 85 FE - 8

b — ELBE BR K B 0 ) A R0 B
B AN RE 1 L3R 1 o A < R Bk P EE AR
9 A fo 2 55 HE 28 O i = 7E B ) H 3
AT EH B AR AR A0 > e
R B ) R R IR B A = 0 IR
B oo SR i R B R B H AT
PG 2 I8 - JUIE ErT AR A UL B ok 25
fE 2 11 918 B £ W) A A A IR B A
R B 4 o BLAh - A B AT
i R B B = R B R AR R R B AE
S SINER N IR NS AR
19 Ml B 4F 9 5t A

ZE SN N e g R R
HCBE bR AEAT T8l E PR

AEHOHEBR R EZBBALE
P R B R IR B & ) AT -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

34. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 34. 3B kR sl -
SCHEME - continued
LSP Obligation — continued S o W N |
The present value of unfunded obligations and its {3 EAT B S s E

movements are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
At 1 January RIATH 898 898
Current service cost IR B A 141 —
Interest cost FIE A 33 —
At 31 December 12H31H 1,072 898
The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31 2024412 H31H > 48 Fl AL 19 1
December 2024 is 24 years (2023: 25 years). HABR B 244 (20234F : 254F) o
The current service cost and the net interest expense AN IR TS AR B R S B ST i AR ET
for the year are included in the employee benefits AR AR B 48 A B (% & &
expenses in profit or loss (where the analysis of T H At 2 T U 25 R HE #2 F A9 BA 52
expenditure in the consolidated statement of profit e Ve 3 07) o IR AE R B X AE
or loss and other comprehensive income/statement of A& 5B AT 5 £9174,0005 7C (2023
profit or loss is by nature). Of the expenses for the B ) ERIFAATEB X »
year, a provision of defined benefit plan obligations
of approximately HK$174,000 (2023: Nil) has been
included in administrative expenses.
The above expenses are included in the employee bRl B S B R AR A A TN 4 R A Y
benefits expenses in the consolidated statement of & & f& A B 3 (B 5E10) « A A A #E F
comprehensive income (Note 10). In the opinion of Why o MERMRE & B EE K

the directors of the Company, there is no significant K FAR X o
actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
LSP obligation.
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35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 1 April 2024, Perfect Jewellery (China) Co.
Limited (“Perfect Jewellery (China)”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a disposal agreement (the “Agreement”) with
Foshan Yingfu Technology Co., Led.* (LU & &
Bl H MR AF) (“Foshan Yingfu Technology”), an
independent third party, in relation to the disposal
of the 100% equity interests in Foshan Huaguanhui
Property Management Ltd.* (b Ll T 3 e i ) 2
H M A R A A) (“Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management”), which was principally engaged in the
property management business for a consideration
of approximately RMB3,670,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,958,000) (the “Disposal of
Foshan Huaguanhui Property Management”).
The Disposal of Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management was completed in April 2024 and since
then Foshan Huaguanhui Property Management
ceased to be an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Foshan Huaguanhui Property
Management’s financial results will no longer be
consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

35. & — [l B & 2 ¥l

R20244F4H1H > R BRE P E)
BRAR((RERECRER)] ARXFZ
] B2 4 G Mt 8§ 2 A)) B T B = Oy %
W & w B A R AR (L H & s
BE4E D) w1 8 W sk (T sk ) > W%
A B A E & N R %3,670,0007C (F1
B #13,958,0005 J6) H B i B 1L T
e ud B ) 24 PR A PR A ([ 1 2
BEYE] FTEREWETRER D
A B HE ([ 65 b 1L 3 e BEE 9 45 ) o
o B ik 1L 2 O RE P 4 © R 2024 4F 4 H
SERL o b L FE O FE A A A S T AR
AT Z A E WA E > Rl #E
TIEWE 2 M EAMABHEAA
WA R H 456 W B ok o

HK$°000
T#n
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents Bl K Bla % HY C o E 3,958
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY -

continued

Analysis of assets and liabilities of the

35. & — [l FfH & 2 ) - 4

2 2% 5 i BE ARG B R 2 WD RGO

subsidiary in which the control was lost B AfE
HK$’000
T # ot
Trade receivables 2 5 M W R IR 1,314
Other receivables HCAth, 18 o 3R H 475
Cash and cash equivalents B R B S EY) 1,561
Accruals and other payables JRE T 2 B At A 3RIH (2,145)
Contract liabilities GHAE (74)
Net assets disposed of B 1,131
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 8 — [ BB 2 WM A
HK$’000
T # ot
Net assets disposed of A A E (1,131)
Consideration received SR 3,958
Gain on disposal B i 4 2,827

The gain on disposal of a subsidiary is included in
“Other gains and losses, net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

A — T B 2wl AR EEA AR S R 4R
Lo FC A 2 T A 2 A TOH A Ui 48 2% s
R -
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY - 35. i & — [ B 2 W] - M
continued
Net cash inflow on disposal of a 8 — [ B B 2 v AR 0 R B
subsidiary WA
HK$’000
T # oo
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents Bl K B4 55 ) B o 3,958
Less: cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary AR R O /AT
disposed of e EEY (1,561)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the A — [ 8 R B

disposal of a subsidiary B 4 55 W) R A 2,397
* The English name of the company established in the PRC * Ji B R AL Y 2 Y B S04 A A A P
represent management’s translation of the Chinese name of AR PR Eh2E .

such company for information purpose only.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

36. RELATED PARTY 36. BB TR B
TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in VR 5% 5 5 6 BF 15 i R A 3 40 5 Al
these consolidated financial statements, the Group 28 55 B > 7 B2 1 s AR A B IR T 7
had the following transactions with related parties T 5

during the year:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T#5x T T
Sales of jewellery products to 1] — [H] e 7 2 ) B B R
an associate (before its disposal) 7 i O H o B ) 23 117
Transactions with subsidiaries or related B AR 0 F) — 44 #5351 1) B
companies controlled by a director of the J& 2 F) BB s mDAE AT Y
Company as follows: LHWE
Acquisition of 55% of equity interest of a Wi i — ] B g 2 ®] 2 55%
subsidiary i — 7,763
Rental payments for short-term leases A B A B A A S A
— Land and building* — S 2,210 3,720
— Motor vehicles R H 1,326 2,172
3,536 5,892
Lease payments for right-of-use assets AT R RE A O AR R A K
— Land and building* — b R 1,450 —
Rental income el A — 4
Property management fee income WEE MBI A — 13
Operating lease commitments related to short- A Bl %2 191 0 15 19 58 & 70 1%
term lease as follows: RE MR
Land and building* + b Ko 5
— Within 1 year —15ER — 2,210
Motor vehicles R
— Within 1 year —15ER 240 2,172
* The land and building are rented from a related company, * T BTy — E BB AR

which is indirectly wholly owned by a director of the

Company.
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

36. RELATED PARTY 36. B Wi J5 32 5 - M
TRANSACTIONS - continued
Key management personnel include directors of the T M A B AN A W E LA
Company and other senior management of the Group. A2 18 1 FC At v AR B RE o TR 4R N E AT
The remuneration paid or payable during the years A 7 I A

are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T ¥ 50 T T
Short-term benefits FoR iRl 9,168 9,228
Post-employment benefits il 1 1% A 63 75
9,231 9,303
The remuneration of key management personnel is FEEMABTFMb AN EME2
determined by the management of the Company EACPNE STV SRR kY S

having regard to the performance of individuals and

market trends.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
guarantees of approximately RMB2,778,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,954,000) (2023:
approximately RMB60,219,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$66,321,000)) to facilitate mortgage
bank loan applications of the purchasers of the
properties which were developed by the Group. Such
guarantees will be released by banks upon delivery
of the properties to the purchasers and completion of
registration of the relevant mortgage properties. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant at
initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the
inception of the guarantee contracts and at the end
of the reporting periods as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

37. SR AR

202412 H31H > A EEFE LA AR
#52,778,0007T (FHE i~ 42,954,000 45 7T)
(20234F : £ N R %60,219,0007T (4 &
i #166,321,000% 70)) 1E & & £ > {2 fif
A TR E 2 BRI AT
WK BITHRMEZMNTHEHEK
HOA B 18 4 2 % w0 T 4 o8 R R 8
BEUSEERE  EFRBLE > AL
) RO N RN SR (- NI G T
WA K ERERBLIW AT RN
Al RE AR /N o BRI > 1A 20244 52023
FE12H31H > FEER G X B I Kb
0[] A oR IR I R E RRAT AT (B M -

38. A K

TR IR > AR HA LR EARE -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # oo T ¥ 7T
Contracted for, but not provided for: EHEOREE L
Plant and machinery Wi 7 B % i 6,912 606
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, all of which are
limited liability companies, at 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

39. A 2w [t 8 2 B 0 F I

FA20244F } 2023412 H31H » AN AR
Mg A F (B BFRARD) FERB T :

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered and issued capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries operations paid-up capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
RE MR 3L/ CHTRSE A/ ARTFFRCRTRA/
M1 24 ) % REf /A it ¢ A2 e A i A £ B FEEH
2024 2023 Directly Indirectly
2024% 20035 H#% I #%
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 203 20244 2037
% % % %
Perfect Group International ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - — 100 100 Designing, manufacturing
Holdings (HK) Limited HK$10,000,001 HK$10,000,001 and exporting of fine
jewellery
REEMABLER () A T i et W R ORE
AR 10,000,001 7 10,000,001 ¢ %H
Perfect Group China Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - — 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings (HK) Limited HK$10,000 HK$10,000
it 3 e L fgseidl
10,0003 7 10,0004 7
Perfect Group China Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - — 100 100 Investment holding
Investment (HK) HK$10,000 HK$10,000
Limited
it 3 e L fgseidl
10,0003 7 10,0004 7
DMCC (HK) Investment ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - — 100 100 Investment holding
Limited (DMCC(HK)) HK$100,000 HKS$100,000
(Note 1)
(i &k i 3 e L fgseidl
100,000 75 100,000 7
ERREGHEEE PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Property development
WEH R US$$30,000,000 US$30,000,000
i e A AL A ES 33
30,000,0005% & 30,000,0005 7T
RETKE (R PRC Registered capital Registered capital — - 100 100 Retailing of fine jewellery
AR U$$10,000,000 US$10,000,000
i LRI EALEES FTHEEERY

10,000,000% 7 10,000,000 7t
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY - continued

39. A 2w Mt & 2 B 0 5E N - A

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered and issued capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries operations paid-up capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR L/ CHIREER A/ AT CRITRA
W 25 4 7R it/ ok % A2 e A M B A FEEH
2024 2023 Directly Indirectly
20244 20235 H#% fi %
2024 2023 2024 2023
0244 2023 20245 201
% % % %
MTEEEREDE  PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Property management
ERARAA RMBS500,000 RMB500,000
k| i e A kM e A WEER
ARH500,0008 AR 500,007
JERES R E PRC Registered capital Registered capital - — 74.67 61 Manufacturing of the
AR RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 jewellery
i ik B A it M e A %Y
AR 10,000,007 A K 10,000,0007
T 2 47 3 7 SR PRC Registered capital Registered capital - - 100 100 Investment holding
HIRAHA RMB1,000,000 RMBI,000,000
i k¢ A A M A fhEnR
AR H1,000,00008 AR H1,000,0007
Perfect Group International ~ BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 — —  Investment holding
Holdings Limited 1S$10,000 US$10,000
ik 8 48 B £ KBELRE i i gL el
HIRAH 10,0003 0 10,0005 7T
Perfect Group China BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 — —  Investment holding
Holdings (BVI) Limited US$10,000 US$10,000
ERECHE i i feE
10,0003 10 10,0005 7T
Perfect Group China BVI Ordinary shares Ordinary shares 100 100 — —  Investment holding
Investment Limited US$10,000 US$10,000
KBELARE 1 LR fhEnR
10,0005 76 10,0005 7
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery  Dubai Ordinary shares Ordinary shares — — 100 100 Retailing of fine jewellery,
DMCC DIRHAM50,000 DIRHAMS50,000 logistics and marketing
(Note 1) activities
(I 3E1) ks Tk L@ TEREKE MR
50,000 4 50,0004 i 1 BHED
IR 0 1 g PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 60 60 Retailing of fine jewellery
AR+ RMBS,000,000 RMBS, 000,000
k| i e A ik M e A TERERY
AR H5,000,0007 A EH5,000,0007
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. KAHEM B AFRFER - 8

OF THE COMPANY - continued

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ capital/registered and issued capital/registered
Name of subsidiaries operations paid-up capital capital held by the Company Principal activities
AL/ CRITR AR A/ AR R LRI A/
W R 2+ ) 44 7R iE M/ o ¢ 42 e A M B A £ B FREH
2024 2023 Directly Indirectly
20244 2034 H% fi #%
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2003%F 20245 20035
% % % %
MumEEEREDE  PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 100 100 Property management
FRARA A RMB500,000 RMB500,000
H it e A A MEEH
ARH500,000% AR HS00,0007
1Ly R PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — - 100 Property management
AR/ ) e(Note 35) RMB500,000 RMB500,000
([ 7E3) i F M A AL A MEER
AR¥500,000% A RES00,0007
A BB A AR PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 55 55 Photovoltaic power
(Note 2) RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 generation business
(f3E2) i ¢ A AL e B R
AR 10,000,000 AR 10,000,007
B RBHE () PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 55 55 Photovoltaic power
H R 7 (Note 2) RMB5,000,000 RMBS5,000,000 generation business
(3 2) HE it e A EALYES BT ESR
A BH5,000,0007 AR 5,000,000
MR SHERARAF: PRC Registered capital Registered capital - — 55 55 Photovoltaic power
(Note 2) RMBI1,000,000 RMB1,000,000 generation business
(3 2) Y F M A AL A e B
ARH1,000,00008 AR M1,000,0007
J R A 8 T B R PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 60 60  Photovoltaic power
AR E (Note 2) RMB5,000,000 RMBS5,000,000 generation business
(i 3E2) i k¢ A AL e B
A RH5,000,0007 AR 5,000,000
IR SR 1 o 4 0 PRC Registered capital Registered capital — — 70 —  Energy storage business
A R 77 (Note 3) RMBS,000,000 RMBS,000,000
(i 3E3) H it i A EALYES L
A B5,000,000% AR 5,000,000
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HE 2024

12 H 31 HIEFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

OF

Notes:

1

298 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited fR#§4E P A B ]

THE COMPANY - continued

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of

sino-foreign owned enterprise.

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of wholly

foreign-owned enterprise.

These entities are established in the PRC in the form of
domestic limited liability company.

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of domestic

limited liability company and subsequently deregistered on

21 February 2025.

The entity is established in the PRC in the form of domestic
limited liability company and disposed on 1 April 2024.

On 3 January 2020, DMCC (HK) was incorporated
and set up in Hong Kong and its sole shareholder is a
director of the Company holding 100% of equity share of
DMCC (HK) on behalf of the Group under a contractual
arrangement in which a declaration of trust is signed by the
director on 9 March 2020. As a result of the contractual
arrangement, the Group has rights to variable returns from
its involvement with DMCC (HK) and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over DMCC (HK)
and is considered to control DMCC (HK). The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that, having considered all
facts and circumstances, the Group has control over them
and owns 100% equity interest of DMCC (HK). During the
year ended 31 December 2020, Perfect Group International
Holdings (HK) Limited transfer 100% equity interest of
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCC to DMCC (HK) and
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCC become a wholly
owned subsidiary of DMCC (HK).

39. A 2w Mt & 2 B 0 5E N - A

TR LA eh A 5 A 250 T A p R Sr

B DA T A 2 TR STE o B T

TN E A R AR Y
Ji§ 3L ©

B DL R AT R A B R A P R AE ST
3 BE 1% k202542 H 21 H 108 5E 1 -

DL E A R A AR 27 PR ST
A 20244 H1H 1 o

R20204E1H3H > DMCC (HK)# # # 3
B ST B g S FLME— R R A AR A R —
HE R AR E 202043 HOA K E
ME BT &% R RAE
% B ADMCC (HK) 100%JB #E o 1 it
BRI TP A EBEAREA S HDMCC
(HK)E ¥ Fr 13 16 n] 5 [0 $) - 30 0] 3% 48 1
HDMCC (HK)W) HE J7 5 8 5% % [l > 3
WA A ¥ DMCC (HK)HEA FE 6 HE - AL
AEHR L BRI ETAEE LS A
45 9 3 5 A £ 4 RE I B F DMCC (HK)
100% % HE o it # £ 2020412 H31H 1k 4F
JE > R0 AR 1 1 B B ) A BR A WD
HjAHong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCC
Z100% M HE B 3% TDMCC (HK): K
Hong Kong Perfect Jewellery DMCCH £
DMCC (HK)Z— [ 2 & [t Ji§ 2> =) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY - continued

Notes: — continued

2)

3)

On 24 May 2023, the Group entered into the sale
and purchase agreement with Jiangmen City Hongxin
Construction Project Company Limited* (YL 1 i 54 15
A TFEARAF) as vendor (“Vendor”), pursuant to
which the Group has agreed to acquire and the Vendor
has agreed to dispose of 55% of its entire equity Interests
of Guangdong Kaisi New Energy Company Limited* (/&
WS TR AR R A BR AR (BT FBE VR ) for a cash
consideration of approximately RMB7,150,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$7,940,000). Following completion of
the acquisition on 3 August 2023, 18 37 7 BBV became an

indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

On 21 October 2024, Guangdong Kaichu New Energy Co.,
Led* (J& 318 it 37 BE VR A7 BR A7) (“Guangdong Kaichu”)
was incorporated with registered capital of RMB5,000,000.
The Group injected RMB3,500,000 into Guangdong
Kaichu on 29 October 2024, represented 70% of equity
interest. The remaining RMB1,500,000 was fully paid by
two other investors by 31 October 2024.

The English names of the companies established in the PRC
represent management’s translation of the Chinese names of

such companies for information purpose only.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

39. A 2wl [ 8 2 w8 aE N - A

BiFGE - - 4

2)

3)

7202345 H24H » A% 4 [ 8L 7T M T 5045
ERLERARAAWELSE HTEF)
EIA-E-7 T Ji AN N NEE -
J B 7 1R = R N R AR A BR A
A (T2 307 58 RE JR L) 2 30 I ME 2 55% » #
£ MRE B 4 N KR %7,150,00070 (FH 45 1 49
7,940,000 JG) ° 202348 H3H 5 i Ik
[ S B Tl o A I NN Pl
2GS AR -

2024410 H21H - BE #4835 BE IR A R
NCTRIN B R - B VARS8 I < N
B N K #5,000,0007C © A< 4E [H] i 20244F
1029 H 1A JiE UM % 7E A R %3,500,000
It > 570% M HE o HR AR ¥1,500,00070
B iR20244F10 A31H B i 25 Ah R & 1 & &

TP TR S SE 2% A BE S04 R A B T
BRZSAFP AR RS 2 .
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F 3 S 5 A B

For the year ended 31 December 2024

H]ZE 2024 & 12 H 31 HILEE

40. RECONCILIATION OF
LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group

40. @& W6 B P E R AU 2 BIR

liabilities arising from financing activities. Liabilities

arising from financing activities are those for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified

in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as

cash flows from financing activities.

RS 4 B ST B P A A
ZH) o RVE R BB E A 2 AR
B2 ol V= i A N Lt L NN
0 B AR A B R AR A A
HHeRBEZAM-

Lease Bank Dividend
liabilities loans payable Total
18 11 AT 8% JRE A i B A8 5t
HK$’°000 HK$’°000 HK$’°000 HK$’°000
T# T T# T T#& T T#& L
At 1 January 2023 ®20234:1H1H 1,835 20,203 — 22,038
Exchange realignment REE b4, 3 & (36) 1 — (35)
Financing cash flow il B R (923) 3,377 (26,822) (24,368)
Dividend declared ARSI &S — — 26,822 26,822
Interest accrued JE 5 F) B 67 1,448 — 1,515
At 31 December 2023 and #20234E12H31H
1 January 2024 K 202441 H1H 943 25,029 — 25,972
Exchange realignment R b3, 3 & (4) (379) — (383)
Financing cash flow BMEHESRE (1,225) 5,655 (26,788) (22,358)
Additions N E 9,820 — — 9,820
Dividend declared and CEIR&KD K
received & & — — 26,788 26,788
Interest accrued JE & A B 247 1,596 — 1,843
At 31 December 2024 2024412 H31H 9,781 31,901 — 41,682
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to owners through the
optimisation of the balance between debt and equity.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged over

the years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Group, comprising share
capital, share premium, retained profits and other
reserves as disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements.

Management of the Group reviews the capital
structure regularly. The Group considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new shares issue as

well as the raising of bank loans.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

41. & A A kg & B

A A 8 A5 P LA A DR R A 4R 18K T
M4 R > I R R B AR AL
& ETR I T E FEPNG SN EIE
A S5 B R B OR BSOS B% 5 A E AE BF
T o

AL R EAZEN A LA N
fiy B HE 40 B > B HE A5 B B BS ORI
P #E B AR~ I s A - R T R &
A i A

AR A PR g E WA R E AR SR
A S TR AR AR S S E A
A B JEL B o Sl A A R A S - BE AT
T K B A R AT R K DLP- i AR
BN -
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 42. W B T H
Details of the material accounting policy information WA BB EE N M B AR
and methods adopted, including the criteria for K& S BOR & B K i (B4 R
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis HEHE ~ GF AL E K RE SR AR BH S Y
on which income and expenses are recognised, in FEHE)REAT > M EE3IA R R -

respect of each class of financial assets and financial

liabilities are disclosed in Note 3.

Categories of financial instruments W B 1 H KR
2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
HK$’°000 HK$°000
T # oo T ¥ T
Financial assets W & E
Financial assets at amortised cost i i B R A B BR
W w 219,611 237,620
Financial assets at FVTPL B FEFA B0
W5 3,788 6,131
Equity instruments at FVTOCI Fe A 7B FEA KA 2
W 2 FA S HE T A 448 696
Financial liabilities B £
At amortised cost i P 81 A 51 R 92,447 86,538
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
equity instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at
FVTPL, trade and other receivables, bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables
and bank loans. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective Notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (including currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group has limited currency exposure as the
majority of the revenue were denominated in
functional currency of the relevant group entities.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end

of the reporting date are as follows:

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42. M T H - 8

St 0 A\ B A B H OBR B BOSR

A A E BB TR A
B wH A H At 2 T 45 A BHE TR - 4%
A HEFIABRE Z M B EE - B9 K
FE At B WCRRIE ~ RATAE R Bl KB
S EY - " 5 B H A AT FOE LA
BRAT B K o B4R I B T A B RE IR R A%
A B B R B BR o A BR e SF B T
FL w0y J By B 45 7 3 Ja B (4% B R
B B A1) < Ja B) ~ AR B R B K B B
S IR B o A B 0 T AR % 4 L gt B B
SR 30 o P P R B SR
JR B o DA R R IR K AT A0 e 7 A
Jith o

5 ) B

PR 7 A 4 1 9B 23 Wi 4 DA A B 4R 1R
e F 2 e B R (E - PR A SR B i
S B R B A R e R R FOR
AL E LN FHEN B EE K AE
{1 B T e SR 57 4R

2024 2023
2024 4F 20234F
HK$’°000 HK$000
Tt T
Assets & &
HK$ T 18,072 7,018
RMB N 5 11
Dirham i fir 193 890
Liabilities =¥
HK$ VLT 12,019 19,040
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 42. MM T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Currency risk — continued

The Group mainly exposes to foreign currency of
RMB, HK$ and Dirham which are arising from
relevant group entities foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities for the Group’s
operating activities. HK$ and Dirham, however,
are pegged to the functional currency of respective
group entities (i.e. US$), hence the Group’s exposure
to currency risk is not significant and no sensitivity
analysis has been presented. No sensitivity analysis for
the currency risk of RMB is prepared as the directors
of the Company consider the net impact of such

foreign currency risk is insignificant.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits and lease
liabilities (details set out in Notes 27 and 30). The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
financial assets and liabilities, mainly interest-bearing
cash and cash equivalents and bank loans (details
set out in Notes 27 and 31) at variable interest rates.
The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, management will consider
hedging significant interest rate risk should the need

arise.

304 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited {5 42 [3] [0 4% st A7 BR 22 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. A 10 basis points (2023: 10 basis points) increase
or decrease in variable-rate cash and cash equivalents
and a 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points)
increase or decrease in variable-rate bank loans are
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. If interest rates had been 10 basis points
(2023: 10 basis points) in cash and cash equivalents
and 100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) in
bank loans higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s pre-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2024 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$274,000 (2023: HK$133,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each year in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42. M T H - 8

St % B\ A B H B M BUSR - 4

BB E oty

B0 I 3 3 BT T 4 R R T B 2 R R
JEG I 17 7 A o A R AT IRE AR R it
HHRRMEREZ B LAEREFY
RAB R o B0 R R B E B A
BTN ERN - FEBH S L&
ZEH Y BB 1018 3 B (20234F ¢ 101&]
FE ) 1 B B R -~ VR R R AT &
£ 5 10010 2 2 (20234F © 10010 3 & ﬁ
E’Jiﬁﬁmad‘cﬁrbﬁ > I PR A ]
tHIEE’JAEE“ﬁZﬁH i B 4
&fﬁéfrﬁ%&ﬁﬁ t [P
Al b T F&lofﬁl%ﬁ%ﬁ 2023$ L 1018
F ) K1oofE K E (20234F 10018 F
Bh) > ME T A 5 8 K REOR A2 R
Zl—‘%@l%ﬁﬁzoMfﬁlZHSlElthﬁFZ
%%ﬁﬁﬁ{ﬁ% 1 D18 N #1274,000 4
JG (20234F : 133,000%5 JT) ©
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1 3 449 7 >R B S 4 47 R AT 1 % 19 7
1+ B A 4 ok 45 091 W AR 1 5
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 42. MM T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. Given the
long-term relationships with its customers and the
financial position of these customers, management
considers that the credit risk associated with balances
due from wholesale customers is low. In addition,
management considers the customers’ credit history,
settlement patterns, subsequent settlements and
aging analysis of trade receivables in determining the
allowance for expected credit losses and ensures that
adequate allowance for expected credit losses are made
for irrecoverable amount. In this regard, the directors
of the Group consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

Except for the amount due from a debtor in the
PRC (the “Debtor”), the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk in trade receivables, with

exposure spread over a number of counterparties.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

continued

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

42. M T H -8

S 85 DL B A PR H B K% SR - A

e BB S B A WA - A

AR ] 2 R AR R JE B 0 BT Al E LA

A A

risk categories  Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AR RS
J B 28030 WD B 50 M Wik 1t 14 5
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts
% J B BT 05 1 4 R B AR HL I A AE TE  eRR A AEYESEER A DG SER
Watch list Debtor usually settles overdue balances after due date ~ 12-month ECL 12-month ECL
Blsss fif 5 AN — A 2010 P A% 5 0 0 0 45 R RAEMESEE 2 AEBESEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL not credit- Lifetime ECL not credit-
since initial recognition based on information from impaired impaired
internal or external resources
R R RIS HER > FHERAEREZR 2WENGFEER — 2WENGEEER —
B I {7 & WH TR 15 & WH
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL credit- Lifetime ECL credit-
impaired impaired
i 1 A R B R AR S E 2MEMFEER — 2MENGEEER —
A E B E A B E
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off N/A
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect against the allowance
of recovery of debts account
i 5 AR R BUR OB AR Y B B BN B o ELNG A A R A A
e [e] 2 5 T RE A

The credit risk on bank deposits and cash and cash

equivalents are minimal as such amounts are placed

in banks with good reputation.

R SR AT A AR DL R Bl & Je B F H

Yy ¥ A7 B R R 2 R AT
N NN

WO AR

2024 Annual Report “FEHE 307



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — 42. MM T H - 4§

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

The credit risk exposure of the Group’s financial
assets are subject to ECL assessment. As at 31
December 2024, the gross carrying amounts of not
credit-impaired trade receivable and credit-impaired
trade receivable with the loss allowance measured at
lifetime ECL is approximately of HK$65,184,000
(2023: HK$84,058,000) and HK$45,453,000 (2023:
HK$61,400,000), respectively; the gross carrying
amounts of other receivables, bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents with the loss allowance measured
at 12m ECL is approximately of HK$12,615,000
(2023: HK$18,341,000), HK$112,899,000 (2023:
HK$66,736,000), and HK$44,796,000 (2023:
HK$76,041,000), respectively; and the gross carrying
amount of credit-impaired loan receivable from an
associate with the loss allowance measured at lifetime
ECL is Nil (2023: HK$12,720,000).

The Group applies the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL for
trade receivables. Except for certain trade receivables

with credit-impaired which are assessed individually.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

Management assessed the ECL on trade receivables
by provision matrix based on shared credit risk
characteristics with reference to historical credit
loss experience, general economic conditions of
the industry in which the debtors operate and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast

direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over

three years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

The Debtor with gross carrying amount of trade
receivables of approximately RMB17,032,000
(equivalent to HK18,110,000), was determined by the
management to be credit-impaired, as it was evident
that the Debtor was in significant financial difficulty
and there was no realistic prospect of recovery as a
creditor had filed a bankruptcy petition with the local
PRC court against the Debtor in the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. Accordingly, an allowance
for impairment loss for the whole amount was

recognised for the amount due from the Debtor.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives

and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

continued

42, MMB T H - 4

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,

for the trade receivables excluding the Debtor, the

Group uses debtors aging to assess the impairment

for its customers in relation to its operation because

these customers consist of a large number of small

customers with common risk characteristics which

are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay

all amounts due in accordance with the contractual

terms. The following tables provide information

relating to the exposure to credit risk for trade

receivables excluding the Debtor:

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A
{5 BB S fE 7T A - A

TE 7 7 S5 ) 7 HL B oy B SRR A (BR T
#Z BB AN 915 6 R B B B 22— R
gy MR RS F P A R B A L E
B B2 /N E > TR A B IR
CIRK S SERORUE @i (G0N AR
R A 4 1 7 0 i B N 2 R % AT A
AHHEEFBEZWHE - FTREMA
R o I SRR T (BR T R% LS AP {5
a2 kL

Year ended 31 December 2024 B, F£2024912H31H L4

Gross Net
carrying Average Loss carrying
amount loss rate allowance amount
MR AR P EE i 48 B TR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt

Trade receivables A 7 e K IE
0-90 days past due i #10-90 K 32,753 0.38% (124) 32,629
91-180 days past due i 1191180 K 12,809 0.87% (111) 12,698
Over 180 days past due i 9] R A 180 K 1,512 88.9% (1,386) 126
47,074 (1,621) 45,453
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3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - 42. W TH - #
continued
Financial risk management objectives S 5 B B A BE H B B BUSR - 4
and policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — 15 B8 3 B b ol (B Al — 28
continued
Year ended 31 December 2023 # 22023412 A31H 1L 4F B
Gross Net
carrying Average Loss carrying
amount loss rate allowance amount
RHEAE FHERER Vs 18 35 45 EYRE e
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
Trade receivables B 5 e 5K IA
0-90 days past due i #110-90 K 48,711 0.42% (206) 48,505
91-180 days past due i #191-180 K 13,265 3.09% (410) 12,855
Over 180 days past due %1 91 R 4 180 K 3,396 98.82% (3,356) 40
65,372 (3,972) 61,400
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on il 51 85 18 2% 5 3L 0 3@ B BT 5 1Y
historical observed default rates and are adjusted 2y R AL F 5 M 7E HEZE A H S R AR B
for forward-looking information that is available AR A A RTIE M R g o 4
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is PG B BT AL DR
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant EB AA G R B 5o

information about specific debtors is updated.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

42, MMB T H - 4

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —
continued

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s balance
of allowance for impairment losses for trade
receivables was approximately HK$19,731,000
(2023: HK$22,658,000), determined based on either
provision matrix or individual assessment. Balance
of allowance for impairment losses of approximately
HK$19,495,000 (2023: HK$21,478,000) and
HK$236,000 (2023: HK$1,180,000) were made in
respect of credit-impaired and not credit-impaired

debtors, respectively.

The following tables show the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

S 0 A B A PR HOBR B BOSR - A
{5 BB S fE 7T A - A

R20244F12 A31H » A 4 [ R 45 15 5
R K AR R EE AN Rk B S RE i sk T w
P& W (H M 1B B A BR 919,731,000
JC (20234 © 22,658,000% JC) » #t & ¥
NAF B WE 58 FF 15 & WE 7T 52 Wi E
s 48 95 5 45 Bk 20 7l 2 #719,495,000 9 JC
(20234F : 21,478,000 JC) % 236,000%5
J6 (20234F : 1,180,000 JT) °

R AR Ak R )
AEM S HEBGEEREEES) -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

A EEH A Bk #

(5 B i () (7 S fE) A5t

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000

Tikx Tix Tt

As at 1 January 2023 #2023 1 11H 1,159 22,933 24,092

Changes due to financial instruments recognised #2023 1 1 H [ B

asat 1 January 2023 AUMBTHZEH)

— Impairment losses recognised — I 1FL s 9 R — 125 125
— Reversal of impairment losses recognised under — B A0 T R

provision matrix 90 (EL s 18 45 21 (981) (960)

Exchange realignment EE 52, 7 % — (419) (419)

Written-off i 4 — (180) (180)

As at 31 December 2023 2023412 A431H 1,180 21,478 22,658
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management objectives

and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment —

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42. M T H - 8

St % B\ A B H B M BUSR - 4

e B0 B S B AE WA - A

continued
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHBEH 2 W
kR fi f B H
(T £ B ) (fi B W) st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T#x T#n
As at 1 January 2024 202441 H1H 1,180 21,478 22,658
Changes due to financial instruments recognised #20244F1 A 1H [H
as at 1 January 2024 AMB TR 5E)
— Reversal of impairment losses recognised under — B T R
provision matrix (i R 5 e (874) (263) (1,137)
Exchange realignment [ i, 3 % — (646) (646)
Written-off it 854 — (1,144) (1,144)
As at 31 December 2024 A20244 12 H31H 306 19,425 19,731

In determining the ECL for other receivables,

management of the Group makes periodic collective

assessment as well as individual assessment on the

recoverability of other receivables based on the

historical default experience and forward-looking

information, as appropriate. Apart from the foregoing,

the Group has considered the remaining other

receivables have low default risk and concluded

that credit risk inherent in the Group’s remaining

outstanding other receivables are insignificant.

L E AR i H 2 T S Bl
B S o A E M ECRERAE
)0 Bk e W VR BB (o dE ) A
JRE WS R TE 2 AT e ] A AT E R
fili B A8 P Ak o BR bt FEIHLLUAE - A
5 B AR B T 2 A B Wi TH Y E AD

Ja i AR

R W B

Sl A5 &5 i R S AR B2 B
At BB Wi K IH 2 T A AR

B 3t A< 7 o

2024 Annual Report “FE#HE 313



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - 42. 4% TH - #
continued
Financial risk management objectives $F 5 B B B H OB B BSR4
and policies — continued
Credit risk and impairment assessment — 15 B R B S Bl (B BT Al — 78
continued
Liquidity risk B & 4 R B
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management Ay F) ) A & R B B K
rests with the directors of the Company, who has built WRAEL > ECR LA BN RE
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework B m by E AR E R ARERDY
for the management of the Group’s short, medium B~ PR E B U KO B
and long-term funding and liquidity management T o R AR [ A A R R R
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by SRAT R B ol B RE - B R A
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities W5 T T B PR Y B 4 A & DA R DL e
and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously WE s S B B O 1 A
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and PR B & & R B o 202412 H31H >
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and A B2 9] Sif7 40 S B T SR AT Rl & (2023 4F ¢
liabilities. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no 62,026,000 J0) °

unutilised bank facilities (2023: HK$62,026,000).
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Liquidity risk — continued

The table below details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up to reflect the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

42.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

WM TH &
S B DL B A PR H B K% SR - A

B & 4 a B - A

RS A G2 B R T A G R
AR o R SRR 45 A 4 [ AT g 2R
K e L H U R E > AR B S A
R B BB & 0 & o T R f 4
AR B A G B & & e

Weighted Over 1 year Over
average On demand but not Lyears Total
effective ot less than morethan  but not more Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year lyears  than 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
REERS  RR-EE EAREN
WEFH  GR-EN  GRWEN  GREEN  KWARE
i 4] BR 15 BRLE HEdH W
% HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Fikn Fikn Fikn Fikn Fikn Fikn
At31 December 2024 iprEavikI
Trade and other payables BRIl ft
SR - 45,636 - - - 45,636 45,636
Bank loans RITE 340 31,901 - - - 31,901 31,901
71,537 - - - 71,537 771,537
Lease labilces Ak 535 3,581 3,581 2,622 1372 11,156 9,781
Financial guarantee not FEAHE
recognised” % f%* ‘
Maximum amount guaranteed FARELE — 2,954 - - - 2,954 -
At31 December 2023 IDREIVRIL
Trade and other payables B RS
(restated) JH(BET) - 56510 - - - 56,510 56,510
Bank loans R 5.04 25,009 - - - 25,009 25,009
81,539 - - - 81,539 81,539
Lease labilces fEak 370 1l 70 200 984 1334 943
Financial guarantee not KRR
recognised* B ‘
Maximum amount guaranteed BARELE — 06,321 — — — 66,321 —
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Financial risk management objectives
and policies — continued

Liquidity risk — continued

* The aggregate amount of outstanding financial guarantees

issued to banks in respect of guarantees granted to third
parties, the purchasers of the properties, that the Group
could be required to pay. Such guarantees will be released
by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values
of these guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception
of the guarantee contracts and at the end of the reporting
period as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Other price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk through its

investments in unlisted private funds and listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at FVTPL
as set out in Note 25. The Group also invested in
certain unquoted equity securities for long-term
strategic purposes which had been designated at
FVTOCI (Note 19). The directors consider that the
Group is not exposed to significant price fluctuation
in its financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI and

accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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42 W% TH -
05 B B 4 PR H B R SR —

B & & A b - A

* A A =07 (R4 26 2 B R 4R it 10 3 %
M 1) R AT 8 Y~ A 42 B Bk ZE ST R
8 9 B S0 R A o %S AR s b 2
Y E 7 M 56 A B A R SRR
SRATIEDR - B B > AEBEZEER
B H L 0UR T ER R B O 3R R
EHE BB T EANATREERAD - F
B FE S AR A A BE UG R DA R 220244
J 2023412 A31 H 1 5 W1 oK > 3 R AR
ATl fE {E -

H At £ A% J B

7 AR 1 B TR B R 25 B 2 o S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - 42. BT H -
continued
Fair value measurements of financial W T HW A AR =
instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial MBEEE MM BEABEN A FERE
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally T PR AN Y E (8 A A G BB R
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash BT E o

flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the AN R AR o i B B A R Bk R
carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities e MBI RN MEEE KAM
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated AR T E B A S R & R ORI A R
financial statements approximate their fair values at EARAT ©

the end of each reporting period.
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair

values of these financial assets are determined.

42 W% T H -
M THRAFHEG & - &

AL N EHEFFBEZ WM B E
FE 1922 5

A G s T IR R R R R TS
e E R o T RS A B o]
SE 5% 55 B A N T (B B R

Fair value
LRl
Fair value
2024 2023 hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

20244 2023%F AVHEER  HHESEHEEEHANRE

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#7 T#T
Financial assets
fA &
Financial assets at FVTPL
N FEFAR G EE
— investment in an unlisted fund — 771 Level 2 Quoted asset value provided by a financial institution
(Note (1))
—FEiESRE (M) Bt BRI G E HRE
— listed equity securities (Note (ii)) 2,948 5,360 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active markets
— E A HE R 5 (I F (i) B EEWIGGEARE
— derivative financial instruments 840 — Level I Quoted bid prices in an active markets
(Note (iii))
— i B T (O 2 i) B FRAGHEARE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI
BATHFAL AT RS 2R LA
— unlisted equity securities (Note (iv)) 448 696 Level 3 Adjusted net assets approach — the book value of assets and liabilities
of investee are considered as their fair values
— BT RE R J (H3E) B3 MEEHERMEE _REHENEERAGNREERRA
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42, ML H —

instruments — continued

B LHB A PEG & -

Fair

value of the Group’s financial assets that

are measured at fair value — continued

Notes:

(®

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The investment is an unlisted fund operated in Dubai.
The fair value under Level 2 derived from inputs other
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e.
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The
fair value of the investment was based on quoted value
provided by a financial institution. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has disposed the unlisted
fund for approximately HK$679,000 and recognised loss of
approximately HK$92,000 in the consolidated profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The equity investment was classified as fair value through
profit or loss as it was held for trading. The fair values of
listed equity investments under Level 1 are based on quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. The Group sold certain listed equity securities
for approximately of HK$3,583,000 (2023: Nil) and
realised gain of approximately HK$903,000 (2023: Nil).
The realised gain was recognised as changes in fair values
of financial assets at fair value in the consolidated profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. At 31 December
2024, fair value gain of the remaining listed equity
securities of approximately HK$268,000 (2023: fair value
loss of approximately HK$1,384,000) was recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The derivative financial instruments are commodities
future contracts and are classified as fair value through
profit or loss as they are held for trading. The fair value
of the derivative financial instruments under Level 1 are
based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group closed certain gold future
contracts and realised loss of approximately HK$4,821,000
(2023: Nil) and recognised fair value loss of approximately
HK$929,000 (2023: Nil) for the remaining future contracts
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group closed certain silver future contracts and
realised loss of approximately HK$339,000 (2023: Nil) and
recognised fair value gain of approximately HK$142,000
(2023: Nil) of the remaining future contracts was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The Group’s unlisted equity securities investment represent
19% equity interests in a private entity established in
the PRC. The determination of the fair value requires
significant judgement by management with respect to the
net asset values using net assets approach. If the net asset
values is higher/lower, while all other variables were held
constant, the carrying amount would increase/decrease.

AL A EHFEZ &
W)~ FH - 4

B
)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements

42 W% TH -
M THMAFHGHE - 8

F3F N VA E B IR

Equity

instruments at

FVTOCI

%A FALEEA

H i 22 i WY 2

A Ji B TR

HK$’000

T T

As at 1 January 2024 R20244F1A1H 696

Unrealised change in fair value recognised in other T At A TH R %5 T BR B A T {E

comprehensive income o 5 B 5 B (260)
Exchange realignments [ifE 50, 8 H& 12
As at 31 December 2024 20244124 31H 448

The determination of the level 3 fair value requires
significant judgement by management with respect to
the assumptions and estimates for the lack of public
information and transaction price for the identical
assets or liabilities, thus the management of the
Company applied adjusted net assets approach for the
fair value measurements. The significant unobservable
inputs are the price to book ratio of 1:1 due to lack
of market capitalisation and market transaction
information, therefore book value of the assets and the
liabilities of investee considered as their fair values,
which mainly represented cash and cash equivalents

and accruals.

T T E 3R T o R B Z A
15 S A [ B R RPN 58 5 B A
B L JEBH B B A AR R B
PR A 24 W) B PR T AR o R O i
HEET A FEFE - A=
6 K 5558 5 (5 8 > F RN T 855
ABBRETREL 1> HEHREHR
WY A L B A MR T B AR B A
FEH - EEEH S MBS FHY LE
i Qi
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS -

continued

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments — continued

Sensitivity of Level 3 fair value measurements

If the price to book ratio is higher/lower at 5%, while
all other variables were held constant, the carrying
amount would increase/decrease in the amount of
approximately HK$21,000/(HK$21,000) (2023:
HK$35,000/(HK$35,000)). Management does not
foresee any significant change in fair value of the

investments.

There were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1, level 2 and Level 3 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

42, ML H —

B LHB A PEG & -

B3N T E w5 = W UK

i T 8RR TR M50 o i BT A oA
CIE 2SS RNl YRS
k> #121,000% J6 (21,0009 JC) (2023
4F 1 35,0009 JC (35,0009 J0)) o B
iz A% G N O A I S AT T B K

B AR 20244 K 202312 H31H 1L >
1 ~ 28Rk M BE3AR 2 [ 4 N T
B 7F & 2 i -

B2 20244F )2 20234F12H31H » A EH
AT ] 32 N S EFF BRI MBS B 1E o
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F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

43. LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as a lessor

The properties held for rental purposes have

committed lessees for the next ten years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are

43. MEME L
A B AE R A
Fi AR AL Z W) S R R AR R L
oo

L 2 R i oA Bl AL R TE A

as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$’000
T oo T T
Within one year — R 6,961 5,890
In the second year % 2,991 2,436
In the third year 5 = A 1,397 1,408
In the fourth year EuEes 1,386 518
From the fifth year onwards 9L R 2 AR 4,128 1,770
16,863 12,022

44. LITIGATION

On 1 December 2022, the Group entered into a 6G
Nano Gold Project Co-operation Agreement (“Gold
Project”) with Foshan Shunde Baoli Jewelry Co., Ltd
(L) T L I B ) BR B A A PR Rl %) (“Baoli
Jewellery”), whereby the Group agreed to lend certain
gold to Baoli Jewellery for research and development
purposes. In return, Baoli Jewellery agreed to pay
supervision and borrowing fees to the Group at
predetermined rates according to the amount of gold

borrowed.

322 Perfect Group International Holdings Limited %842 5] [5 B2 1B A5 PR 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44, LITIGATION - continued

On 22 April 2024, since Baoli Jewellery has been
defaulted in the payments of both supervision and
borrowing fees for some period of time, the Group
formally notified Baoli Jewellery for the termination
of the Gold Project in writing and requested the
full return of gold borrowed from Baoli Jewellery
immediately. Subsequently on 6 August 2024, the
Group filed a lawsuit against Baoli Jewellery, claiming
the return of the gold borrowed, outstanding fees
and other expenses with an aggregate amount of
approximately RMB4,460,000.

The case has been accepted by Shunde District Court
in the PRC and the hearing will be commenced in
May 2025.

Because the result of the claim is uncertain, the
directors of the Company have therefore determined
to recognise loss on inventories of HK$1,975,000,
which represented the cost of the full amount of gold
lent to Baoli Jewellery, in the consolidated profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

* The English name of the company established in the PRC
represents management’s translation of the Chinese name of

such company for information purpose only.

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

44. Wik - M

20244 H22H - R EMIKREC ¥
REERMEAEH—BRH > AEH
EXEFmW@AANEFRE > KILHEH
H o 3 225Kk B A 2R E S BB AR
B4 o Bl 18 A20244E8H6H > A £ H
3 E P 2R B PR A R A o R R R
AW A~ KA &R R HEAMEA - &
SR T N R ¥4,460,0007C ©

% S C B R I B 2 B e
Al 2 20254F5 H B 4

S T/ i S € N D= R O NN
A OO R £20244F12H31H 1k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F 3 S 5 A B
For the year ended 31 December 2024
% 2024 4 12 A 31 HIRAEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

45. A 2% ) W 85 5k D &

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$’000
T L T T
Non-current asset FRE G E
Interest in subsidiaries T B B S T R RE £ 348,859 348,859
Current assets B G AR
Other receivables and prepayments JFC Al s R T K A RO 574 619
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE iz o6 J 2 ] R A 21,234 20,986
Financial assets at FVTPL /N S R NG =& R L)
B 2,948 5,360
Cash and cash equivalents e kBl &% EY 1,241 2,105
25,997 29,070
Current liabilities Ui B A
Accruals and other payables JRE it 2 ) B HAth 8 A 3K IH 745 748
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE ASE B Jog > W K IE 66,992 71,297
67,737 72,045
Net current liabilities i B B fE I AR (41,740) (42,795)
Total assets less current liabilities A AEE WK B A A 307,119 305,884
Share capital and reserves JBe A K fih
Share capital e AL 4,454 4,470
Reserves (Note) i H (BEF3E) 302,665 301,414
307,119 305,884
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 A e B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
#2024 4F 12 A 31 HIRARRE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY -

45. A 2% ) W B IR DL R - A

continued
Note: [t 5 -
Movement of reserves ik i 5 By
Share
Share Special options Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
I I i
e 4 i ) ok £ ok £t i B i sk
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T#x T# T T# T T# T T# T
At 1 January 2023 202341 H1H 37,918 278,803 8,850 1,915 327,486
Total comprehensive income for the year — 4F 1A 2 UL 4 48 % — — — 750 750
Share option lapsed and transferred to T2 RIS e I g
retained profit ZEREEF — — (4,145) 4,145 —
Dividend (Note 13) Ji B (B 5E13) (26,822) — — — (26,822)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023412 H31H Jt
1 January 2024 202441111 11,096 278,803 4,705 6,810 301,414
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 A1 4 [ UL 4 40 % — — — 28,936 28,936
Share option lapsed and transferred to e SIERL S &S
retained profit T8 3 A — — (4,705) 4,705 —
Repurchase and cancellation of share i o] T 8 POy (897) — — — (897)
Dividend (Note 13) T (M RE13) — — — (26,788) (26,788)
At 31 December 2024 20244121131 10,199 278,803 — 13,663 302,605
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Financial Summary

S B IR 22

The following is a summary of the published results and R G A G E A A TR B B
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial WL LEE LAGBEME -

years.

For the years ended 31 December

M E12H31H IE4FE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 4F 20234F 20224 20214 20204F

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T 7T T T T# T T# T
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

(%8 & 51)) (%% 5 %) (%8 = %)

Revenue i 4 273,492 348,711 374,049 406,967 371,970
Gross profit B A 82,544 102,204 114,669 101,844 157,422
Profit for the year 1A Vi ) 9,859 34,158 27,415 38,277 76,490

As at 31 December

W12 H31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234F 20224F 20214F 20204F

HK$’000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tt T T T T Tt ot T T

(Restated)

(%% = %))
Total assets G E A 785,003 837,525 847,788 907,106 852,966
Total liabilities BIEAE 165,485 187,821 203,036 221,818 201,333
Net assets BEFE 619,518 649,704 644,752 685,288 651,633
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